Twisted Heisenberg Central Extensions and the Affine ADE Basic Representation

Thesis by

Victor Zhang

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of PhD in Mathematics



California Institute of Technology Pasadena, California

2022

(Defended May 25, 2022)

© 2022

Victor Zhang All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my adviser, Xinwen Zhu, for many years of guidance, suggesting this project, and fellowship support. Thank you to Tom Graber, Eric Rains, and Matthias Flach for serving on my thesis committee and Justin Campbell for having served. Thank you to the administrative and programming staff for grad students and the department for making our experience possible: Nam Ung, Freddy Mora, Michelle Vine and Mika Walton and Meagan Heirwegh.

Thank you to the those in adjacent research areas for the engaging mathematical conversations, including: postdocs Justin Campbell, Alexander Yom Din, Amir Zavosh Khosravi, Aaron Mazel-Gee, and my academic siblings Lingfei Yi, Tamir Hemo and Frid Fu.

Thank you for the Caltech CTLO for their training and support in managing teaching in large classes, especially with great difficulties during the transition to remote teaching during the COVID pandemic, especially Jennifer Weaver and Cassandra Horii.

Thank you to my family - my parents and my brother for their love and support.

Thank to personal friends at the department, Caltech and elsewhere for the life memories, conversations and support: Joshua Lieber, Jane Panangaden, Simon Todtli, Dmitri Ghekman, Todd Norton, Alex Dunlap, Sonia Dhawan.

Thank you to elder colleagues or acquaintances for career advice and support: Corina Panda, Seunghee Yee, Nathan Lawless, Dmitri Ghekman, Weston Ungemach.

Thank to the improv team at Caltech ImPliCiT for introducing and sustaining a wonderful new hobby and the shows we produced and classes taught, including Matteo Ronchi, Heidi Klumpe, Riley Smith, Dmitri Burov, Gennady Gorin, and the many other teammates and audience members.

Thank you to the Caltech residential life team for the resources, training and opportunity to host fun social events and share my interests.

Thank you to members of student health and wellness for their support, especially Divina Bautista, Charisma Bartlett, Ashwini Lal, and Grace Ho.

Thank you to early mentors during my undergraduate years, particularly Maryanthe Malliaris and Matthew Emerton, for encouragement of passion for mathematics.

Abstract

We study various aspects of the representation theory of loop groups, all with the aim of giving geometric constructions, parameterized by conjugacy classes of the Weyl group, of the basic representation of the affine Lie algebras associated to a simply laced simple Lie algebra as a restriction isomorphism on dual sections of the level 1 line bundle on the affine Grassmannian. Along the way, we obtain various results on the structure of loop tori, the definition of a notion of a Heisenberg Central extension as an alternative for twisted modules over the lattice vertex algebra and the determination of their representation theory, some computations on central extensions of a torus over a field by \mathbf{K}_2 , and a new proof of the classification of the conjugacy classes of the Weyl group by parabolic induction.

Contents

| Acknowledgments iii | | | | | |
|---------------------|--|--|---|----|--|
| Abstract | | | | | |
| 1 | Inti | introduction | | | |
| 2 | Twi | wisted Heisenberg Central Extensions | | | |
| | 2.1 | .1 Lie Algebra Preliminaries and Summary of Main Results | | 3 | |
| | | 2.1.1 | Motivation and Summary of Main Results | 3 | |
| | | 2.1.2 | Heisenberg Lie Algebras and Fock Space | 4 | |
| | 2.2 Definition and Representation Theory | | | 9 | |
| | | 2.2.1 | Weil Restriction, Loop groups, Jet Groups, Integral Models | 9 | |
| | | 2.2.2 | Integral Models and Structure of their Loop Groups of Tori | 12 | |
| | | 2.2.3 | Quillen K -groups and Tame Symbol $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 24 | |
| | | 2.2.4 | Definition of Heisenberg Central Extensions, Bilinear Forms, | | |
| | | | Commutator Pairing | 27 | |
| | | 2.2.5 | Group-Theoretic Decomposition of Heisenberg Central Exten- | | |
| | | | sions | 40 | |
| | | 2.2.6 | Representations of Heisenberg Central Extensions | 51 | |
| | 2.3 Classification and Generic Cocycles for Central Extensions of a Toru | | | | |
| | by $oldsymbol{K}_2$ | | | 59 | |
| | | 2.3.1 | Multiplicative Torsors, Galois Descent, Homological Algebra . | 62 | |
| | | 2.3.2 | Applications to Central Extensions of \mathcal{T} by $oldsymbol{K}_{2,F}$ | 72 | |

| 3 | From Conjugacy Classes in the Weyl Group to Geometric Construc- | | | | | | |
|---|---|--|---|-----|--|--|--|
| | tions of the Affine ADE Basic Representation | | | | | | |
| | 3.1 The Split Geometric FKS Isomorphism and Statement of Main R | | plit Geometric FKS Isomorphism and Statement of Main Results | 78 | | | |
| | 3.2 | Closure of Maximal Tori in G_F Over $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ | | | | | |
| | | 3.2.1 | Parahoric Group Schemes and Affine Flag Varieties | 83 | | | |
| | | 3.2.2 | Conjugacy Classes of W and Conjugacy Classes of Maximal | | | | |
| | | | Tori in G_F | 88 | | | |
| | | 3.2.3 | Representatives of Conjugacy Classes of Maximal Tori in G_F | | | | |
| | | | with Large Closure in $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ | 95 | | | |
| | 3.3 | The Geometric Twisted FKS Isomorphism | | | | | |
| | | 3.3.1 | Affine Lie Algebras and Representations, Affine Borel-Weil The- | | | | |
| | | | orem, Statement of Results | 115 | | | |
| | | 3.3.2 | Proof of Main Theorem | 123 | | | |
| | 3.4 | Global Flag Varieties and Geometric Proof for Homogeneous Conju- | | | | | |
| | | gacy Classes | | | | | |
| | | 3.4.1 | Global Analogues of the Tori, Loop Groups, Flag Varieties, | | | | |
| | | | Schubert Varieties and the Line bundle | 133 | | | |
| | | 3.4.2 | Proof of Main Theorem | 138 | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

Bibliography

142

List of Tables

| 3.1 | Number of Homogeneous Elliptic Conjugacy Classes in th | e Exceptional | |
|-----|--|---------------|-----|
| | Types | | 103 |

Chapter 1 Introduction

This thesis gives a geometric realization of the representation-theoretic determination of the structure of the basic representation V of the affine Lie algebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ associated to a simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of type ADE in [KP85], where a different construction is given for each conjugacy class of the Weyl group W of \mathfrak{g} . In the case of E8, that is 112 constructions, hence the name of the paper [KP85]. We call the representation-theoretic work the 'twisted FKS isomorphism'. The classical (non-twisted) FKS isomorphism refers to the work of [FK81, Seg81] that do this for the conjugacy class $\{1\} \subseteq W$.

There are two parts to the thesis. The twisted FKS isomorphism was constructed in [KP85] using representation-theoretic methods of twisted vertex operators, one family for each conjugacy class c of W. In the first part of the project, we give a grouptheoretic interpretation, where we replace the use of twisted vertex operators with a central extension, which we call the **(twisted) Heisenberg central extension**, \hat{LT} of the algebraic loop group LT of the torus T over $F = \mathbb{C}((t))$ defined by Galois descent by the action of $w \in W$ on the character lattice. We determine the group theoretic structure of \hat{LT} and in doing so, deduce its category of representations, in a way somewhat resembling some Lie-theoretic works of [BK04, Lep85]. The study of \hat{LT} passes through the study of central extensions of T by the sheaf K_2 of [BD01] and we make some independent homological algebra computations of central extensions of T by K_2 . Along the way, we completely deduce the structure of an arbitrary loop torus LT, in particular proving a basic fact that the Kottwitz map to the group of connected components admits a homomorphic section. In the second part of the thesis, we apply our results on representations of Heisenberg central extensions to give a geometric construction of the twisted FKS isomorphism. Suppose G is the simply connected group of type ADE with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . There exists a line bundle \mathcal{L} on the affine Grassmannian Gr_G whose dual global sections is identified with the basic representation V of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$. We construct for every $w \in W$ and lift $\sigma \in G$ of w, a subspace $\mathcal{S}(\sigma) \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$ with the property that the dual global sections of the restriction $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee}$ has the structure of an $\widehat{\mathcal{LT}}$ module and the dual restriction map $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L})^{\vee}$ is an isomorphism.

The proof we give is completely geometric for many conjugacy classes of W, those we call **homogeneous**. They include 9 out of 30 elliptic conjugacy classes in E8 and all of the conjugacy classes of $w \in W$ that Lie in a subgroup of type A. For the non-homogeneous conjugacy classes, we needed to use some representation theoretic results of [KP85]. A fully geometric proof for all conjugacy classes of W is reduced to an explicit computation on the number of torsion points of the connected components flag variety of the integral closure of a torus in \mathcal{T} in $G \times_{\mathbb{C}} F$ whose conjugacy class is classified by the conjugacy class of W.

In the original paper [Zhu09] motivating this problem, it was not known what is a correct subspace to use to obtain a twisted version of the geometric FKS isomorphism. It was only conjectured that for the a geometric twisted FKS isomorphism, an affine Springer fiber in Gr_G could be used instead of $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ to obtain a dual restriction isomorphism of dual global sections of \mathcal{L} . We did not end up pursuing the investigation of affine Springer fibers, because we have found $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ to be a more natural space to study for the nature of the problem. However we know that $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ is contained in an affine Springer fiber, although this discussion is omitted from the thesis.

Along the way, we found a new, geometric, proof of the classification of conjugacy classes of W by parabolic induction of [GP00] that originally used combinatorial methods. The conjugacy classes of W have also been studied by different combinatorial methods in the original paper [Car72] that was used in the paper constructing the twisted FKS isomorphism in [KP85].

Chapter 2

Twisted Heisenberg Central Extensions

2.1 Lie Algebra Preliminaries and Summary of Main Results

2.1.1 Motivation and Summary of Main Results

For a simple and simply connected complex group G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , there exists a \mathbb{G}_m -central extension \hat{LG}_F of the loop group of the base change of G to $F = \mathbb{C}((t))$, such that $\operatorname{Lie} \hat{LG}_F$ is (formal version of) the affine Lie algebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ associated to \mathfrak{g} . We elaborate this in 3.

We eventually wish to study a representation of $L\hat{G}_F$ by restricting the action to the sub-central extension \hat{LT} for a maximal torus $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ that may not be split. The purpose of this chapter is to describe axiomatically define what kind of central extension \hat{LT} is and determine its representation theory. We call such central extensions (twisted) Heisenberg central extensions. We determine the group theoretic structure of \hat{LT} and in doing so, deduce its representation theory. We find that the category of representations is semisimple, with every irreducible object induced from a certain distinguished finite subgroup $\hat{\Sigma} \subseteq \hat{LT}$ which we call the **principal finite Heisenberg subgroup**. It is obtained by restricting the central extension to an embedding of the torsion subgroup Galois coinvariants of $\Sigma := X_*(T)_{\text{Gal}(F),\text{tor}}$ into $L\mathcal{T}$. All of these generalize the study of the case when \mathcal{T} is split in [Bei06].

The definition is indirect, passing through some computations of study of central extension of tori over a field by the sheaf \mathbf{K}_2 in the sense of [BD01]. The motivation is that there exists a central extension \mathcal{E} of G_F by \mathbf{K}_2 such that the \mathbb{C} points $L\hat{G}_F(\mathbb{C})$ is obtained by taking F points $\mathcal{E}(F)$ and then the pushout by the tame symbol $K_2(F) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. We define a Heisenberg central extension $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ of an arbitrary torus \mathcal{T} over F as one whose \mathbb{C} points is obtained in the same way from a central extension of \mathcal{T} by \mathbf{K}_2 , but further require the Lie algebra to be (a formal version of) the Heisenberg Lie algebra studied in the representation theory literature, e.g., [FLM88, Kac90, KP85, BK04, Lep85].

We begin with preliminaries on certain Heisenberg Lie algebras and their representations, loop groups and intermediate models that will be also assumed in the entire remainder of the work. Along the way, we completely determine the structure of $L\mathcal{T}$ for an arbitrary torus \mathcal{T} over F as a direct product of various other kinds of abelian groups objects, e.g., non-reduced, unipotent, discreet, torus. It involves showing a new basic fact that likely has many other applications, that the Kottwitz homomorphism from $L\mathcal{T}$ to the group of connected components admits a homomorphic section even when \mathcal{T} is not necessarily split nor an induced torus. Finally, we also present some explicit computations about central extensions of \mathcal{T} by \mathbf{K}_2 we use to compute $L\mathcal{T}$.

2.1.2 Heisenberg Lie Algebras and Fock Space

We set some definitions regarding Heisenberg Lie algebras and their formal completions, and review their representation theory.

Definition 2.1: [FLM88, 1.7] A Heisenberg type Lie algebra is a Lie algebra *i* with an one-dimensional center that is equal to its derived subalgebra, i.e.,

$$Z(\mathfrak{l}) = \mathfrak{l}' = [\mathfrak{l}, \mathfrak{l}] = \mathbb{C}K$$

for some nonzero $K \in \mathfrak{l}$. If a specific choice of K is specified, we call it the **canonical**

central element.

The Heisenberg type Lie algebras that we study are usually given explicitly in terms of generators and relations. They all turn out to be isomorphic and have the same representation theory. For a \mathbb{Z} -graded Lie algebra $\mathfrak{l} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{l}_i$, define the positive part $\mathfrak{l}_+ = \bigoplus_{i \geq 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$ and negative part $\mathfrak{l}_- = \bigoplus_{i \leq -1} \mathfrak{l}_i$.

Theorem 2.1: [FLM88, 1.7] Suppose \mathfrak{l} is a Heisenberg type Lie algebra of countable dimension admitting a \mathbb{Z} -grading with finite dimensional components. Define the Lie algebra \mathfrak{H} , defined by a basis $\{e_i, f_i, K : i \geq 1\}$ with relations

$$[e_i, f_i] = K \text{ for } i \geq 1$$

$$[e_i, e_j] = [f_i, f_j] = [K, e_i] = [K, e_j] = 0 \text{ for } i \neq j, i \ge 1, j \ge 1$$

Equip \mathfrak{H} with the grading $\mathfrak{H}_0 := \mathbb{C}K, \mathfrak{H}_i = \mathbb{C}e_i$ and $\mathfrak{H}_{-i} = \mathbb{C}f_i, i \geq 1$. Then there is an isomorphism of Lie algebras $\mathfrak{l} \cong \mathfrak{H}$ preserving the positive and negative graded parts.

Definition 2.2: A Heisenberg Lie algebra is a countable dimensional Heisenberg type Lie algebra Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} that admits a \mathbb{Z} grading with finite dimensional components, together with a decomposition $\mathfrak{l} = \mathfrak{l}_- \oplus Z(\mathfrak{l}) \oplus \mathfrak{l}_+$ into the **positive**, central, and negative parts, respectively, and a choice of a canonical central element $K \in Z(\mathfrak{l})$.

Corollary 2.1: of 2.1. Let i be the Heisenberg Lie Algebra. Then the commutator map

 $\mathfrak{l}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{l}_- \to Z(\mathfrak{l})$ $(X,Y) \mapsto [X,Y]$

is a perfect pairing, when we identify $Z(\mathfrak{l}) = \mathbb{C}K \cong \mathbb{C}$ by $K \mapsto 1$.

For any decomposition $\mathfrak{l}_+ = \bigoplus_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$ into finite dimensional components as a vector space, there is a canonical induced decomposition $\mathfrak{l}_- = \bigoplus_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_{-i}$ such that $\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_{-i}$ are in

perfect pairing by the commutator. This gives rise to a well-defined Lie bracket:

$$\mathfrak{l}_{-} \oplus \prod_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i \to Z(\mathfrak{l})$$

extending the Lie bracket $\mathfrak{l}_{-} \oplus \mathfrak{l}_{+} \to Z(\mathfrak{l})$, since any $X \in \mathfrak{l}_{-}$ is a finite sum of $X_{-i} \in \mathfrak{l}_{-i}$.

Definition 2.3: A formal completion of a Heisenberg Lie algebra *i* is defined to be

$$\overline{\mathfrak{l}} := \mathfrak{l}_- \oplus Z(\mathfrak{l}) \oplus \prod_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$$

for some decomposition $\mathfrak{l}_+ = \bigoplus_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$ as a vector space with Lie bracket induced from that in \mathfrak{l} , i.e., $Z(\mathfrak{l})$ is central, $\prod_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$ is abelian and the bracket $\mathfrak{l}_- \oplus \prod_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i \to Z(\mathfrak{l})$ canonically extends that on $\mathfrak{l}_- \oplus \mathfrak{l}_+ \to Z(\mathfrak{l})$.

Define the negative, neutral, and positive parts of l, respectively:

$$\overline{\mathfrak{l}}_{-}\coloneqq\mathfrak{l}_{-}$$

$$ar{\mathfrak{l}}_0 \coloneqq Z(\mathfrak{l})$$
 $ar{\mathfrak{l}}_+ \coloneqq \prod_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{l}_i$

A formal Heisenberg Lie algebra is the formal completion of a Heisenberg Lie algebra, together with the data of the decomposition into its negative, neutral, and positive parts.

Definition 2.4: A finite dimensional representation of $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$ is a finite dimensional representation that factors through the quotient $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+} \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^N \mathfrak{l}_i$ for some N.

Remark 2.1: Under this notion of a finite dimensional representation of $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$, restriction by the inclusion $\mathfrak{l}_+ \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$ induces an equivalence between finite dimensional representations of $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$ and finite dimensional representations of \mathfrak{l}_+ . This is because any finite dimensional representation of \mathfrak{l}_+ factors through some finite dimensional quotient of the form $\bigoplus_{i=1}^N \mathfrak{l}_i$ for some N, and thus canonically extends to an action of $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$ by having $\prod_{i\geq N+1} \mathfrak{l}_i$ act trivially. **Definition 2.5:** Let \mathfrak{l} be a Heisenberg Lie algebra and \mathfrak{l} the formal completion. For $p \in \mathbb{C}$ with $p \neq 0$, a level p representation of \mathfrak{l} , resp $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}$, is a representation V of \mathfrak{l} , resp. $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}$, such that:

1. The canonical central element $K \in \mathfrak{l}$ acts by multiplication by p.

2. $V = \bigcup_i V_i$ restricts to a countable union of finite dimensional representations V_i of l_+ , resp \overline{l}_+ .

Remark 2.2: Since our notion of a finite dimensional representation ensures \mathfrak{l}_+ and $\overline{\mathfrak{l}_+}$ have the finite dimensional representations, \mathfrak{l} and $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}$ have the same level p representations, i.e., every level p representation of \mathfrak{l} has an induced canonical structure of a level p representation of $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}$ and vice versa.

Definition 2.6: The level p Fock space π_p is the representation of \mathfrak{l} defined by

$$\pi_p := \operatorname{Ind}^{\mathfrak{l}}_{\mathbb{C}K \oplus \mathfrak{l}_+} \mathbb{C}$$

where l_+ acts trivially and K acts by multiplication by 1.

Recall from every Heisenberg Lie algebra is isomorphic to the Heisenberg Lie algebra $\mathfrak{H} = (\bigoplus_{i\geq 1} \mathbb{C}f_i) \oplus \mathbb{C}K \oplus (\bigoplus_{i\geq 1} \mathbb{C}e_i)$ in 2.1 as a Lie algebra by an isomorphism preserving the positive and negative parts. We have the following characterization of the level p representations of \mathfrak{H} :

Theorem 2.2: [Kac90, 9.13] Suppose V is representation of \mathfrak{H} with the property that K acts by multiplication by p for $p \neq 0$ and for every $v \in V$, there exists N > 0 such that any tensor product of N or more elements of $e_i : i \geq 1$ in $U(\mathfrak{H}_+) = \text{Sym}(\mathfrak{H}_+) =$ $\mathbb{C}[e_i : i \geq 1]$ acts trivially. Then V is isomorphic to a direct sum of π_p .

This allows us to determine the level p representation of \mathfrak{l} :

Theorem 2.3: Let \mathfrak{l} be a Heisenberg Lie algebra. Fix a presentation $\mathfrak{l} \cong \mathfrak{H}$ preserving the positive and negative parts. Any level p representation of \mathfrak{l} , when considered as a representation of \mathfrak{H} , satisfies the condition of 2.2. Therefore the category of level p representations of \mathfrak{l} , resp, \mathfrak{l} , is semisimple with exactly one unique irreducible object π_p up to isomorphism. We conclude that there is an equivalence of abelian categories

Level 1 representations of $\mathfrak{l} \cong$ vector spaces

$$V \mapsto \Omega(V) \coloneqq V^{\mathfrak{l}_+}$$
$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathbb{C}K \oplus \mathfrak{l}_+}^{\mathfrak{l}} M \longleftrightarrow M$$

where $\Omega(V)$ is denoted the **vacuum space** and K acts on M by multiplication by p.

PROOF: Let V be a level p representation of \mathfrak{l} . Let $v \in V$. Then there exists $W \subseteq V$ a finite dimensional \mathfrak{H}_+ -stable subspace such that $v \in W$. Since \mathfrak{H}_+ is commutative, $\operatorname{Sym}(\mathfrak{H}_+) = \mathbb{C}[e_i : i \geq 1]$. Write the action of \mathfrak{H}_+ on W as an algebra homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Sym}(\mathfrak{H}_+) \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{End} W.$$

Since W is finite dimensional over \mathbb{C} , so is EndW and Sym $(\mathfrak{H}_+)/\ker\rho$. Let $J \subseteq$ Sym (\mathfrak{H}_+) be a finite set of linearly independent polynomials such that

$$\operatorname{Sym}(\mathfrak{H}_+) = \langle J \rangle \oplus \ker \rho$$

as a vector space. Let

$$N = \max\{\deg f : f \in J\}$$

where deg f is the number of variables in the term of f, as a polynomial in $\mathbb{C}[e_i : i \ge 1]$, that is the product of the largest number of variables. Whenever n > N, any monomial f product of n terms in $\{e_i : i \ge 1\}$ will be linearly independent to J and thus f = g + h for $g \in \langle J \rangle$, $h \in \ker \rho$ and $h \ne 0$. Since f is a monomial, g = 0, and we conclude that $f \in \ker \rho$. The result follows.

Remark 2.3: For us, the main focus will be on the case level p = 1 representations of a Heisenberg Lie algebra.

2.2 Definition and Representation Theory

2.2.1 Weil Restriction, Loop groups, Jet Groups, Integral Models

Let us fix some notation and recall basic facts. Let $T' \to T$ be a morphism of schemes. For a functor X' over $(\operatorname{Sch}/T')^{\operatorname{op}}$, the **restriction of scalars**, denoted by $\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T}X'$ is the functor $(\operatorname{Sch}/T)^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Set}$ given by

$$\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T} X'(S) = X'(S \times_T T') = X'(S_{T'})$$

for every scheme $S \to T$ over T. When $T' \to T$ is a morphism of affine schemes given by a ring map $A \to B$, define

$$\operatorname{Res}_{B/A} X' \coloneqq \operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{Spec} B/\operatorname{Spec} A} X'.$$

The assignment $X' \mapsto \operatorname{Res}_{T'/T} X'$ is functorial in X'. If \mathcal{G} is a group valued functor over T', then $\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T} \mathcal{G}$ is canonically a group-valued functor over T. We often wish to apply the construction to the case when X' is an algebro-geometric object. In some special cases, the functor $\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T} X'(S)$ is also representable by an algebro-geometric object. For example, we have

Example 2.1: Suppose $T' \to T$ is finite locally free and X' is quasi-projective over T'. Then by [BLR90, 7.6/4], $\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T}X'$ is representable by a scheme over T. If furthermore X', T', T are affine with X' finite type over T' then $\operatorname{Res}_{T'/T}X'$ is affine and finite type over T, [CGP15, Proposition A.5.2].

For us, the main examples of the type above are when $T' \to T$ is finite étale. In this chapter, we are primarily concerned with the case when $T' \to T$ is given by a finite extension of fields E/F. In this case, $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}X'$ called the **Weil restriction**. In chapter 3, we also consider the case when $T' \to T$ is a finite étale cover of curves. **Definition 2.7:** Let k be a field, $\mathcal{O} = k[[t]]$ and F = k((t)). Let \mathcal{X}^+ be a scheme over \mathcal{O} and \mathcal{X} be a scheme over F. Define the **jet space** as the functor for every k-algebra R

$$L^+\mathcal{X}^+(R) \coloneqq \mathcal{X}^+(R[[t]])$$

and the loop space as

$$L\mathcal{X} \coloneqq \mathcal{X}(R((t))).$$

If $\mathcal{X}^+ = \mathcal{G}^+$, resp. $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{G}$, are group schemes over \mathcal{O} , resp. F, we call $L^+\mathcal{G}^+$, resp. $L\mathcal{G}$ the **jet group**, resp. the **loop group**.

Remark 2.4: It is not the case that $L^+\mathcal{X}^+ = \operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}/k}\mathcal{X}^+$ nor $L\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Res}_{F/k}\mathcal{X}$, because for example R[[t]] is the topological tensor product $R \otimes_k \mathcal{O}$ and not $R \otimes_k \mathcal{O}$ and similarly so for R((t)).

We have the following facts about $L^+ \mathcal{X}^+$ and $L \mathcal{X}$ from [PR08, Section 1]:

- Both L⁺X⁺ and LX are k-spaces, i.e., sheaves of sets for the fpqc topology on the category of k-algebras.
- 2. If $\mathcal{X}^+ = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ is affine and finite type over \mathcal{O} , $L^+\mathcal{X}^+$ is representable by an affine scheme over k.
- 3. If $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(B)$ is affine over $F, L\mathcal{X}$ is representable by a strict ind-scheme over k, i.e., an ind-scheme where the transition morphisms are closed embeddings.

In particular, $L\mathcal{G}$ is a group ind-scheme, i.e., a group object in the category of indschemes over k. Warning however $L\mathcal{G}$ is not necessarily representable by inductive limit of group schemes over k. When \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{G} satisfy various properties, e.g., affine, reductive or semisimple, $L^+\mathcal{P}$ and $L\mathcal{G}$ will satisfy additional various other properties that will be recalled as necessary from [PR08].

Definition 2.8: [Yu15, 2.1] Suppose \mathcal{G} is an affine group scheme over F of finite type. We say a scheme \mathcal{G}^+ over \mathcal{O} is an **integral model** of \mathcal{G} over \mathcal{O} if \mathcal{G}^+ is affine finite type over \mathcal{O} with generic fiber equal to \mathcal{G} .

A smooth integral model is an integral model that is also smooth over \mathcal{O} . For convenience, we record some key facts about integral models from [Yu15, 2.2, 2.3, 2.6, 2.7] that we may refer to by name and not by direct citation:

- (Uniqueness principle): Suppose X is smooth over F. If X⁺, X^{+'} are two smooth integral models of X with the same O-points, then X⁺ = X^{+'}.
- (Closure principle): Let X⁺ be an integral model of X and Z ⊆ X a closed subscheme. Then the scheme theoretic closure Z ⊆ X⁺ is an integral model of Z uniquely characterized by the property that it represents the following functor on the category of flat O-algebras:

$$R \mapsto \mathcal{Z}(R \otimes_{\mathcal{O}} F) \cap \mathcal{X}^+(R).$$

(Extension principle): Suppose X⁺, Y⁺ are integral models of X, Y, respectively, with X⁺ is smooth. Then any morphism X → Y over F mapping the image of X⁺(O) in X(F) to the image of Y⁺(O) in Y(F) extends uniquely to a morphism X⁺ → Y⁺ over O.

We say a group scheme \mathcal{G}^+ over \mathcal{O} is an integral model of a group scheme \mathcal{G} over Fif \mathcal{G}^+ is an integral model of \mathcal{G} and the multiplication map $\mathcal{G}^+ \times \mathcal{G}^+ \to \mathcal{G}^+$ over \mathcal{O} extends the multiplication map $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}$ over F. The following basic lemma is used:

Lemma 2.1: Suppose \mathcal{G}^+ is a smooth group scheme over \mathcal{O} and is an integral model of a group scheme \mathcal{G} over F, and $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ is a closed subgroup scheme. Then the scheme theoretic closure $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}^+$ of \mathcal{H} in \mathcal{G}^+ is a subgroup scheme of \mathcal{G}^+ .

PROOF: Applying the functor of points characterization of $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ in the closure principle with $R = \mathcal{O}$ gives the subgroup structure on \mathcal{O} -points, with $\overline{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{O}) = \mathcal{H}(F) \cap \mathcal{G}^+(\mathcal{O})$. By the extension principle, it extends to a unique multiplication map of schemes $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \times \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$. The uniqueness in the extension principle applied to the compositions $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \times \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \mathcal{G}^+ \times \mathcal{G}^+ \to \mathcal{G}^+$ and $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \times \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \mathcal{G}^+$ give compatibility of $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \times \overline{\mathcal{H}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ with the multiplication map $\mathcal{G}^+ \times \mathcal{G}^+ \to \mathcal{G}^+$. In studying loop groups, we frequently appeal to the Lie algebra to study the connected component. It is defined as follows.

Definition 2.9: Let G be a group functor over k. The Lie algebra is the k-vector space defined by

$$\operatorname{Lie} G := \ker(G(k[\varepsilon]) \to G(k))$$

where $k[\varepsilon] = k[t]/t^2$ is the ring of dual numbers and the map $k[\varepsilon] \to k$ is $\varepsilon \mapsto 0$.

Example 2.2: Let E = k((u)) be a cyclic extension of F with $u^m = t$, m invertible in k. Then

$$\operatorname{Lie} L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathbb{G}_{m,E} = \{ f \in \mathbb{C}[\varepsilon]((t)) : f = \sum a_i \varepsilon u^i \} = \mathbb{C}((u)) \}$$

The identification of $\text{LieLRes}_{E/F}\mathbb{G}_{m,E}$ with $\mathbb{C}((u))$ is canonical with $\varepsilon \mapsto 1$. In general, $\text{LieLRes}_{E/F}T_E = \mathfrak{t}((u))$ for a split torus T over k with Lie algebra \mathfrak{t} .

2.2.2 Integral Models and Structure of their Loop Groups of Tori

We recall geometry of loop groups of tori and the jet groups of their integral models, prove a lemma about the epimorphism property of the norm map, and a fundamental new fact that the Kottwitz map from the loop group of an arbitrary torus to the group of connected components admits a homomorphic section. This allows us to determine the structure of the loop group of a torus.

For this subsection, let k be algebraically closed, F = k((t)) and $\mathcal{O}_F = k[[t]]$. Fix torus \mathcal{T} over F. Let E/F be an extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split of rank d. Put E = k((u)) for some $u^m = t$ where m = [E : F]. Put $\mathcal{O}_E = k[[u]]$. Let $\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be the finite cyclic Galois group with $\nu \in \Gamma$ a choice of a generator. Then \mathcal{T}_E has an action of Γ over E. Let $Y = X_*(\mathcal{T}) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$ be the absolute cocharacter lattice of Y, equipped with the action of Γ . Recall the action of Γ on Y is given by for all $\lambda \in Y$, $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $x \in \mathbb{G}_{m,E}(R)$

$$\gamma.\lambda(x) := \gamma(\lambda(\gamma^{-1}(x))).$$

By Galois descent, we have

$$\mathcal{T} = (\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E)^{\Gamma}$$

Definition 2.10: [Ng010, 3.8] The **Néron model** \mathcal{T}^{\flat} of \mathcal{T} is the smooth integral model of \mathcal{T} such that $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is the maximal bounded subgroup of $\mathcal{T}(F)$.

By the uniqueness principle of integral models, \mathcal{T}^{\flat} exists and is unique up to unique isomorphism. The Néron model is constructed in [Ngo10, 3.8] as follows. Fix an identification $\mathcal{T}_E \cong T_E$ for a split torus T over \mathbb{Z} . Consider the integral model $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F} T_{\mathcal{O}_E}$ of $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$, which is smooth by [BLR90, 7.6 Prop 5]. By the extension principle, the action of Γ on $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$ over F extends to an action on $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F} T_{\mathcal{O}_E}$ over \mathcal{O} . Then

$$\mathcal{T}^{\flat} = (\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E}/\mathcal{O}_E} T_{\mathcal{O}_E})^{\Gamma}.$$

Since \mathcal{T}^{\flat} is a closed subscheme of an affine scheme over \mathcal{O}_F , it is affine over \mathcal{O}_F . By [Edi92, 2.2], $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F}T_E$ is smooth and by [Edi92, 3.4], \mathcal{T}^{\flat} is smooth.

Definition 2.11: 1. The connected Néron model $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is the neutral component of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} in the sense of [Yu15, 1.2], i.e., the open subscheme of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} consisting of the generic fiber and the connected component of the special fiber.

2. An intermediate integral model $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$ is an open subgroup scheme of \mathcal{T}^{\flat} containing $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

All intermediate integral models of \mathcal{T} are smooth over \mathcal{O}_F .

Lemma 2.2: Any intermediate integral model of \mathcal{T} is affine over F.

PROOF: Let $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$ be an intermediate integral model of \mathcal{T} . Let s be the special point of Spec \mathcal{O}_F and $Z = \mathcal{T}_s^{\sharp}$. Then Z consists of (finite) union of connected components of \mathcal{T}_s^{\flat} , which is affine because \mathcal{T}_s^{\flat} is, and therefore Z is affine. By the uniqueness principle and the description of the dilation in [Yu15, 2.7], $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$ is the dilation of Z in \mathcal{T}^{\flat} . Also according to [Yu15, 2.7], the dilation on an affine scheme is affine. The result follows.

The torus $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ has an action of Γ over F coming from the action of Γ on \mathcal{T}_E . There is also a norm map $N : \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ given by $x \mapsto \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma . x$ for all $x \in \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E(R)$ for every F-algebra R.

Lemma 2.3: The categorical quotient $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E/\Gamma$ is canonically a torus and canonically identified with \mathcal{T} . The categorical quotient map $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ of schemes over F factors as

$$\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \xrightarrow{N} (\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E)^{\Gamma} = \mathcal{T}$$

and the norm map $N : \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ is surjective.

PROOF: The functor

 $\{F\text{-} \text{ diagonalizable groups}\} \rightarrow \{\Gamma\text{-} \text{modules finite over } \mathbb{Z}\}^{\text{op}}$

$$\mathcal{S} \mapsto \mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{S})$$

is an equivalence of abelian categories by [Poo17, 5.5.10]. On the other hand, the functor

 $\{\Gamma$ -modules finite over $\mathbb{Z}\}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \{\Gamma$ -modules finite over $\mathbb{Z}\}$

$$M \mapsto M^{\vee} := \operatorname{Hom}_{\Gamma}(M, \mathbb{Z})$$

restricts to an additive equivalence on the subcategory { Γ -modules finite and free over \mathbb{Z} }^{op} of { Γ -modules finite over \mathbb{Z} }^{op}. Therefore the restriction of the composition is

```
\{F-\text{tori}\} \to \{\Gamma\text{-modules finite and free over } \mathbb{Z}\}.
```

$$\mathcal{S} \mapsto \mathbb{X}_*(\mathcal{S})$$

is an additive equivalence of categories and is exact on short exact sequences of tori. An inverse is $M \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_F(\underline{M}^{\vee}_F, \mathbb{G}_{m,F})^{\Gamma}$ where \underline{A}_F denotes the constant group scheme over F associated to the abstract group A.

Let us first show $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E/\Gamma = \mathcal{T}$. Let $Y = \mathbb{X}_*(\mathcal{T})$ be the Γ -module corresponding to \mathcal{T} . The *F*-torus $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ is an induced torus, meaning that the cocharacter lattice has a \mathbb{Z} basis permuted by Γ , in fact $\mathbb{X}_*(\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E) = Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ as Γ -modules. We warn that $\mathbb{X}_*(\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E)$ has **two** actions of Γ . There is one latent action by the virtue that $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ is an *F*-torus, and there is a second Γ action intertwining with the first coming from the action of Γ on $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ over *F* by group homomorphisms. The categorical quotient of $Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ in the category of finite $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ -modules for the second action of Γ (where Γ acts on the $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ factor canonically and trivially on *Y*) is *Y* with the quotient map $Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \to Y$ given by the augmentation map $\varepsilon(\gamma) = 1$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. We get a corresponding categorical quotient map $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ for Γ in the category of diagonalizable group schemes over *F*. Since Γ acts on $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ by group homomorphisms, $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E/\Gamma$, which exists as an *F*-scheme, has the canonical structure of a group scheme. Since $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ is diagonalizable, so is $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E/\Gamma$. We conclude that $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ is also the quotient by Γ in the larger category of schemes over *F*.

Now we show the categorical quotient map factors as $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \xrightarrow{N} (\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E)^{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{T}$. Let $n = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ be the norm element. There is a factorization of the augmentation map $\varepsilon : Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \to Y$ as

$$Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \xrightarrow{N} Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}n = (Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma])^{\Gamma} = Y$$

where the first map is the norm map $\lambda \mapsto \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma . \lambda$ which is seen to be equal to the map defined by for all $\lambda \in Y$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma$,

$$\lambda \otimes \gamma \mapsto \lambda \otimes n.$$

The second equality $Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}n = (Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma])^{\Gamma}$ is given by the vanishing $\mathrm{H}^{i}(\Gamma, Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}$

 $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ = 0 for all i > 0, which is shown by tensoring the periodic resolution of \mathbb{Z} as the trivial Γ -module

$$\cdots \stackrel{N}{\to} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \stackrel{\nu-1}{\to} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\to} \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

with the free, thus projective, $\mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$ -module $Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma]$, see [Bro94, III.1. example 2, ex 1.c].

The third identification map $Y = Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}n$, which is induced by the universal property of Y as the Γ -quotient, is given by $\lambda \mapsto \lambda \otimes n$. The torus corresponding to $(Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma])^{\Gamma}$ is $(\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E)^{\Gamma} = \mathcal{T}$ because it is the image of N and all terms of the short exact sequence

$$1 \to \operatorname{Ker} N \to Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma] \xrightarrow{N} (Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\Gamma])^{\Gamma} \to 0$$

are free as \mathbb{Z} modules. This also shows $N : \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ is surjective.

Remark 2.5: Consider \mathcal{T}_E as a group scheme over F by the composition of the projection $\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ with $\mathcal{T} \to \operatorname{Spec} F$. Then \mathcal{T}_E also has a Γ -action with categorical quotient map $\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$. However, $\mathcal{T}_E \neq \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$. For example, $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$ is dimension $m \cdot \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{T}) = md$ while \mathcal{T}_E has the same underlying topological space as \mathcal{T} . Moreover, if E/F is not finite, $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$ may not be representable by scheme over Fwhile \mathcal{T}_E will always be a scheme over F.

This gives us the following lemma that will be foundational to our computations.

Lemma 2.4: Suppose m = [E : F] is invertible in k. Then the norm map N : $L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to L\mathcal{T}$ is both surjective and surjective on k points.

PROOF: Applying [PR08, 1.a.3] to the Artinian k-algebra R = k, taking k-points of loop groups of the surjection $N : \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ gives that the k points of the norm map $N : L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E(k) \to L\mathcal{T}(k)$ is surjective. According to [PR08, 5.1], each connected component of $L\mathcal{T}$ contains a k point. Hence to show N is surjective, it suffices to show N is surjective on the neutral component $L\mathcal{T}^0$. This can be done by

$$N: \mathfrak{l} \to \mathfrak{l}^{\Gamma}$$
$$X \mapsto \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma. X.$$

Since *m* is invertible in *k* and a section $\mathfrak{l}^{\Gamma} \to \mathfrak{l}$ is given by $X \mapsto \frac{1}{m}X$. The result follows.

Lemma 2.5: A surjective morphism of group-valued sheaves $f : G \to H$ on a site is an epimorphism in the category of sheaves of sets.

PROOF: To be precise, let K be the kernel of f as a group valued functor, so f is automatically a sheaf. Since g is surjective it induces a canonical isomorphism between G and the sheafification of the presheaf G/K defined by

$$R \mapsto G(R)/K(R).$$

The induced map of sheaves $f: G \to G/K$ is surjective on R points, and hence is an epimorphism. Let A be a sheaf, $g, g': H \to A$ be morphisms of sheaves such that $g \circ f = g' \circ f$. Consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} G/K \\ \swarrow & \downarrow \varphi \\ G & \xrightarrow{f} & H & \xrightarrow{g} & A \\ \end{array}$$

where φ is the canonical map to the sheafification. By the epimorphism property of $f: G \to G/K, g \circ \varphi = g' \circ \varphi$. Taking sheafification of $g \circ \varphi, g' \circ \varphi$, we obtain g = g' as desired.

For a Γ -module A, denote A_{Γ} to be the quotient module of coinvariants. The valuation map $k((u))^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}$ extends to a morphism of group ind schemes val_E :

 $L\mathbb{G}_{m,E} \to \mathbb{Z}$, [PR08, 5.1]. Define a map

$$L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \xrightarrow{\pi'_0} Y$$

by fixing an identification $\mathcal{T}_E \cong \mathbb{G}^d_{m,E}$, which induces identifications $L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E = L\mathcal{T}_E \cong L\mathbb{G}^d_{m,E}$ and $Y \cong \mathbb{Z}^d$, and composing with $(\operatorname{val}_E)^d : L\mathbb{G}^d_{m,E} \to \mathbb{Z}^d$.

Definition 2.12: Using that N is an epimorphism, the Kottwitz homomorphism $\pi_0 : L\mathcal{T} \to Y_{\Gamma}$ is the morphism of group ind schemes defined to be the unique map making the diagram of Γ -equivariant maps commute:

$$L \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E \xrightarrow{\pi'_0} Y$$

$$N \downarrow \qquad \downarrow$$

$$L \mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{\pi_0} Y_{\Gamma}$$

where $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$ is the canonical projection.

Remark 2.6: This definition of the Kottwitz homomorphism differs from the original one in [Kot97] on k-points, but it agrees with a remark given by a referee at the end of the paper.

Since val_E is surjective, π_0 is surjective. We have the following property of the Kottwitz homomorphism, which explains the choice of notation π_0 :

Theorem 2.4: [PR08, 5.1] Both π_0 and π'_0 are locally constant for the Zariski topology of and induces an isomorphism of the target with the group ind scheme of connected components of the source, i.e., $\ker \pi'_0 = (L \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E)^0$ and $\ker \pi_0 = L \mathcal{T}^0$.

Remark 2.7: If $\mathcal{T} = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}T_E$ is an induced torus, then π_0 can be constructed directly as π'_0 , i.e., as $(\operatorname{val}_E)^d$.

To study $L\mathcal{T}$, and central extensions of $L\mathcal{T}$, we study their Lie algebra and connected components. We have the following fundamental theorem. Let T be the split torus over k with the same absolute character lattice of \mathcal{T} , so that $T \subseteq L \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E$.

Lemma 2.6: 1. For every $f \in \mathbb{G}_{m,k}(E) = k((u))^{\times}$ of valuation 1, the Kottwitz homomorphism has a section over Y, i.e., there exists a map $\operatorname{ev}_f : Y \to L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$, called the **evaluation map**, such that $\pi_0 \circ N \circ \operatorname{ev}_f$ is the projection $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$. In particular, $N \circ \operatorname{ev}_f : Y \to L\mathcal{T}$ hits every connected component of $L\mathcal{T}$.

2. For $\lambda \in Y$, putting f = u gives

$$N \circ \operatorname{ev}_u((1-\nu)\lambda) = (N.\lambda)(\zeta^{-1}).$$

3. There exists a map $\upsilon : Y \to T^{\Gamma,0} \subseteq L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ such that $ev_u \cdot \upsilon$ is trivial on $(1-\nu)Y$, and therefore descends to a homomorphic section

$$s_u \coloneqq \operatorname{ev}_u \cdot \upsilon : Y_\Gamma \to L\mathcal{T}$$

for π_0 . Consequently it induces a direct product decomposition

$$L\mathcal{T} \cong L\mathcal{T}^0 \times Y_{\Gamma}.$$

Remark 2.8: The section ev_f over Y is known to exist and a common tool, for example, in [Zhu14, 3.4]. However, it does not seem to be known that an honest homomorphic section $Y_{\Gamma} \to L\mathcal{T}$ exists, or at least the author has not found a reference. The determination $L\mathcal{T} \cong L\mathcal{T}^0 \times Y_{\Gamma}$ for an arbitrary torus \mathcal{T} over F is a fundamental fact that should have many other applications.

PROOF: Since Y is discreet, it suffices to define ev_f on k points. By definition of π'_0 , for each $\lambda \in Y = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$, the element $\lambda(f) \in L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E(k)$ lies above the connected component of $L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E$ corresponding to λ . Then define the homomorphic section for π'_0 as

$$\operatorname{ev}_f: Y \to L\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E(k)$$

 $\lambda \mapsto \lambda(f)$

This shows (1).

We compute for $\lambda \in Y$ and $x \in \mathbb{G}_{m,E}(k)$,

$$(N \circ s_u)((1 - \nu)\lambda) = N((1 - \nu)\lambda(f))$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^m \frac{\nu^i \lambda(\zeta^{-i}u)}{\nu^{i+1}\lambda(\zeta^{-i}u)}$$
$$= \frac{\nu\lambda(\zeta^{-1}u)\cdots\nu^m\lambda(\zeta^{-m}u)}{\nu^2\lambda(\zeta^{-1}u)\cdots\nu^m\lambda(\zeta^{-m}u)}$$
$$= \frac{\nu\lambda(\zeta^{-1}u)\cdots\nu^m\lambda(\zeta^{-m}u)}{\nu\lambda(u)\cdots\nu^m\lambda(\zeta^{-(m-1)}u)}$$
$$= \nu\lambda(\zeta^{-1})\cdots\nu^m\lambda(\zeta^{-1})$$
$$= (N.\lambda)(\zeta^{-1})$$

This shows (2).

Now remark that the element $(N.\lambda)(\zeta^{-1})$ lies in $T^{\Gamma,0}$ because the image of the norm map $N: T \to T^{\Gamma}$ must be connected as T is. Choose a retraction $r: T \to T^{\Gamma,0}$ for the injection $T^{\Gamma,0} \hookrightarrow T$. It exists because it corresponds to a section for the surjection $\mathbb{X}^*(T) \to \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ that exists because $\mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ is free. Put v as

$$Y \to T^{\Gamma,0}$$
$$\lambda \mapsto r((\sum_{i=1}^m i\nu^i . \lambda)(\zeta)).$$

Then

$$v(1-\nu).\lambda = r((\sum_{i=1}^{m} i\nu^{i}.\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{m} i\nu^{i+1}.\lambda)(\zeta)).$$

Since

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} i\nu^{i}.\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{m} i\nu^{i+1}.\lambda =$$
$$= \nu.\lambda + 2\nu^{2}.\lambda + \dots + (m-1)\nu^{m-1}.\lambda + m\nu^{m}.\lambda$$
$$-(\nu^{2}.\lambda + 2\nu^{3}.\lambda + \dots + (m-1)\nu^{m}.\lambda + m\nu^{m+1}.\lambda)$$

$$= N.\lambda - m\nu.\lambda,$$

we have

$$v(1-\nu).\lambda = r((N.\lambda)(\zeta)/(m\nu.\lambda)(\zeta)) = r((N.\lambda)(\zeta)) = (N.\lambda)(\zeta)$$

because $(m\nu.\lambda)(\zeta) = 1$ and $(N.\lambda)(\zeta)$ already lies in $T^{\Gamma,0}$. Thus

$$\operatorname{ev}_u((1-\nu).\lambda) \cdot \upsilon((1-\nu).\lambda) = (N.\lambda)(\zeta^{-1})(N.\lambda)(\zeta) = 1$$

This shows (3) and the result follows.

The group structure and geometry of $L\mathcal{T}$ and the subgroup $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$ can be studied explicitly. Let us define certain special subgroups of $L\mathcal{T}$ other than $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$. Begin with the loop group of the multiplicative group. We have from [OZ16, 2.1] a group theoretic decomposition

$$L\mathbb{G}_{m,E} \cong \hat{\mathbb{W}} \times \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{W}$$

where W is the groups scheme of big Witt vectors defined by

$$\mathbb{W}(R) = \{1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} b_i t_i : b \in R\}$$

and \hat{W} is the group ind-scheme of formal Witt vectors. It is defined by

$$\hat{\mathbb{W}}(R) = \{1 + \sum_{i=-1}^{-n} c_i t^i : n \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}, c_i \in R \text{ and is nilpotent}\}$$
$$\hat{\mathbb{W}}(R) = \lim_{\substack{\to \{\epsilon_i\}}} \operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{Z}[c_{-1}, c_2 \cdots]/I_{\{\epsilon_i\}}$$

with the limit taken over $\{\epsilon_i\}$ in the countable direct sum $\mathbb{N}^{\oplus\mathbb{N}}$ and $I_{\{\varepsilon_i\}}$ is the ideal generated by $c_i^{\epsilon_i+1}: i < 0$.

Remark 2.9: The underlying topological space of $\hat{\mathbb{W}}$ is a single point.

We have that \mathbb{W} is a projective limit affine spaces, identified as

$$\mathbb{W} \cong \lim_{\leftarrow i} \mathbb{A}^i$$
$$1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} b_i t_i \mapsto \lim_{\leftarrow i} (b_1, \cdots, b_i).$$

The decomposition $L\mathbb{G}_{m,E} \cong \hat{\mathbb{W}} \times \mathbb{G}_{m,k} \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{W}$ is obtained as follows. For R such that SpecR is connected, for each $f \in L\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(R) = R((u))^{\times}$, there is a unique decomposition, for some integer N > 0,

$$f = \prod_{i<0}^{i>-N} (1 - a_i u^i) \cdot a_0 \cdot u^{v_E(f)} \cdot \prod_{i>0}^{\infty} (1 - a_i u^i)$$

where $a_i: i < 0$ are nilpotent in $R, a_0 \in R^{\times}$ and $a_i: i > 0$ are arbitrary in R. Define

$$f_{-} \coloneqq \prod_{i<0}^{i>-N} (1 - a_{i}u^{i})$$
$$f_{0} = a_{0} \cdot u^{v_{E}(f)}$$
$$f_{+} = \prod_{i>0}^{\infty} (1 - a_{i}u^{i}).$$

Then the map $L\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(R) \xrightarrow{\approx} \hat{\mathbb{W}}(R) \times \mathbb{G}_{m,k}(R) \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{W}(R)$ (note Spec*R* is connected, so $\mathbb{Z} = \mathbb{Z}(R)$) is given by

$$f \mapsto (f_-, a_0, v(f), f_+)$$

From the description, we also have

$$(L\mathbb{G}_{m,E})_{\mathrm{red}} = L^+\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathcal{O}_E} = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}} \times \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{W}.$$

Definition 2.13: For the split torus \mathcal{T}_E identified with $\mathbb{G}_{m,E}^d$ over E, so $\mathcal{T}^{\flat} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ and $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} = \mathbb{G}_{m,k}^d \times \mathbb{W}^d$, put

$$L^-\mathcal{T}_E = \hat{\mathbb{W}}^d$$

$$L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0} = \mathbb{W}^{d} \subseteq L^{+}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0}$$
$$L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0} = L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0} \times L^{-}\mathcal{T}_{E}.$$

Lemma 2.7: The subspaces T, $L^{++}\mathcal{T}_E^{\flat,0}$, and $L^-\mathcal{T}_E$ are stable under Γ . We conclude that there is a Γ -equivariant decomposition of the neutral component

$$L\mathcal{T}_E^0 = L^- \mathcal{T}_E \times T \times L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}.$$

PROOF: The space $L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0}$ is Γ invariant because it is the kernel of the Γ -equivariant morphism $L^{+}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0} \to T$ induced by applying $\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0}$ to the evaluation map $R[[u]] \mapsto R$ given by $u \mapsto 0$. The space T is Γ -invariant because $T(R) = \mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0}(R) \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0}(R[[u]])$. Finally to show $L^{-}\mathcal{T}_{E}$ is Γ -invariant, define the R subalgebra

$$\mathcal{N}R = R[(c - a_i u^i) : c \in R, a_i \in R \text{ is nilpotent}, i < 0] \subseteq R((t)).$$

Then $L^-\mathcal{T}_E(R) \subseteq \mathcal{T}_E(\mathcal{N}R)$. Then the result follows by observing that $L^-\mathcal{T}_E(R) \subset \mathcal{T}_E(\mathcal{N}R)$ is the kernel of the map $\mathcal{T}_E(\mathcal{N}R) \to T(R)$ induced by $u^{-1} \mapsto 0$.

Lemma 2.8: We have a decomposition

$$L\mathcal{T}^0 \cong L^- \mathcal{T}_E^\Gamma \times T^\Gamma \times L^{++} \mathcal{T}_E^\Gamma$$

and

$$L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} = T^{\Gamma,0} \times L^{++} \mathcal{T}_E^{\Gamma}$$

and for any intermediate integral \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} of \mathcal{T} , there exists a subgroup $H \subseteq T^{\Gamma}$ containing $T^{\Gamma,0}$ such that

$$L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} = H \times L^{++} \mathcal{T}_E^{\Gamma}.$$

PROOF: This follows by the uniqueness principle of integral models, the characterization of $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, the fact that $T^{\Gamma,0} \times L^{++} \mathcal{T}_E^{\Gamma}(k)$ is the maximal connected bounded subgroup of $L\mathcal{T}(k)$, and the fact that $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$ contains $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. **Definition 2.14:** *Put*

$$L^{-}\mathcal{T} = L^{-}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\Gamma}$$
$$L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\sharp} = H \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\Gamma}$$

where $T^{\Gamma,0} \subseteq H \subseteq T^{\Gamma}$ is as in the above lemma, and

$$L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\sharp} = L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\sharp} \times L^{-}\mathcal{T}.$$

For a subgroup ind scheme $P \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$, the maximal semisimple subgroup S is the minimal S such that the reduced locus of the quotient group ind scheme [P/S] is pro-unipotent. The maximal torus is the connected component of P.

From the above characterizations of $L\mathcal{T}$, resp. $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$, the maximal torus of $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$ or $L\mathcal{T}$ is $T^{\Gamma,0}$ and the maximal semisimple subgroup is H, resp. T^{Γ} .

In summary, we have:

Corollary 2.2: The section s_u from 2.6 induces a decomposition of group ind schemes:

$$L\mathcal{T} \cong L^{-}\mathcal{T} \times T^{\Gamma,0} \times L^{+}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times Y_{\Gamma}$$

where L^{-T} , $T^{\Gamma,0}$, $L^{++T^{\flat,0}}$, Y_{Γ} is the nilpotent part, torus part, pro-unipotent part, and discreet part respectively.

This recalls a similar decomposition for commutative finite type group schemes over k, except there is no nilpotent part.

2.2.3 Quillen K-groups and Tame Symbol

Let us fix some notation and review concepts regarding algebraic K theory.

Definition 2.15: [BD01, ch. 0] For every integer $i \ge 0$, let K_i be the functor from commutative rings to abelian groups, where $K_i(R)$ is the *i*th Quillen K-group, as constructed in [Wei13]. Let K_* be the direct sum of K_i , where each $K_*(R)$ is a graded

abelian group with grading induced by i. For a fixed base scheme S regular of finite type over a field, let $K_{i,S}$, resp. $K_{*,S}$, be the sheafification the presheaf K_i , resp. K_* , on the big Zariski site S_{Zar} of S. When S is affine, let $K_{i,S}$, resp $K_{*,S}$ be the restriction of K_i , resp. K_* to the category of S-algebras, and we may replace S with $A = \Gamma(S, \mathcal{O}_S)$ in the subscripts.

Example 2.3: [BD01, 1.4] For i = 0, the sheaf $K_{i,S}$ is the constant group scheme \mathbb{Z} . For i = 1, the sheaf $\mathbf{K}_{i,S}$ is \mathcal{O}^{\times} mapping each scheme $U \to S$ over S to $\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)^{\times}$, the units of the ring of global sections of U.

There is the structure of a (non-commutative) ring on $K_*(R)$ respecting the grading via the K-theory pairing, denoted by \cdot . For us, the focus is on i = 0, 1, 2 and the restriction of \cdot to $K_i \times K_j \to K_{i+j}$ for $i+j \leq 2$.

By [Wei13, III.1.1.1], for any ring R, R^{\times} is a direct summand of $K_1(R)$.

Definition 2.16: For $r, s \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ denote by $\{r, s\} := r \cdot s \in K_2(\mathbb{R})$, i.e., $\{-, -\}$ is the restriction of \cdot to the image of $R^{\times} \times R^{\times}$ in $K_*(R) \times K_*(R)$. It is skew-symmetric, [Wei13, 5.12.1].

For a ring homomorphism $R \to S$, the functoriality of K_i give homomorphisms $K_i(R) \to K_i(S)$. If furthermore S is finitely generated and projective as an R-module, there exists a **transfer map** demoted by tr : $K_i(S) \to K_i(R)$, [Wei13, IV.6.3.2]. Here are some basic examples:

1. [Wei13, II,III] Suppose R = F is a field. Then

$$K_0(F) = \mathbb{Z}$$
$$K_1(F) = F^{\times}$$
$$K_2(F) = F^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F^{\times} / \langle a \otimes (1-a) : a \in F \setminus \{1, 0\} \rangle$$

P77

the relations $a \otimes (1 - a) = 1$ are called the **Steinberg relations**.

- [Wei13, III. 1.7.1] Suppose E/F is a finite field extension. Then the transfer map tr : K₁(E) → K₁(F) is the norm map N : E[×] → F[×], where we recall that for E/F not necessarily Galois, N(x) is defined as the determinant of the F-linear map of multiplication by x on E.
- [Wei13, III.6.1.3] For any field extension E/F, the kernel of the map K₂(F) → K₂(E) is torsion. If E/F is finite, then the kernel of K₂(F) → K₂(E) is annihilated by m = [E : F].
- [Wei13, III.6.1.2] Let F be a field and X be a smooth geometrically irreducible variety over F with a F-rational point. Then K₂(F) injects into K₂(F(X)) as a direct summand [BD01, 2.1].

Let F be a field with a discreet valuation $v : F^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}$ and residue field k. For $a \in R := v^{-1}(0)$, define \overline{a} to be the image of a in k.

Definition 2.17: The tame symbol is a map $\{-, -\}_{tame_F} : F^{\times} \times F^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ defined as follows:

$$\{r, s\}_{tame_F} = (-1)^{v(r)v(s)} \left(\frac{s^{v(r)}}{r^{v(s)}}\right)$$

where we note that the term $\frac{s^{v(r)}}{r^{v(s)}}$ lies in R because it has valuation v(s)v(r)-v(r)v(s) = 0. According to [Wei13, III.6.3], $\{-,-\}_{tame_F}$ is bimultiplicative and satisfies the Steinberg relations, and thus descends to a unique map

$$K_2(F) \to k^{\times}.$$

Denote this map by $\{-\}_{tame_F}$.

Remark 2.10: The transpose $(r, s) \mapsto \{s, r\}_{tame_F}$ of the tame symbol also satisfies the Steinberg relations because the set of symbols $\{a \otimes (1-a) : a \in F^{\times} \setminus \{0, 1\}\}$ is stable under transposition. We may also denote it by $\{r, s\}_{tame_F}$.

Example 2.4: If F = k((t)) with the valuation induced by powers of t, the tame symbol is given as follows. For $f, g \in F^{\times}$, write $f = a_0 t^{v(f)} \cdot \prod_{i \ge 1}^{\infty} (1 - a_i t^i)$ and

 $g = b_0 t^{v(f)} \cdot \prod_{i \ge 1}^{\infty} (1 - b_i t^i)$ with $a_i, b_i \in k$ as in [OZ16, 2.7]. Then

$${f,g}_{tame_F} = (-1)^{v(f)v(g)} \frac{a_0^{v(g)}}{b_0^{v(f)}}.$$

Let E = k((u)) be the cyclic extension of F with $u^m = t$ with valuation over Finduced by powers of u. Then for $f, g \in F^{\times} \subseteq E^{\times}$, we can either take the tame symbol by considering f, g as elements of F or take the tame symbol by considering f, g as elements of E. Letting v_F be the valuation for F and v_E be the valuation for E. We have for $f, g \in F^{\times}$,

$$v_E(f) = v_F(f)^m.$$

Using the fact that $m^2 \equiv m \mod 2$ for any integer m, we have

$${f,g}_{tame_E} = {f,g}_{tame_F}^m$$

2.2.4 Definition of Heisenberg Central Extensions, Bilinear Forms, Commutator Pairing

For this subsection, let $k = \mathbb{C}$, F = k((t)) and \mathcal{T} be a torus over F. Let E/F be an extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split of rank d. Put E = k((u)) for some $u^m = t$ where m = [E : F]. Let $\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be the finite cyclic Galois group with ν a choice of generator. Let $X = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbb{G}_{m,E})$, resp $Y = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$, be the (absolute) character lattice, resp (absolute) cocharacter lattice. Let $N = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot (-)$ be the norm map on an abelian group or sheaf with a Γ -action. For a base scheme S regular of finite type over a field, recall from 2.2.3 the presheaf $K_{2,S}$ and the sheaf $\mathbf{K}_{2,S}$ of abelian groups on the big Zariski site of S. For Z a set or presheaf of sets, let $\tau : Z \times Z \to Z \times Z$ be the transposition map $(y_1, y_2) \mapsto (y_2y_1)$, and $\operatorname{pr}_i : Z^n \to Z$ be the projection to the *i*th-coordinate, for $i = 1, \dots, n$. If Z is a group-valued, let $\mu : Z \times Z \to Z$ be the multiplication map.

In this subsection, we define the notion of a Heisenberg central extension \hat{LT} of LTby $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$. Our definition is indirect, passing through the notion of a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ studied in [BD01]. However, we are able to deduce an explicit formula for the k-points of the commutator for \hat{LT} , by explicitly describing the commutator for a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. The commutator is enough to study group-theoretic structure and representation theory of \hat{LT} in 2.2.5. Some computations about central extensions of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ are deferred to the later subsection 2.3 because the techniques are disjoint from the main application here. In the case when \mathcal{T} is split, we show our definition of a Heisenberg central extension agrees with the definition in [Bei06, 1.4].

Definition 2.18: 1. Let $\mathcal{T}(F)$ be a central extension of $\mathcal{T}(F)$ by $K_2(F)$ as an abstract group:

$$1 \to K_2(F) \to T(F) \to T(F) \to 1.$$

Pushing out by the tame symbol $\{-\}_{tame_F} : K_2(F) \to k^{\times}$ 2.4, we obtain a central extension

$$1 \to k^{\times} \to T(F) \to T(F) \to 1$$

which we denote by $\mathcal{T}(\tilde{F})^{\operatorname{tame}_{F}}$.

2. A central extension of a sheaf G of groups on S_{Zar} by a sheaf \mathcal{A} of abelian groups on S_{Zar} is a group-valued sheaf \mathcal{E} on S_{Zar} fitting in to a short exact sequence

$$1 \to \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E} \to G \to 1$$

in the category of group valued sheaves on S_{Zar} such that \mathcal{A} lies in the center of \mathcal{E} .

Remark 2.11: If G is abelian, then there is a well-defined commutator map $G \times G \rightarrow \mathcal{A}$ and it is bimultiplicative for \mathbb{Z} , defined by gluing local set-theoretic commutators as in [BD01, 0.N.4].

According to [BD01, 1.4], when $\mathcal{A} = \mathbf{K}_{2,S}$ and S is the spectrum of a field and G to is a group scheme of finite type over F, taking S points preserves exactness give rise to central extension of G(S) by $K_2(S)$ as abstract groups:

$$1 \to K_2(S) \to \mathcal{E}(S) \to G(S) \to 1.$$

Recall from 2.14 the subgroup $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$ that is the product of the prounipotent part and the nilpotent part of $L\mathcal{T}$.

Definition 2.19: A Heisenberg central extension \hat{LT} is a $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ -central extension of LT such that:

1. The induced central extension of Lie algebras of the restriction $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

$$0 \to \mathbb{C} \to \text{Lie}L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \text{Lie}L^{++,0}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to 0$$

is a formal Heisenberg Lie algebra with positive part $\text{Lie}L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, i.e., the center of $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ and equals the commutator.

2. Define the connected Heisenberg subgroup of $L\mathcal{T}$ to be $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

3. There exists a central extension \mathcal{E} of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ such that the commutator of $\hat{L}\mathcal{T}(k)$ is the commutator of $\mathcal{E}(F)^{\text{tame},F}$, i.e., the commutator of the k points of $\hat{L}\mathcal{T}$ is obtained by pushout by the tame symbol of the commutator of the F-points of a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$.

Remark 2.12: In private communication, Xinwen Zhu has informed the author of their unpublished work that gives a way to intrinsically define a Heisenberg central extension without using algebraic K-theory. We did not know how to pursue this approach because our study relies heavily on the work of [BD01].

Since $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is a scheme, any Heisenberg central extension \hat{LT} is group ind scheme by pullback of a group ind scheme structure on LT. We also have that the projection $\hat{LT} \to LT$ induces an isomorphism $\pi_0(\hat{LT}) \cong \pi_0(LT)$ on connected components.

Remark 2.13: So far we have only defined the notion of a Heisenberg central extension, but have not demonstrated their existence. Suppose G is a split, simple, and simply-connected group over F. By [BD01, 12.10], for such G there exists a central extension \mathcal{E} of G by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ such that $\hat{LG}(k) = \mathcal{E}(F)^{\text{tame}_F}$. It is shown in chapter 3 that for any possibly non-split maximal torus $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G$, the restriction \hat{LT} is a Heisenberg central extension. This is the intended application. The rest of this subsection will describe the commutator pairing of a central extension \mathcal{E} of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. Such extensions were proven to satisfy Galois descent properties in [BD01, sec. 7], although the commutator pairing was not explicitly given.

Suppose S is a field and Z is an irreducible affine variety over S. Elements $C \in K_2(S(Z))$ give rise to partially defined morphisms $Z(S) \times Z(S) \to K_2(S)$ as follows. Write C in terms of Steinberg symbols $C = \sum \{f_i, g_i\}$ where f_i, g_i are units in the function field S(Z). Each f_i, g_i is invertible on some open maximal open domain of definition $U_i \subseteq Z$ and define maps $U_i \to \mathbb{G}_{m,S}$. Taking the intersection U of the U_i, C defines a map $U \times U \to K_{2,S}$ where for every F-algebra R, the map is

$$U(R) \times U(R) \to K_2(R)$$

 $(x, y) \mapsto \prod \{f(x_i), g(y_i)\}.$

When C is taken to satisfy a cocycle condition, such partial maps $Z \times Z \to K_{2,S}$ are called **generic cocycles** in [BD01, 0.4]. When C lies inside the image of the multiplication map $\mathcal{O}_Z^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_Z^{\times} = \operatorname{Hom}(Z, \mathbb{G}_{m,S}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}(Z, \mathbb{G}_{m,S}) \to K_2(S(Z))$, each f_i, g_i are globally defined on Z and C defines global maps

$$Z \times Z \to K_{2,S}.$$

Definition 2.20: For $a \in \mathcal{O}_Z^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_Z^{\times}$, the associated map $\varphi_a : Z^2 \to K_{2,S}$ is the morphism $Z \times Z \to K_{2,S}$ defined as above.

Remark 2.14: [BD01, 1.4] Suppose Z is any scheme over S, identified with the representable functor $h_Z = \operatorname{Hom}_{S_{\operatorname{Zar}}}(-, Z)$ into sets. By the Yoneda Lemma, for any presheaf \mathcal{A} on S_{Zar} , there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(Z, \mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{H}^{0}(Z, \mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}_{Z}(Z).$$

In particular, if Z = SpecB is affine, morphisms $Z \to K_{2,S}$ correspond to elements of the group $K_2(B)$. Let $\operatorname{Bilin}(Y)$ be the set of bilinear forms on Y, $\operatorname{Alt}(Y) \subseteq \operatorname{Bilin}(Y)$ be the subset of alternating bilinear forms, and $\operatorname{ESBilin} \subseteq X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X$ the subset of even symmetric bilinear forms.

Lemma 2.9: The following sequence is short exact

$$0 \to \operatorname{Alt}(Y) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Bilin}(Y) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id} + \tau^* \operatorname{Id}} \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y) \to 0$$

where the first map is the canonical inclusion.

PROOF: The map $\mathrm{Id} + \tau^*\mathrm{id}$: $\mathrm{Bilin}(Y) \to \mathrm{ESBilin}(Y)$ has kernel precisely $\mathrm{Alt}(Y)$ by the definition of $\mathrm{Alt}(Y)$. It suffices to show that it is surjective. Recall the following identifications as in [BD01, 3.5].

$$X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \cong \operatorname{Bilin}(Y)$$
$$x_1 \otimes x_2 \mapsto \{(y_1, y_2) \mapsto x_1(y_1)x_2(y_2)\}$$
$$X \wedge X \cong \operatorname{Alt}(Y)$$
$$x_1 \wedge x_2 \mapsto \{(y_1, y_2) \mapsto x_2(y_1)x_1(y_2) - x_1(y_1)x_2(y_2)\}$$

Under the above identification, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to X \land X \stackrel{x_1 \land x_2 \mapsto x_2 \otimes x_1 - x_1 \otimes x_2}{\to} X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \stackrel{x_1 \otimes x_2 \mapsto x_1 x_2}{\to} \operatorname{Sym}^2 X \to 0$$

becomes a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Alt}(Y) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Bilin}(Y) \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 X \to 0$$

where the first map is the canonical inclusion. In particular, it induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Sym}^2 X \cong \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y)$. The result follows.

Remark 2.15: The canonical inclusion $\operatorname{ESBilin}(Y) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Bilin}(Y)$ is **not** a section for $\operatorname{Bilin}(Y) \xrightarrow{Id+\tau^*Id} \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y)$. The composition $\operatorname{ESBilin}(Y) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Bilin}(Y) \xrightarrow{Id+\tau^*Id} \to$ ESBilin(Y) is multiplication by 2. However, since $\operatorname{Sym}^2 X \subseteq \operatorname{Sym} X = \mathbb{Z}[X]$, $\operatorname{Sym}^2 X$ is torsion free and finite over \mathbb{Z} and hence free, so some section exists.

Remark 2.16: This constructed identification $\operatorname{Sym}^2 X \cong \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y)$ is given by $x_1x_2 \mapsto \{(y_1, y_2) \mapsto x_1(y_1)x_2(y_2) + x_2(y_1)x_1(y_2)\}$ and agrees with composing the usual identifications in [BD01, 3.5] as follows. Let $\operatorname{Quad}(Y)$ be the group of quadratic forms $Y \to \mathbb{Z}$. The identification $\operatorname{Sym}^2 X \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y)$ induced by the above is the composition of the classical identifications

 $\operatorname{Sym}^{2} X \cong \operatorname{Quad}(Y)$ $x_{1}x_{2} \mapsto \{y \mapsto x_{1}(y)x_{2}(y)\}$ $\operatorname{Quad}(Y) \cong \operatorname{ESBilin}(Y)$ $q \mapsto \{(y_{1}, y_{2}) \mapsto q(y_{1} + y_{2}) - q(y_{1}) - q(y_{2})\}$

Definition 2.21: Let Z, A be presheaves of sets on a site and suppose A takes values in groups. $f: Z \times Z \to A$ is a morphism. The commutator of f is the map

$$(z_1, z_2) \mapsto f(z_1, z_2) f(z_2, z_1)^{-1}$$

, *i.e.*, the map $f + (\tau^* f)^{-1}$.

The definition above applied to the cocycle map of a central extension of an abelian sheaf by another abelian sheaf coincides with the usual definition of the commutator.

Lemma 2.10: Let S be a field, Z be an irreducible affine variety over S, and $X = Hom(Z, \mathbb{G}_{m,S})$. Let Ψ be the composition

$$X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \xrightarrow{pr_1^* \otimes pr_2^*} X^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X^2 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{Z^2}^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_{Z^2}^{\times}.$$

Let $C \in X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X$ and $B = C + \tau^* C$. Then the commutator of the associated map $\varphi_{\Psi(C)} : Z^2 \to K_{2,S}$ to $\Psi(C)$ is the same as the associated map $\varphi_{\Psi(B)} : Z^2 \to K_{2,S}$ to $\Psi(B)$.

PROOF: It suffices to show this when $C = x_1 \otimes x_2$ for $x_1, x_2 \in X$. By unwinding the definition of Ψ and the associated map, the associated map $Z^2 \to K_{2,S}$ of $\Psi(x_1 \otimes x_2)$ is defined by the property that for $(z_1, z_2) \in Z(R) \times Z(R)$,

$$(z_1, z_2) \mapsto \{x_1(z_1), x_2(z_2)\} \in K_2(R).$$

Using the antisymmetric property of the Steinberg symbol, the commutator is defined by

$$(z_1, z_2) \mapsto \{x_1(z_1), x_2(z_2)\}\{x_1(z_2), x_2(z_1)\}^{-1} = \{x_1(z_1), x_2(z_2)\}\{x_2(z_1), x_1(z_2)\}.$$

On the other hand, the associated map $Z^2 \to K_2$ to $\Psi(x_1 \otimes x_2 + \tau^*(x_1 \otimes x_2)) = \Psi(x_1 \otimes x_2 + x_2 \otimes x_1)$ is defined by

$$(z_1, z_2) \mapsto \{x_1(z_1), x_2(z_2)\}\{x_2(z_1), x_1(z_2)\}.$$

The two are the same.

Now we can state the computation of the cocycle and for central extension of a split torus by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ and the classification in [BD01, 3.9.3, 3.14].

Theorem 2.5: Suppose S is a field and T is a split torus over S with character lattice X. Then for any central extension \mathcal{E} of T by \mathbf{K}_2 , there exists $C \in X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X$ such that \mathcal{E} is equivalent to the central extension of T by $\mathbf{K}_{2,S}$ defined by the cocycle $\varphi_{\Psi(C)}$: $T \times T \to K_{2,S}$ (with values already lying in the presheaf $K_{2,S}$ instead of the sheaf $\mathbf{K}_{2,S}$) associated to the image of C, with Ψ as in 2.10. Two elements $C, C' \in X \otimes X$ give equivalent central extensions of T by $\mathbf{K}_{2,S}$ iff they map to the same element under the map $X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \to \text{Sym}^2 X$.

Combining this with the interpretation of the map $X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \to \text{Sym}^2 X$ as $\text{Bilin}(Y) \xrightarrow{\text{Id}+\tau^*\text{Id}} \text{ESBilin}(Y)$ in the proof of 2.9 and with 2.10, we re-phrase the classification to derive an explicit expression for the commutator:

Corollary 2.3: Preserve the notation of the above. The isomorphism class of a central extension of T by $\mathbf{K}_{2,S}$ is determined by its commutator and the set of isomorphism classes is in canonical bijection with ESBilin(Y) as follows. Identify $X \otimes X \cong$ Bilin(Y) naturally and consider ESBilin(Y) naturally as a subset of Bilin(Y) as in 2.9. For an even symmetric bilinear form B, a representative central extension is constructed by the cocycle $\varphi_{\Psi(C)} : T^2 \to K_{2,S}$ associated to $\Psi(C)$ for any C such that $C + \tau^*C = B$ and its commutator is $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$.

Remark 2.17: The evaluation map $\mathbb{G}_{m,S} \times Y \to T$ defined by $(f, \lambda) \mapsto \lambda(S)$ is surjective, hence an epimorphism. Hence a given morphism $T \to \mathcal{F}$ to another sheaf \mathcal{F} is determined by its pre-composition with the evaluation map $\mathbb{G}_{m,S} \times Y \to T$, i.e., by testing at all the one-parameter subgroups.

Definition 2.22: For $\lambda \in Y$ and $f \in \mathbb{G}_{m,S}(R)$, denote by $\lambda \otimes f$ for the element $\lambda(f) \in T(R)$.

Lemma 2.11: Preserve the notation of above. Let $C \in X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X$, identified canonically with a bilinear form on Y as in 2.9. Then the map $\varphi_{\Psi(C)} : T^2 \to K_{2,S}$ associated to $\Psi(C)$ is uniquely defined by property that for every $\lambda, \mu \in Y$, the pre-composition

$$\mathbb{G}_{m,S} \times \mathbb{G}_{m,S} \stackrel{\lambda \times \mu}{\to} T \times T \to K_{2,S}$$

is defined by for all $f, g \in \mathbb{G}_{m,S}(R)$,

$$(f,g) \mapsto (\lambda(f),\mu(g)) \mapsto \{f,g\}^{C(\lambda,\mu)} \in K_2(R).$$

PROOF: Let I be a set with |I| = d, the rank of T. Let $\{y_i : i \in I\}$ be a basis for Y over \mathbb{Z} and $\{x_i : i \in I\}$ be the dual basis for X, considered as the set of group homomorphisms $T \to \mathbb{G}_{m,S}$. Write $C = \sum_{i,j \in I} c_{i,j} x_i \otimes x_j$. Denote $\langle -, - \rangle : X \times Y \to \mathbb{Z}$ for the canonical pairing. We compute the composition above for each $\lambda, \mu \in Y$,

 $f, g \in \mathbb{G}_{m,S}(R)$:

$$(f,g) \mapsto \prod_{i,j \in I} c_{i,j} \cdot \{ (x_i \circ \operatorname{pr}_1)(\lambda(f), \mu(g)), (x_j \circ \operatorname{pr}_2)(\lambda(f), \mu(g)) \}$$
$$= \prod_{i,j \in I} c_{i,j} \cdot \{ f^{\langle x_i, \lambda \rangle}, g^{\langle x_j, \mu \rangle} \}$$
$$= \{ f, g \}^{\sum_{i,j \in I} c_{i,j} \langle x_i, \lambda \rangle \langle x_j, \mu \rangle}$$
$$= \{ f, g \}^{C(\lambda, \mu)}.$$

The result follows.

Definition 2.23: Let Z be a scheme over S and $e: S \to Z$ a distinguished section. Let \mathcal{A} be a presheaf of abelian groups on S_{Zar} . A morphism $f: Z \to \mathcal{A}$ of presheaves is **normalized at** e if the $f \circ e$ is the trivial map $S \to \mathcal{A}$. If the point e is clear, we may simply say f is **normalized**. For any subset $M \subseteq H^0(Z, \mathcal{A})$ we denote by M^{norm} the subset of normalized elements of M.

Remark 2.18: If $M \subseteq H^0(Z, \mathcal{A})$ is a subgroup, M^{norm} is also a subgroup given as the kernel of the evaluation map

$$M \to \mathrm{H}^0(S, \mathcal{A})$$

$$f \mapsto f \circ e$$
.

We have a Galois descent property of normalized global sections for $K_{2,F}$:

Lemma 2.12: Let X be a smooth geometrically irreducible variety over F with a distinguished F-rational point e, also considered as a Γ -invariant E-rational point. The base change map induces an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(X, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,F})^{\mathrm{norm}} \stackrel{\approx}{\to} \mathrm{H}^{0}(X_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}, \Gamma} \coloneqq (\mathrm{H}^{0}(X_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}})^{\Gamma}.$$

Consequently if a normalized morphism $f_E : X_E \to \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ is Γ -invariant, it descends uniquely to a normalized morphism $f : X \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$.

Remark 2.19: The meaning of unique descent of f_E to f is the following. For a map $f: X \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$, consider the commutative square

$$\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} X_E \xrightarrow{f|_E} \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow$$

$$X \xrightarrow{f} \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$$

obtained by for every F-algebra R evaluation the map $X \xrightarrow{f} \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ at the ring map $R \to R \otimes_F E$. Then the statement of 2.12 is that there is a unique normalized f such that $f|_E = f_E$.

PROOF: By [BD01, 2.4.(i)] We have that the base change map induces an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(X, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,F})/K_{2}(F) \xrightarrow{\approx} (\mathrm{H}^{0}(X_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})/K_{2}(E))^{\Gamma}$$

where $K_2(F) \to \mathrm{H}^0(X, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$ embeds as the subgroup of constant global sections and similarly so for $K_2(E) \to \mathrm{H}^0(X_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$. Evaluation at e gives a section for each of these embeddings. Since $e \in X(E)$ is Γ -stable, the canonical isomorphism $\mathrm{H}^0(X_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}} \to \mathrm{H}^0(X_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})/K_2(E)$ is a map of Γ -modules. The result then follows by considering the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \mathrm{H}^{0}(X,\boldsymbol{K}_{2,F})^{\mathrm{norm}} & \to & \mathrm{H}^{0}(X_{E},\boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mathrm{H}^{0}(X,\boldsymbol{K}_{2,F})/K_{2}(F) & \to & \mathrm{H}^{0}(X_{E},\boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})/K_{2}(E) \end{array}$$

where the horizontal maps are base change, and the vertical maps are the canonical isomorphisms.

Definition 2.24: Let \mathcal{E} be a central extension of a group G over F by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$, considered as a multiplicative $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ -torsor, and $p: G_E \to G$ be the projection map. Pulling back \mathcal{E} to G_E gives central extension of G_E by $p^*\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. Then taking the pushout by the map $p^*\mathbf{K}_{2,F} \to \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ gives a central extension of G_E by $\mathbf{K}_{2,E}$. We denote it by \mathcal{E}_E , called the **base change** \mathcal{E} to E. The operation of base change is functorial.

We are now equipped to state the main computation of this subsection, of the commutator for a central extension of the torus \mathcal{T} over F by \mathbf{K}_2 .

Theorem 2.6: For any central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ over F, there exists an invariant even symmetric bilinear form $B \in \text{ESBilin}(Y)^{\Gamma} \subseteq X \otimes X$ such that the central extension is equivalent to a central extension \mathcal{E} with commutator $C_{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ (with values lying in the presheaf $K_{2,F}$) satisfying:

1. The base change \mathcal{E}_E has commutator $C_{\mathcal{E}_E}$ (with values lying in the presheaf $K_{2,E}$) equal to $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$ to $\Psi(B)$, where Ψ is the composition

$$X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \xrightarrow{pr_1^* \otimes pr_2^*} X^2 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X^2 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}_E^2}^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}_E^2}^{\times}$$

from 2.10. Furthermore, $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$ is Γ -equivariant and the resulting map $\mathcal{T} \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ given by applying the descent for normalized global sections in 2.12 is precisely the commutator for \mathcal{E} .

2. As a morphism $\mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ whose restriction to the category of E-algebras is $C_{\mathcal{E}_E}$, $C_{\mathcal{E}}$ is uniquely determined by the composition

$$\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E^2 \stackrel{N \times N}{\to} \mathcal{T}^2 \stackrel{C_{\mathcal{E}}}{\to} \mathbf{K}_{2,F} \to \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathbf{K}_{2,E}$$

where N denotes the norm map. The above composition is computed by: for $\lambda, \mu \in Y$ and $f, g \in \mathbb{G}_{m,E}$, the element

$$(\lambda \otimes f, \mu \otimes g) \in \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_E^2$$

maps to the mage of the element

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{m} \{\nu^{i}.f, \nu^{j}.g\}^{B(\nu^{i}.\lambda,\nu^{j}\mu)} \in \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} K_{2,E}$$

in $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E}$.

Remark 2.20: Any commutator for a central extension of an abelian sheaf by an-

other is automatically normalized. In particular $C_{\mathcal{E}}(e) = 1 \in K_2(F)$ at the unit $e \in \mathcal{T}^2(F)$.

PROOF: Let us discuss (1). The existence of such a Γ -invariant even symmetric bilinear for $B \in \text{Sym}^2 X$ determining the commutator for \mathcal{E}_E is proved in the later Section 2.11. Now observe that for any Γ -invariant bilinear form B, the element $\Psi(B) \in K_2(\mathcal{T}_E^2)$ is Γ -invariant. This shows that $\varphi_{\Psi(B)} \in H^0(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\text{norm}}$ is Γ invariant and the descent lemma of 2.12 applies to $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$. The fact that the resulting normalized map $\mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ is precisely the commutator $C_{\mathcal{E}}$ is proven in later 2.22 using 2.13 that shows this is true generically. This shows (1).

Let us prove (2). Observe that $\Psi(X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X)$ consists of elements normalized at e; this follows by applying the computation 2.11 to f, g = 1 any any $\lambda, \mu \in Y$. Therefore $\Psi((X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X)^{\Gamma})$ maps to $(K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E^2)^{\mathrm{reg,norm}})^{\Gamma})$. In particular, $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$ is normalized and Γ -invariant. By the descent lemma 2.12, for all $B \in (X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X)^{\Gamma}$, the commutator $C_{\mathcal{E}}$, as a morphism $\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$, is uniquely determined by the property that it is normalized and fits into the commutative diagram

$$\operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathcal{T}_{E}^{2} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{\Psi(B)}} \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} K_{2,E} \rightarrow \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad \uparrow$$

$$\mathcal{T}^{2} \xrightarrow{C_{\xi}} \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$$

Since $C_{\mathcal{E}}$ is a commutator and already normalized, the normalization condition is redundant. Since the norm map $N : \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathcal{T}$ is an epimorphism, the composition $\mathcal{T}^2 \to \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ from the bottom left to top right is uniquely determined by its precomposition with $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E^2 \xrightarrow{N \times N} \mathcal{T}^2$. It remains to compute it. We have for $\lambda, \mu \in Y$ and $f, g \in \mathbb{G}_{m,E}$, $(\lambda \otimes f, \mu \otimes g) \in \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}\mathcal{T}_E^2$ maps to $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}(N(\lambda \otimes f), N(\mu \otimes g))$. By 2.11 and bimultiplicative property $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$, we have

$$\varphi_{\Psi(B)}(N(\lambda \otimes f), N(\mu \otimes g)) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{N} \varphi_{\Psi(B)}(\nu^{i}.\lambda \otimes \nu^{i}.f, \nu^{j}.\mu \otimes \nu^{j}.g)$$

$$=\prod_{i,j=1}^{N} \{\nu^{i}.f,\nu^{j}.g\}^{B(\nu^{i}.\lambda,\nu^{j}\mu)}$$

Then (2) is proved.

Let us conclude by showing our definition of a Heisenberg central extension is consistent with the definition of a Heisenberg central extension of a split torus given in [Bei06, 1.4]. The tame symbol $F^{\times} \times F^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ extends to a morphism of group ind-schemes

$$\{-,-\}_{\mathrm{c.c.}} L\mathbb{G}_{m,F} \times L\mathbb{G}_{m,F} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$$

defined in [OZ16, 2.2] called the **Contou-Carrerè symbol**. It descends to a map $LK_{2,F} \times LK_{2,F} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$. By [OZ16, 2.4], it has the property that the induced map on tangent spaces at 1 is the map

$$\mathbb{C}((t)) \oplus \mathbb{C}((t)) \to \mathbb{C}$$
$$(f, q) \mapsto \operatorname{res}(f \, \mathrm{d} q).$$

Definition 2.25: Let T be a (split) torus over k and B an even symmetric bilinear form on Y. A Heisenberg Central extension \hat{LT}_F in the sense of [Bei06, 1.4] associated to B is a $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ -central extension equipped with a splitting $L^+T_F \to \hat{LT}_F$ with the property that the commutator satisfies for all $\lambda, \mu \in Y, f, g \in L\mathbb{G}_{m,F}$,

$$(\lambda \otimes f, \mu \otimes g) \mapsto \{\lambda(f), \mu(g)\}_{\text{c.c.}}^{B(\lambda,\mu)}$$

Lemma 2.13: Suppose B is non-degenerate. Then a Heisenberg central extension of LT_F in the sense of [Bei06, 1.4] associated to B is a Heisenberg central extension as in 2.19.

PROOF: Let $L\hat{T}_F$ be a Heisenberg central extension in the sense of [Bei06, 1.4]. Since the Contou-Carrerè symbol extends the tame symbol on k-points, by 2.10 the computation of the formula of the commutator for a central extension of T by K_2 associated

to B, it remains only to show that if B is non-singular, then the induced central extension $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-}T_F^{\flat,0} = \operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-}T_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ is a formal Heisenberg Lie algebra with positive part $\mathfrak{t}[[t]]$ where $\mathfrak{t} = \operatorname{Lie} T$, identified with $Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$. Extend B to a bilinear form on \mathfrak{t} by \mathbb{C} -bilinearity. By [Bei06, 1.5(ii)] $\hat{\mathfrak{t}} := \operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-}T_F^{\flat,0}$ is isomorphic to the formal completion of the central extension of $\mathfrak{t}_{+,-}[t^{\pm 1}] := t^{-1}\mathfrak{h}[t^{-1}] \oplus t\mathfrak{h}[t]$ presented as

$$0 \to \mathbb{C}K \to \hat{\mathfrak{t}} \to \mathfrak{t}_{+,-}[t^{\pm 1}] \to 0$$

where $K \in Z(\hat{\mathfrak{t}})$ is some central element, with commutator

$$(X \otimes f, Y \otimes g) \mapsto B(X, Y) \operatorname{Res} f \operatorname{dg} K.$$

Since B is nonzero, the commutator pairing is nontrivial. Since B is non-degenerate, the center of $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}$ is $\mathbb{C}K$. We conclude that the center of $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}$ is one-dimensional and equal to its commutator. The result follows.

2.2.5 Group-Theoretic Decomposition of Heisenberg Central Extensions

In this section, we determine the group theoretic structure of a Heisenberg central extension, using the decomposition of a loop torus in 2.2.

Let $k = \mathbb{C}$, F = k((t)) and \mathcal{T} be a torus over F. Let E/F be an extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split of rank d. Put E = k((u)) for some $u^m = t$ where m = [E : F]. Let $\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be the finite cyclic Galois group with ν a choice of generator. Fix a primitive mth root of unity ζ defined by the property that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta_m$. Let μ_r denote the group of rth roots of unity in k^{\times} for each integer $r \geq 1$. Let $X = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbb{G}_{m,E})$, resp. $Y = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$, be the (absolute) character, resp. cocharacter, lattices with their canonical Γ action. Let $N = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma \cdot (-)$ be the norm map on an abelian group or sheaf with a Γ action. For a central extension \mathcal{P} of an abelian group, resp. presheaf by another abelian group, resp. presheaf, denote $C_{\mathcal{P}}$ the commutator map. Let T be the split torus over k with character lattice X. For this section, fix \hat{LT} to be a Heisenberg central extension, defined in 2.19. Let \mathcal{E} be a central extension of \mathcal{T} by \mathbf{K}_2 such that $C_{\hat{LT}(k)} = C_{\mathcal{E}(k)^{\text{tame},F}}$ is pushout of $\mathcal{E}(k)$ by the tame symbol over F. Let B be the Γ -invariant even symmetric bilinear form determining the commutator for \mathcal{E} in 2.6.

Definition 2.26: For a morphism $H \to L\mathcal{T}$ of group functors, define \hat{H} to be the restriction of the central extension to H.

The purpose of this subsection is to establish two theorems regarding the grouptheoretic structure of \hat{LT} which will be used to determine the representation theory of \hat{LT} in the next subsection 2.2.6:

Theorem 2.7: There exists a splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$.

Now recall the decomposition from 2.2:

$$L\mathcal{T} = L^{-}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\Gamma} \times T^{\Gamma,0} \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\Gamma} \times Y_{\Gamma}$$

where $T^{\Gamma,0}$ is the maximal torus of $L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

Theorem 2.8: Suppose B is non-degenerate. For a fixed splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L}\mathcal{T}$, there exists an isomorphism (given the choice of homomorphic section $s_u : Y_{\Gamma} \to L\mathcal{T}(k)$ for the Kottwitz homomorphism):

$$\hat{LT} \cong (L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$$

where

1. The restriction \hat{Y}_{Γ} of \hat{LT} to Y_{Γ} by s_u has cocycle taking values in the group μ_r roots of unity for some integer $r \geq 0$.

2. The embedding $\mathbb{G}_{m,k} \to L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})$ is given by the diagonal

$$x \mapsto (x, x^{-1})$$

into the product of the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ and the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} .

3. $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is trivial as a central extension, i.e., $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k) \cong \mathbb{G}_{m,k} \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$

We use the morphism $s_u = (N \circ ev_u) \cdot v : Y_{\Gamma} \to L\mathcal{T}(k)$ 2.6. Recall N is the norm map, ev_u is defined by the property that $\lambda \mapsto \lambda(u) \in L\mathcal{T}_E(k)$, and v is some map $Y_{\Gamma} \to T^{\Gamma,0}$.

Definition 2.27: For a central extension $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$ of \mathcal{A} by some other group or groupvalued sheaf, for $x \in \hat{\mathcal{A}}$ denote by \overline{x} the image of x in \mathcal{A} . In the case when \mathcal{A} is a group and $\hat{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathcal{A}$ is surjective, for $a \in \mathcal{A}$ denote by \hat{a} any lift of a in $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$.

Proposition 2.1: There exists a surjection $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$, where and the action of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ on \hat{Y} is defined by for $r \in L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$, $s \in \hat{Y}$,

$$r.s = rs_u(\overline{s})r^{-1} = C_{\hat{LT}}(\overline{r}, s_u(\overline{s})).\hat{s}$$

where $C_{\hat{LT}}(\bar{r}, s_u(\bar{s})) \in \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is considered an element of the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y} .

Remark 2.21: In fact, for any subgroups $H, P \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$, multiplication by the commutator as above gives a well-defined action of P on \hat{H} . This action lifts the conjugation action of \hat{P} on \hat{H} .

PROOF: Since $L\mathcal{T}$ is abelian, conjugation by $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ preserves \hat{H} for any subgroup $H \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$. Put $H = s_u(Y_{\Gamma})$. The action above is then the pullback of the conjugation action of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ on H by the map and thus well-defined.

The morphism $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ is defined as follows. Forgetting the group structure, the underlying in-scheme space of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ is $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$. Then define $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \rtimes \hat{Y} \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ as the composition

$$\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{0} \stackrel{s_{u} \times \iota}{\to} \hat{L\mathcal{T}} \times \hat{L\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\mu}{\to} \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$$

where $\iota : L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ is the canonical inclusion, and μ is the multiplication map. Such a map is flat as a morphism of ind-schemes. It is a group homomorphism because the restriction to $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \times 1$ and $1 \times L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ both are group homomorphisms and the definition action of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ on \hat{Y}_{Γ} is such that $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} = 1 \times \hat{Y}_{\Gamma}$ acts by its image under $\mu \circ ((N \circ s_u) \times \iota)$. To check that the map is surjective, it suffices to check surjection on the neutral component $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ and that it hits every connected component of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$. The first follows because it restricts to an isomorphism on $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \times 1$. The second follows by the fact that s_u is a section for the Kottwitz homomorphism 2.6. The proposition is proved.

The main theorems 2.7 and 2.8 of this subsection are proven by refining the surjection $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ by showing the following:

- 1. 2.2 The commutator $C_{L\mathcal{T}}$ is trivial on $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ and $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is a direct sum $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k) \cong \mathbb{G}_{m,k} \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. Hence a splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to L\mathcal{T}$ exists.
- 2. 2.3 For any splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to L\mathcal{T}$, we have $\hat{L\mathcal{T}}^0 = L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times T^{\Gamma,0}$ and $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts trivially on \hat{Y}_{Γ} . The splitting induces a canonical isomorphism $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes \hat{L\mathcal{T}}^0 = L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}).$
- 3. 2.4. The action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y}_{Γ} is computed and found identical to the one in [BK04, sec. 4.3] and lifts to an action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y} , where \hat{Y} is the restriction of \hat{Y}_{Γ} by the projection $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$. Explicitly, the action of $\exp h \in T^{\Gamma,0}$ for $h \in \mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma}$ on $\hat{\lambda} \in \hat{Y}$ for $\lambda \in Y$ is

$$\exp(h).\hat{\lambda} = e^{B(h,\lambda)}.\hat{\lambda}$$

where exp : $\mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma} \to T^{\Gamma,0}$ is the exponential map and $e^{(-)} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is the exponential function.

- 4. 2.5 The kernel of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ is the diagonal embedding $x \to (x, x^{-1})$ of $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ into the product of the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$ and the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} .
- 5. 2.19 Up to equivalence of central extensions, the restriction \hat{Y}_{Γ} of \hat{LT} to Y_{Γ} by s_u has cocycle taking values in the group μ_r roots of unity for some integer $r \ge 0$.

Remark 2.22: A central μ_{2m} extension of the discreet group Y_{Γ} and its commutator also features as foundational in the work of [Lep85]. In [Lep85, BK04], that central

extension is defined as an axiomatic starting point for Lie-theoretic computations. In contrast, we interpret \hat{Y}_{Γ} geometrically as coming from a section for the projection of $L\mathcal{T}$ to the group of connected components. We expect that \hat{Y}_{Γ} should agree with the μ_{2m} -central extension of Y_{Γ} in [Lep85, BK04] possibly after modifying the section s_u , but have not investigated this. This is because we did not need to explicitly compute \hat{Y}_{Γ} to deduce similar looking results on the representation theory of $\hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ in 2.2.6.

Let us first make some preparations that reduce these computations to computations about the k-points.

Definition 2.28: A pro-scheme is a projective limit of schemes together with limit structure. An ind-pro scheme is an inductive limit of pro-schemes together with its limit structure. Let $H = \lim_{i \to i} H_i$, $H' = \lim_{i \to i} H'_i$ be a pro-schemes over k. A pro-morphism $f : H \to H'$ is a morphism over k that factors through morphisms $f_i : H_i \to H'_i$. Now suppose $H = \lim_{i \to i} H_i$, $H' = \lim_{i \to i} H'_i$ are ind-pro-schemes where H_i, H'_i are pro-schemes. A ind-pro-morphism is a map $f : H \to H'$ that factors through morphisms $f_i : H_i \to H'_i$ that are pro-morphisms.

Lemma 2.14: Suppose H, H' are projective limits of finite type and reduced affine schemes and $f : H \to H'$ is a pro-morphism. Then f is determined by the induced map on k points $f : H(k) \to H'(k)$.

PROOF: Let $H = \lim_{i \to i} H_i$, $H' = \lim_{i \to i} H'_i$ where H_i and H'_i are finite type, reduced and affine. Then H, H' are affine and since each H_i, H'_i are affine, $H(k) = \lim_{i \to i} H_i(k)$ and $H'(k) = \lim_{i \to i} H'_i(k)$. The result then follows from the well known fact that over an algebraically closed field, the functor of taking k points on the category reduced and finite type schemes is faithful.

Lemma 2.15: Suppose f is an ind-pro automorphism of $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ that fixes the central \mathbb{G}_m and restricts to the identity on k-points. Then f is trivial.

PROOF: Since $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is connected, it suffices to show Lief is trivial. Since f restricts to the identity on k points, f restricts to the identity on the $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, which

is a projective limit of finite type reduced affine schemes, by 2.14. Thus Lie*f* restricts to the identity on $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. Now let $\mathfrak{l} \subseteq \operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ be the Heisenberg Lie algebra such that $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is the formal completion of \mathfrak{l} , where the positive part \mathfrak{l}_+ lies in $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. Since \mathfrak{l}_- and \mathfrak{l}_+ are in perfect pairing by the commutator by 2.1, Lie*f* is a Lie algebra morphism and Lie*f* fixes both the center $Z(\mathfrak{l})$ and \mathfrak{l}_+ , we conclude that Lie*f* fixes \mathfrak{l}_- as well, and therefore also \mathfrak{l} . The result follows as Lie*f* is continuous.

Now let us make some reductions that allow us to evaluate the commutator of $\mathcal{E}(k)$ over E instead of F on connected sub ind pro groups of $L\mathcal{T}(k)$.

Definition 2.29: Define $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}$ to be the composition

$$\mathcal{T}(F) \times \mathcal{T}(F) \stackrel{C_{\mathcal{E}(k)}}{\to} K_2(F) \to K_2(E) \stackrel{\mathrm{tame}_E}{\to} k^{\times}.$$

Lemma 2.16: We have as maps $L\mathcal{T}(k) \times L\mathcal{T}(k) \rightarrow k^{\times}$,

$$C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \text{tame}_E} = C^m_{\hat{L\mathcal{T}}(k)}$$

, i.e., $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}$ is the mth multiple of the commutator for $\hat{LT}(k)$.

PROOF: We have from 2.4 a commutative diagram

$$F^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} F^{\times} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{tame}_{F}} k^{\times}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{(-)^{m}}$$

$$E^{\times} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{tame}_{E}} k^{\times}$$

where $(-)^m$ denotes the map of raising to the *m*th power. Since the tame symbol satisfies the Steinberg relations, it descends to the commutative diagram

the result follows.

Now recall $L\mathcal{T}_{red}^0 = L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ from 2.14.

Lemma 2.17: Suppose $H \subseteq L\mathcal{T}^0(k) = L^+\mathcal{T}(k)$ is a connected sub (ind) pro group and $r \in L\mathcal{T}(k)$. If $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}(H, r) = \{1\}$, then $C_{L\hat{\mathcal{T}}(k)}(H, r) = \{1\}$, i.e., if the pushout of the commutator over E with r is trivial on H, then the commutator of the pushout over F with r is trivial on H.

PROOF: Suppose $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \text{tame}_E}(H, r) = \{1\}$. Using the above lemma that $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \text{tame}_E} = C_{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}(k)}^m$, we have that $C_{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}(k)}(H, r)$ takes values in the group μ_m , which is discreet. Since $x \mapsto C_{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}(k)}(x, r)$ is continuous and sends the identity element in H to 1, it follows that it must send H to $\{1\}$.

Now apply the computation of commutator main theorem from 2.6 to the F-points. We obtain

$$C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \operatorname{tame}_{E}}(N(\lambda \otimes f), N(\mu \otimes g)) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{m} \{\nu^{i}.f, \nu^{j}.g\}_{\operatorname{tame}_{E}}^{B(\nu^{i}.\lambda, \nu^{j}\mu)} \in k^{\times}$$

Proposition 2.2: 2.7 The commutator $C_{\hat{LT}}$ is trivial on $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$, and there exists a partial splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$ of \hat{LT} as a central extension over $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \subseteq L\mathcal{T}$.

PROOF: Since the restriction of $C_{L\mathcal{T}}$ to $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is a pro-morphism, by 2.14 it suffices to show that $C_{L\mathcal{T}}$ is trivial on the k-points of $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. Applying 2.17 to the connected subgroup $H = L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ with r ranging over elements of H, it suffices to show that $C_{\mathcal{E}(k),\text{tame}_E}$ is trivial on $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k) \times L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$.

To this end, recall from 2.4 that the norm map $N : L\mathcal{T}_E(k) \to L\mathcal{T}(k)$ is surjective on k points. By the properties of the Kottwitz homomorphism 2.6, N restricts to a surjection

$$(1-\nu)Y \otimes (L\mathbb{G}_{m,E})(k) \xrightarrow{N} (L\mathcal{T}^0)(k) = L\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$$
$$(1-\nu)\lambda \otimes f \mapsto N((1-\nu)\lambda \otimes f)$$

where the equality on the right hand side is given by 2.14. For $\lambda, \mu \in Y$ and $f, g \in L\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(k)$, it suffices to compute the following quantity and show that it is equal to 1:

$$C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \text{tame}_{E}}(N_{E/F}((1-\nu)\lambda \otimes f), N_{E/F}((1-\nu)\mu \otimes g)) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{m} \{\nu^{i}.f, \nu^{j}.g\}_{\text{tame}_{E}}^{B(\nu^{i}(1-\nu).\lambda,\nu^{j}(1-\nu).\mu)}$$

Put $f = a_0 u^{v_E(f)} \cdot f_+$ and $g = b_0 u^{v_E(g)} \cdot g_+$ for $f_+, g_+ \in L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ as in 2.14. Then using the formula for the tame symbol 2.4,

$$\{\nu^{i}.f,\nu^{j}.g\}_{tame_{E}} = \{a_{0}\zeta^{i}u^{v_{E}(f)}, b_{0}\zeta^{j}u^{v_{E}(g)}\}_{tame_{E}}$$
$$= (-1)^{v_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)}\frac{a_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}\zeta^{iv_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)}}{b_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}\zeta^{jv_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)}}$$
$$= (-1)^{v_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)}\frac{a_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}}{b_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}}\zeta^{(i-j)v_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)}.$$

Plugging in to the formula for $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}$, we obtain

$$C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \text{tame}_{E}}(N_{E/F}((1-\nu)\lambda \otimes f), N_{E/F}((1-\nu)\mu \otimes g)) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{m} ((-1)^{v_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)} \frac{a_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}}{b_{0}^{v_{E}(g)}} \zeta^{(i-j)v_{E}(f)v_{E}(g)})^{B(\nu^{i}(1-\nu).\lambda,\nu^{j}(1-\nu).\mu)}$$

By Γ -invariance of B, this is

$$=\prod_{i,j=1}^{m} ((-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{b_0^{v_E(g)}} \zeta^{(i-j)v_E(f)v_E(g)})^{B(\nu^{i-j}(1-\nu).\lambda,(1-\nu).\mu)}.$$

Rearrange the double product $\prod_{i,j=1}^{m}$ to a product $\prod_{k=1}^{m} \prod_{i-j \equiv k \mod m}$. Since for every k, there are exactly m pairs (i, j) with $i, j \in \{0, \cdots, m-1\}$ with $i - j \equiv k \mod m$, the above quantity is

$$=\prod_{k=1}^{m} ((-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{b_0^{v_E(g)}} \zeta^{kv_E(f)v_E(g)})^{mB(\nu^k(1-\nu).\lambda,(1-\nu).\mu)}.$$

The ζ -factor is annihilated by the multiple of m, giving

$$=\prod_{k=1}^{m} ((-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{b_0^{v_E(g)}})^{mB(\nu^k(1-\nu).\lambda,(1-\nu).\mu)}$$
$$= ((-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{b_0^{v_E(g)}})^{m\sum_{k=1}^{m} B(\nu^k(1-\nu).\lambda,(1-\nu).\mu)}.$$

By bilinearity of B,

$$= ((-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{b_0^{v_E(g)}})^{mB(\sum_{k=1}^m \nu^k (1-\nu).\lambda, (1-\nu).\mu)}.$$

Since the element $\sum_{k=1}^{m} \nu^k (1-\nu) . \lambda \in Y$ is Γ -invariant and B is Γ -invariant, $B(\sum_{k=1}^{m} \nu^k (1-\nu) . \lambda, (1-\nu) . \mu) = 0$, and the above term is 1. Hence $L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is abelian. Since $L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is pro-unipotent while $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is semisimple, $L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is split and the result follows.

Lemma 2.18: $L^{++}\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0}(k)$ lies in the center of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}(k)$.

PROOF: Since $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ is connected, 2.17, it suffices to show for each $r \in L\mathcal{T}(k)$ and $s \in L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ that $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}(s, r) = 1$.

From the Γ -invariant decomposition

$$L^{+}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\flat,0} = T \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}$$
$$L^{+}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} = T^{\Gamma,0} \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}_{E}^{\Gamma}$$

as in 2.14, we have that $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ is precisely the image of $L^{++}\mathcal{T}_E(k)$ under the norm map. According to the decomposition of $L\mathcal{T}_E$ in 2.2.2, elements of $L^{++}\mathcal{T}_E^{\flat,0}(k)$ are precisely of the form $\mu \otimes g$ for $\mu \in Y$ and $g \in L^{++}\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(k)$. According to the properties of the Kottwitz homomorphism 2.6, elements of $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ are precisely of the form $N((1-\nu)\mu \otimes g)$ for $\mu \in Y$ and $g \in L^{++}\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(k)$. By the description of $L^{++}\mathbb{G}_{m,E}$ in 2.2.2, for all such $g, v_E(g) = 0$. Hence it suffices to show $C_{\mathcal{E}(k), tame_E}(N(\lambda \otimes$ $(f), N((1-\nu)\mu \otimes g)) = 1$ for $\lambda, \mu \in Y, f \in L\mathbb{G}_{m,E}(k)$ and $g \in L^{++}\mathbb{G}_{m,E}$. We have

$$C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \operatorname{tame}_{E}}(N(\lambda \otimes f), N((1-\nu)\mu \otimes g)) = \prod_{i,j=1}^{m} \{\nu^{i} f, \nu^{j} g\}_{\operatorname{tame}_{E}}^{B(\nu^{i},\lambda,\nu^{j}(1-\nu)\mu)}.$$

Since $v_E(g) = 0$, we have

$$\{\nu^i f, \nu^j.g\} = (-1)^{v_E(f)v_E(g)} \frac{a_0^{v_E(g)}}{1^{v_E(f)}} = 1$$

where $f = a_0 \cdot u^{v_E(f)} \cdot f_+$ as in 2.2.2. The result follows.

Proposition 2.3: $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts trivially on \hat{Y}_{Γ} and $T^{\Gamma,0}$ acts trivially on $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. We conclude that for every choice of splitting $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L}\mathcal{T}$ inducing an inclusion $T^{\Gamma,0} \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{0}$,

$$L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 = L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times T^{\Gamma,0}$$

and

$$\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{0} = L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})$$

PROOF: The result follows from 2.15 and the above lemma 2.18 that $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k)$ lies in the center of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}(k)$.

Proposition 2.4: The action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y}_{Γ} lifts to an action on \hat{Y} . For $h \in \mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma} = \text{Lie}T^{\Gamma,0}$ and $\lambda \in Y$, we have

$$C_{\hat{LT}}(\exp(h),\lambda) = e^{B(h,\lambda)}$$

where exp : $\mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma} \to T^{\Gamma,0}$ is the exponential map, and $e : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is the exponential function. Hence the action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y} is identical to the one in [BK04, sec. 4.3].

PROOF: By the description of the section s_u from 2.6, $s_u((1-\nu)Y) \subseteq T^{\Gamma,0}$. Since $L^+ \hat{\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0}$ is split from 2.7 and $T^{\Gamma,0} \subseteq L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, $C_{\hat{LT}}$ is trivial on $T^{\Gamma,0} \times s_u((1-\nu)Y)$ and therefore lifts to an action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y} by

$$x.\lambda \coloneqq x.s_u(\lambda)$$

where we consider s_u as a map $Y \to L\mathcal{T}$ by pre-composition with the projection $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$.

Now fix $\lambda \in Y$ and recall $s_u = (N \circ \operatorname{ev}_u) \cdot v$ for some map $v : Y \to T^{\Gamma,0}$. Since $C_{L\mathcal{T}}$ is trivial on $T^{\Gamma,0} \times T^{\Gamma,0}$, for $\lambda \in Y$ the action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on $s_u(\lambda)$ equals the action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on $(N \circ \operatorname{ev}_u)(\lambda)$. The map $x \mapsto C_{L\mathcal{T}}(X, (N \circ \operatorname{ev}_u)(\lambda))$ is a group homomorphism between the connected groups $T^{\Gamma,0} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ and thus is determined by the induced map on Lie algebras $\mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{C}$. In particular, it suffices to compute the *m*th multiple of $T^{\Gamma,0} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ and show that it gives $\exp(h) \mapsto e^{mB(h,\lambda)}$, by dividing the induced map on Lie algebras by *m*. To this end, write $\mathfrak{h}^{\Gamma} = Y^{\Gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$ and $h = \lambda \otimes \log(a)$ for $\lambda \in Y^{\Gamma}$ and $a \in \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ so $\exp(h) = \lambda \otimes a = \lambda(a) \in T^{\Gamma,0}$. Then for $\mu \in Y$, by 2.16,

$$m.C_{\hat{LT}}(\exp(h), (N \circ \operatorname{ev}_{u})(\lambda)) = C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \operatorname{tame}_{E}}(\exp(h), N(\operatorname{ev}_{u}(\mu)))$$
$$= C_{\mathcal{E}(k), \operatorname{tame}_{E}}(\lambda \otimes a, N(\mu \otimes u))$$
$$= \{a, \zeta^{i}u\}_{\operatorname{tame}_{E}}^{\sum_{i=1}^{m} B(\lambda, \nu^{i}.\mu)}.$$

Since λ is Γ -invariant and B is Γ -invariant, $\sum_{i=1}^{m} B(\lambda, \nu^{i}.\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} B(\lambda, \mu) = mB(\lambda, \mu)$. We also have $\{a, \zeta^{i}u\}_{tame_{E}} = \frac{a}{1} = a$. Since $e^{B(\lambda \otimes \log(a), \mu)} = a^{B(\lambda, \mu)}$, the result follows.

Proposition 2.5: The surjection $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \to L\mathcal{T}$ has kernel precisely the image of $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \rtimes \hat{Y}_{\Gamma}$ under the map $x \mapsto (x, x^{-1})$ into the product of the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} and the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0$.

PROOF: The kernel of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \rtimes \hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \to L\mathcal{T}$ lies in the neutral component $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^0 \times \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$. Since the map is multiplication, it the kernel is precisely the set

$$\{(x,y) \in \mathbb{G}_{m,k} \times \mathbb{G}_{m,k} : xy = 1\}$$

where the left $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{LT} and the right $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ is the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} . This is the injective image of $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ as described.

Lemma 2.19: Up to equivalence as central extensions, the image of the cocycle for \hat{Y}_{Γ} lies in μ_r for some $r \geq 0$.

PROOF: As a central extension, \hat{Y}_{Γ} is determined by the pullback \hat{Y} from the projection $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$. By the [Bro94, V.6 ex. 5], there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}(Y, \mu_r) \to \operatorname{H}^2(Y, \mu_r) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\wedge^2 Y, \mu_r) \to 0$$

where the first map is the inclusion of abelian central extensions into all central extensions and the second map takes a cocycle for a central extension to the associated commutator. Since Ext(Y, A) = 0 for any abelian group A as Y is free,

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(Y,\mu_{r}) = \mathrm{Hom}(\wedge^{2}Y,\mu_{r})$$

and the central extension \hat{Y} is in fact completely determined by its commutator. The image of the commutator for \hat{Y} in $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ must be finitely generated because $Y \otimes Y$ is. Hence the cocycle for \hat{Y} lies in μ_r for some integer $r \geq 0$, therefore the cocycle for Y_{Γ} satisfies the same.

Remark 2.23: Constructions in [BK04, Lep85, sec. 4.5, resp. 4] required the choice of a cocycle for the commutator for \hat{Y} , and they turn out to be immaterial.

We conclude that by 2.3 that $s_u: Y_{\Gamma} \to L\mathcal{T}(k)$ and a choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ defines a presentation:

$$\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes L\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{0} = L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})$$

Taking the quotient by $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ in the embedding 2.5, we thus have proved the main result of this subsection 2.8.

2.2.6 Representations of Heisenberg Central Extensions

We define the notion of a representation of a Heisenberg central extension $L\mathcal{T}$. We show the category of representations is semisimple and describe the irreducible objects

in terms of representations of a distinguished finite subgroup of $L\mathcal{T}$.

Let $k = \mathbb{C}$, F = k((t)) and \mathcal{T} be a torus over F. Let E/F be an extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split of rank d. Put E = k((u)) for some $u^m = t$ where m = [E : F]. Let $\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be the finite cyclic Galois group with ν a choice of generator. Fix a primitive mth root of unity ζ defined by the property that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$. Let μ_r denote the group of rth roots of unity in k^{\times} for each integer $r \geq 1$. Let $X = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbb{G}_{m,E})$, resp. $Y = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$, be the (absolute) character, resp. cocharacter, lattices with their canonical Γ action.

Let \hat{LT} be a Heisenberg central extension, as defined in 2.19. Let B be the Γ -invariant even symmetric bilinear form associated to \hat{LT} in 2.6. Fix a choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$ from 2.7, and obtain the induced decomposition

$$\hat{L\mathcal{T}} \cong (\hat{L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$$

from 2.8. Recall from definition that $\overline{\mathfrak{l}} := \operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is a formal Heisenberg Lie algebra, the formal completion of a Heisenberg Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} that has positive part \mathfrak{l}_+ with $\overline{\mathfrak{l}}_+ = \operatorname{Lie} L^{++} \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. For each $p \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$, recall the notion of a level p representation of a Heisenberg Lie algebra in 2.3 and the fact that the category of level p Heisenberg Lie algebras as semisimple with exactly one irreducible object up to isomorphism

$$\pi_p = \mathrm{Ind}^{\mathfrak{l}}_{\mathbb{C} \oplus \mathfrak{l}_+} \mathbb{C}$$

where l_+ acts by 0 and \mathbb{C} acts by 1.

Definition 2.30: A level p representation of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ is a representation V such that the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} acts on V by the character $x \mapsto x^p$ and the action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on V is diagonalizable, i.e., V splits into a direct sum of weight spaces for $T^{\Gamma,0}$.

For the remainder of this subsection, we will be most interested in the case p = 1.

Definition 2.31: A representation of a Heisenberg Central extension \hat{LT} equipped with a splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$ is a representation V such that: 1. The induced representation of the formal Heisenberg Lie algebra $\overline{\mathfrak{l}} = \operatorname{Lie} \hat{\mathcal{LT}}$ is a level 1 representation in the sense of 2.3.

2. Under the decomposition induced by the splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$,

$$\hat{L\mathcal{T}} \cong (\hat{L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$$

the induced action of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ on V is a level p representation for p = 1 in the sense of 2.30.

It will turn out that a representation V of $L\mathcal{T}$ is determined by a distinguished subspace $\Omega(V)$ defined as follows.

Definition 2.32: The vacuum space $\Omega(V)$ of a representation V of \hat{LT} relative to a splitting $L^+T^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$ is the fixed point space

$$\Omega(V) = V^{L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}}.$$

Hence $\Omega(V)$ is functorial in V.

Recall from 2.19 \hat{Y}_{Γ} has cocycle with values in μ_r for some integer $r \geq 0$. Hence \hat{Y}_{Γ} is the pushout by the inclusion $\mu_r \hookrightarrow \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of a μ_r -central extension of \hat{Y}_{Γ} that is also a canonically sub-central extension of \hat{Y}_{Γ} by the inclusion $\mu_r \hookrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m$. Let us introduce the associated distinguished finite subgroup:

Definition 2.33: Let $\Sigma := Y_{\Gamma,\text{tor}}$. The principal finite Heisenberg group $\hat{\Sigma}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} is the restriction to Σ of the μ_r sub-central extension of \hat{Y}_{Γ} . For an integer $p \ge 0$ level p representation for $\hat{\Sigma}$ is a representation such that the central μ_r acts by the character $x \mapsto x^p$.

Remark 2.24: $\hat{\Sigma}$ does not depend on a choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ but may depend on the choice of section $Y_{\Gamma} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ to the Kottwitz homomorphism.

Lemma 2.20: (analogous to [BK04, sec. 4.4]) Let $\hat{\Sigma}$ be the finite Heisenberg subgroup of \hat{Y}_{Γ} . Suppose B is nondegenerate. Then the centralizer of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ in $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$

$$\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{\Gamma,0} \subseteq \hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$$

54

In particular $T^{\Gamma,0}$ acts trivially on $\hat{\Sigma}$.

PROOF: Let \hat{Y} be the restriction of \hat{Y}_{Γ} by $Y \to Y_{\Gamma}$. Recall from 2.4 that for $h \in \mathfrak{h}^{\nu}$ and $\lambda \in Y$, the action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y} is defined by the commutator

$$C_{\hat{LT}}(\exp(h),\lambda) = e^{B(h,\lambda)}$$

Since B is nondegenerate, it induces a perfect pairing $\mathfrak{h}^{\Gamma} \times \mathfrak{h}^{\Gamma} \to \mathbb{C}$. The result follows from the fact that the preimage of $Y_{w,\text{tor}} = \Sigma$ in Y lies in the orthogonal complement $(\mathfrak{h}^{\Gamma})^{\perp}$ defined by B.

Remark 2.25: A representation of $\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{\Gamma,0}$, where the restriction to $\hat{\Sigma}$ is a level p representation and the restriction to $T^{\Gamma,0}$ is diagonalizable, is the same thing as an $\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ -graded level p representation of $\hat{\Sigma}$.

Representations of groups, such as $\hat{\Sigma}$, that are central extensions of finite abelian groups are well understood and classified by characters of the center. We record the result here:

Lemma 2.21: [BK04, 4.5.3] The category of level 1 representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$ is semisimple with finitely many irreducible objects classified by characters of the center. They all have the same dimension d satisfying

$$d^2 = |\hat{\Sigma}/Z(\hat{\Sigma})|$$

Definition 2.34: The defect value of of \hat{LT} is the number d as above; the dimension of an irreducible representation of the principal finite Heisenberg group $\hat{\Sigma}$ associated to \hat{LT} .

We first reduce the problem of determining the representation theory of \hat{LT} to that of level 1 representations of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$. **Theorem 2.9:** Fix a splitting $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$. Then $\Omega(V)$ is stable under $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ and there is a canonical equivalence of categories

Representations of $\hat{LT} \to Level \ 1$ representations of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$

$$V \mapsto \Omega(V)$$

with an inverse given by

$$\mathrm{Ind}_{(L^{++}\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0}\times(\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}\rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}}^{\hat{L}\hat{\mathcal{T}}}M \leftrightarrow M$$

where $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \hookrightarrow L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts on U trivially and the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts by the identity character.

PROOF: The fact that $\Omega(V)$ is stable under $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ follows because $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ commutes with $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$. Hence the functors in both directions are well-defined. It suffices to show they are mutual inverse.

A representation of \hat{LT} is canonically equivalent to a representation of $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})$ where both the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{LT}^{0} and the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of \hat{Y}_{Γ} act by the identity character. Let \mathfrak{l} be the Heisenberg Lie algebra whose formal completion is $\overline{\mathfrak{l}} = \operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$. Now let $\pi = \pi_1$ be the level p = 1 Fock space from 2.2 as a module for \mathfrak{l} . Then

$$\pi = \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{Ind}_{L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}}^{\operatorname{Lie}L^{++},-\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}}\mathbb{C})$$

, i.e., π is integrable, where the central $\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts by the identity character and $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts trivially. Observe that also

$$\pi = \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{Ind}_{L^{++,-\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})}^{L^{++,-\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})} \mathbb{C})$$

where $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ acts trivially on \mathbb{C} . Therefore the canonical functorial isomorphism from 2.2

$$\operatorname{Lie} V \cong \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{Ind}_{L^{++,\widehat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})}^{L^{++,\widehat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})} \Omega(V)) \cong \pi \otimes \Omega(V)$$

$$M \cong \Omega(\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{Lie}L^{++} \hat{\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})}^{\operatorname{Lie}L^{++} \hat{\mathcal{T}}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})} M)$$

as \mathfrak{l} -modules, where \mathfrak{l} acts on π and $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ also acts on $\Omega(V)$, integrates to a canonical functorial equivalence of $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})$ modules

$$V \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{L^{++,\hat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})}^{L^{++,\hat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})} \Omega(V)$$
$$M \cong \Omega(\operatorname{Ind}_{L^{++,\hat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})}^{L^{++,\hat{-}}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0})} M).$$

The result follows.

Theorem 2.10: Suppose B is non-degenerate, inducing an injection $B : \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})^{\vee} \cong \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ with the second isomorphism being canonical. The category of level 1 representations of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ is semisimple, and any such representation is induced from a representation of $\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{\Gamma,0}$ and is an equivalence of categories

Level 1 representations of $\hat{Y_{\Gamma}} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0} \cong \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})/B(\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}))$ -graded level 1 representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$

$$\oplus_{\lambda \in B(\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}))} U_{\lambda_0} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Ind}_{\widehat{\Sigma} \times T^{\Gamma,0}}^{Y_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}} U_{\alpha} \longleftrightarrow U_{\alpha + B(\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}))}$$

for $\alpha \in \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$.

PROOF: This proof follows [BK04, 4.4] where \hat{Y}_{Γ} was replaced by some other central extension given explicitly terms of a formula. We only check here the same proof goes through without needing to know the exact commutator for \hat{Y}_{Γ} and that 2.4 and 2.20 are enough.

Since *B* is nondegenerate, it induces an injection of the quotient of by torsion of the coinvariants $Y_{\Gamma,\text{cotor}} \hookrightarrow Y_{\Gamma,\text{cotor}} \otimes \mathbb{C} = \mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma} \stackrel{B}{\hookrightarrow} \mathfrak{t}^{\Gamma,\vee}$. Let Ω be a representation of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ let Ω_{α} denote the α -weight space. For $\lambda \in Y_{\Gamma}$ denote $\overline{\lambda}$ the image in $Y_{\Gamma,\text{cotor}}$ and $\hat{\lambda}$ any lift in \hat{Y}_{Γ} .

We first claim the following auxiliary properties. Fix $\alpha \in \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ such that Ω_{α} is nonzero.

(i) For $\lambda \in Y_{\Gamma}$,

$$\hat{\lambda}.\Omega_{\alpha} = \Omega_{B(\overline{\lambda})+\alpha}.$$

In particular, each weight space Ω_{α} is stable under $\hat{\Sigma}$.

(ii) The space

$$\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha} = \bigoplus_{\overline{\lambda} \in Y_{\Gamma,\text{cotor}}} \Omega_{B(\overline{\lambda}) + \alpha} = \text{Ind}_{\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{\Gamma,0}}^{\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}} U_{\alpha} \subseteq \Omega$$

is stable under $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$.

(iii) The submodule \hat{Y}_{Γ} . Ω_{α} of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ is irreducible iff each or any $\Omega_{B(\overline{\lambda})+\alpha}$ is irreducible for $\hat{\Sigma}$.

Let's prove (i), (ii), (iii). For (i), the result follows form the computation of the commutator action of $T^{\Gamma,0}$ on \hat{Y}_{Γ} of 2.4. For (ii), it is enough to observe that $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha}$ is stable under the subgroups \hat{Y}_{Γ} and $T^{\Gamma,0}$ that together generate $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$. For (iii), suppose some $\Omega_{B(\bar{\lambda})+\alpha}$ is irreducible for $\hat{\Sigma}$. Then by (i) and the fact that all representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$ have the same dimension, every $\Omega_{B(\bar{\lambda})+\alpha}$ is irreducible for $\hat{\Sigma}$. Any submodule $V \subseteq \hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha}$ must have a compatible weight space decomposition, each weight space a submodule for $\hat{\Sigma}$. Since every $\Omega_{B(\bar{\lambda})+\alpha}$ is irreducible for $\hat{\Sigma}, V = \hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha}$. Conversely suppose $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha}$ is irreducible for $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$. Let $v, w \in \Omega_{B(\bar{\lambda})+\alpha}$ be nonzero vectors. By assumption there exists $x \in \hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ such that xv = w and it suffices to show the first co-ordinate of x lies in $\hat{\Sigma}$. This follows from (i).

Let's now use (i), (ii), (iii) to prove the theorem. Let us show Ω is completely reducible. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ such that Ω_{α} is nonzero, by (iii) the sub-module $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}.\Omega_{\alpha}$ is completely reducible because each $\Omega_{B(\overline{\lambda})+\alpha}$ is completely reducible for $\hat{\Sigma}$. Choosing α among a set of representatives of $\mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})/B(\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}))$, we conclude that Ω is completely reducible. This shows the category of level 1 representations of $\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{\Gamma,0}$ is semisimple. The fact the functor given above is an equivalence of categories follows from (ii) and (ii) since every irreducible component of Ω must be stable under \hat{Y}_{Γ} . The result follows.

Remark 2.26: 2.10 is a generalization of [Bei06, 1.9] which classifies the represen-

tations of \hat{LT} in the case when \mathcal{T} is split, so $T^{\Gamma,0} = T$, $\hat{\Sigma}$ is the trivial group, and the category of $\mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ -graded representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$ becomes the category of $Y^{\vee}/B(Y)$ -graded vector spaces.

Remark 2.27: Two different choices of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ are determined by a morphism $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,k}$, by dividing the two splittings. Since $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is prounipotent, such a morphism is determined by the restriction to $T^{\Gamma,0}$, i.e., by a character for $T^{\Gamma,0}$. Since the $T^{\Gamma,0}$ -weight spaces for an irreducible representation of $\hat{L\mathcal{T}}$, the defect d has an intrinsic definition as the dimension of a single weight space of the vacuum space of any irreducible representation of $\hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ for the inclusion $T^{\Gamma,0} \hookrightarrow \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$ induced by any choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$. In particular d is independent of the choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L\mathcal{T}}$.

According to 2.10, representations of \hat{LT} induced from a representation of $\hat{\Sigma}$ that is a single weight space for $T^{\Gamma,0}$ are especially easy to understand and they are the intended application for the next chapter 3. We record the corollary here:

Corollary 2.4: Suppose an $\mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})/B(\mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0}))$ -graded representation U of $\hat{\Sigma}$ has only one graded component. Then

$$U \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})} U_\lambda$$

where for each λ , $T^{\Gamma,0}$ acts on U_{λ} by $B(\lambda) \in \mathbb{X}^*(T^{\Gamma,0})$ and U_{λ} is stable under $\hat{\Sigma}$. In particular, if a given representation V of \hat{LT} is given as

$$V \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})} \pi \otimes U_\lambda$$

where $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts on π , $T^{\Gamma,0}$ acts on U_{λ} by $B(\lambda)$ and each U_{λ} is stable under $\hat{\Sigma}$, then we have a characterization of the vacuum space

$$\Omega(V) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbb{X}_*(T^{\Gamma,0})} U_\lambda$$

and V is irreducible under \hat{LT} iff any U_{λ} is irreducible as a $\hat{\Sigma}$ representation iff every U_{λ} is irreducible as a $\hat{\Sigma}$ representation.

Furthermore any morphism $V \to W$ where W is another $L\mathcal{T}$ representation is injective iff it is injective on any of the U_{λ} .

2.3 Classification and Generic Cocycles for Central Extensions of a Torus by K_2

Let F be any field, not necessarily $\mathbb{C}((t))$, and \mathcal{T} be a torus over F. Let E/F be a Galois extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split. This section concerns some computations about the category of central extensions of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. We essentially reproduce the techniques in [BD01] but slightly modify them to give us the explicit computations. The techniques are disjoint from the remainder of this paper and only the results will be used. The results are listed below and the proof is given in later subsections. Suppose \mathcal{T} is a torus over F and E/F is a Galois extension where \mathcal{T}_E is split. Let $\Gamma =$ $\operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$. Let $X = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbb{G}_{m,E})$, resp. $Y = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$, be the (absolute) character, resp. cocharacter lattice, both as Γ -modules.

Recall the sheaf $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ and the presheaf $K_{2,F}$ on the big Zariski site $\operatorname{Spec}(F)_{\operatorname{Zar}}$ from 2.2.3. For a group scheme G over S and an abelian sheaf \mathcal{A} on S, let $\operatorname{CExt}(G, \mathcal{A})$ be the Picard category of central extensions of G by \mathcal{A} .

We have the following characterization of the group of isomorphism classes of $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$, where the group structure is induced by the sum of cocycles.

Theorem 2.11: We have a short exact sequence of abelian groups

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\Gamma, X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}) \xrightarrow{\iota} \pi_{0} \mathrm{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F}) \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathrm{AdmSym}^{2} X^{\Gamma} \to 0$$

where $\operatorname{AdmSym}^2 X \subseteq \operatorname{Sym}^2 X$ is a certain subset of 'admissible' quadratic forms, realized as the kernel of a connecting morphism in a long exact sequence

$$\operatorname{Sym}^2 X^{\Gamma} \to \operatorname{H}^2(\Gamma, X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times})$$

where:

1. For $\mathcal{E} \in \pi_0 \operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$, the map ρ gives the commutator for the base change \mathcal{E}_E as in 2.3.

2. The group $\mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma, X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times})$ consists of Galois descent data for the trivial multiplicative $\mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ torsor $\mathcal{E}_{0,E}$ on \mathcal{T}_E , where $X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}$ is identified with $\mathrm{Aut}(\mathcal{E}_{0,E})$.

We also have the following description of the generic cocycle for a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. The statement of the computation uses a Galois descent property for $K_{2,F}$ of function fields:

Theorem 2.12: [CT83, Theorem B] in characteristic 0, [Sus87] in any characteristic, for a geometrically integral F-variety Z with F-rational point and a Galois extension E/F,

$$H^{1}(\Gamma, K_{2}(E(Z))/K_{2}(E)) = 0$$

and the natural map $K_2(F(Z)) \to K_2(E(Z))$ induces an isomorphism

$$K_2(F(Z))/K_2(F) \cong K_2(E(Z))/K_2(E).$$

Theorem 2.13: Let \mathcal{E} be a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ and \mathcal{E}_E the base change to E. Let $c \in \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E^2, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}}$ be a cocycle for \mathcal{E}_E and $\{f_\gamma\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma} \in C^1(\Gamma, \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}})$ be a 1-cochain (where each $f_\gamma \in \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}}$) that defines the descent datum for \mathcal{E}_E . Let d be the image in $K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E^2))/K_2(E)$ of the restriction of c to the generic point of \mathcal{T}_E^2 . Using $\mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma, K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E)/K_2(E)) = 0$ from 2.12, we have that d is a coboundary determined by some $n \in K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E)/K_2(E))$. Then the element

$$d - (\mathrm{pr}_1^* - \mu^* + \mathrm{pr}_2^*)(n) \in K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E)/K_2(E))$$

is Γ -invariant and gives the corresponding generic cocycle for \mathcal{E} under the isomorphism $K_2(F(\mathcal{T}))/K_2(F) \cong K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E))/K_2(E)$ from 2.12.

This implies the following fact that we have used in the proof of 2.6:

Lemma 2.22: The commutator $C_{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ a central extension \mathcal{E} of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ factors through the presheaf $K_{2,F}$ and is $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$ as in 2.3 where B is the bilinear form $\rho([\mathcal{E}])$ from 2.11.

Remark 2.28: This allows us to directly define a Heisenberg central extension $L\mathcal{T}$, without reference to the Heisenberg Lie algebra $LieL^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, by starting with the central extension of \mathcal{T} by the presheaf $K_{2,F}$ and taking the pushout of the induced central extension of $L\mathcal{T}$ by $LK_{2,F}$ via the Contou-Carrerè symbol [OZ16, 2.2] $LK_{2,F} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,F}$.

PROOF: Suppose \mathcal{E}_E has commutator $\varphi_{\Psi(B)}$. Let $C \in X \otimes X$ such that $B = C + \tau^* C$ such that the d in 2.13 is given by the image of $\Psi(C)$ in $K_2(E(\mathcal{T}_E^2))/K_2(E)$, where Ψ is as in 2.3. Now observe that the element $(\mathrm{pr}_1^* - \mu^* + \mathrm{pr}_2^*)(n)$ is invariant under transposition because $\tau^*\mu = \mu$ (because \mathcal{T} is abelian) and $\tau^*\mathrm{pr}_1 = \mathrm{pr}_2^*, \tau^*\mathrm{pr}_2 = \mathrm{pr}_1$. Hence the commutator associated to $d - (\mathrm{pr}_1^* - \mu^* + \mathrm{pr}_2^*)(n)$ is $d - \tau^* d$. By 2.10, the generic commutator for \mathcal{E} is also given by $d + \tau^* d$ and thus also $\Psi(B)$. According to [BD01, 8.8], a 2-cocycle $\mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ is determined by its restriction to the generic point. Since any commutator associated to a cocycle is also a 2-cocycle, as proved in the lemma 2.23 below, this shows that $C_{\mathcal{E}}$ is the composition of $\Psi(B)$ with the natural map $K_{2,F} \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. This is what was desired.

Lemma 2.23: Let H, \mathcal{A} be presheaves of abelian groups and $c: H^2 \to \mathcal{A}$ a 2-cocycle. Then $-\tau^*c$ is also a two-cocycle and therefore so is the commutator $c - \tau^*c$ associated to c.

PROOF: We recall that the cocycle condition is that for all b_1, b_2, b_3 in H,

$$c(b_2, b_3) - c(b_1b_2, b_3) + c(b_1, b_2b_3) - c(b_1, b_2) = 0$$
 for all b_2, b_2, b_3 .

Substituting c for $-\tau^* c$ gives

$$-(c(b_3, b_2) - c(b_3, b_1b_2) + c(b_2b_3, b_1) - c(b_2, b_1))$$
$$= c(b_2, b_1) - c(b_2b_3, b_1) + c(b_3, b_1b_2) - c(b_3, b_2).$$

Applying the transformation $(b_1, b_2, b_3) \mapsto (b_3, b_2, b_1)$ and commutativity of H gives us that the above element is equal to

$$= c(b_2, b_3) - c(b_1b_2, b_3) + c(b_1, b_2b_3) - c(b_1, b_2)$$

for all $b_1, b_2, b_3 \in H$. The above element is zero since c is a 2-cocycle. The result follows.

2.3.1 Multiplicative Torsors, Galois Descent, Homological Algebra

We review some of the foundations in [BD01, sec. 1] and re-frame them in terms of derived categories for our computations. The main purpose is a rephrasing of [BD01, 1.9.(2)] and [BD01, 2.4], which were both only stated for the case of $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ torsors over a scheme X over S, in a more general setting of group actions on chain complexes. This allows us to apply them to the setting of central extensions of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$.

Definition 2.35: A Picard groupoid is a symmetric monoidal category where every object is invertible. Let C be a Picard groupoid and β the symmetry constraint. We say a Picard groupoid C is strictly commutative if for all $X \in C$, the symmetry constraint $\beta_{X,X} : X \otimes X \cong X \otimes X$ is the identity map. A Picard functor is a morphism between Picard groupoids preserving the tensor structure.

Let S be a base scheme. Let \mathcal{A} be a sheaf of abelian groups on the big Zariski site S_{Zar} . Denote by \mathcal{A}_X the restriction of \mathcal{A} to X. Let X be a scheme over S.

Definition 2.36: By an \mathcal{A} -torsor on X we mean an \mathcal{A}_X -torsor on X. The strictly commutative groupoid of \mathcal{A} -torsors on X is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$$

The tensor structure is denoted by + called the **sum of torsors**, where for $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q} \in$ Tors $(X, \mathcal{A}), \mathcal{P}+\mathcal{Q}$ is defined to be the pushout of the $\mathcal{A}\oplus\mathcal{A}$ torsor $\mathcal{P}\oplus\mathcal{Q}$ under the sum map $\mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$. The **trivial** \mathcal{A} -torsor on X is denoted $\mathcal{E}_{0,X}$. The commutativity and associativity constraints are inherited from those for the operation \oplus .

Remark 2.29: The reason that $\operatorname{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$ is strictly commutative is that given $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q} \in \operatorname{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$ with a cover $U \to X$ trivializing \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q} , we have that $(\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q})|_U$ is the sheafification of the sheaf of sections of $\mathcal{P}|_U \oplus \mathcal{Q}|_U$ quotiented by the relation (r, s) = (r', s') if r + s = s + r. Hence the symmetry constraint, induced by swapping the order of addition, $\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q} \cong \mathcal{Q} + \mathcal{P}$ is the identity and there is a direct equality $\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q} + \mathcal{P}$ as \mathcal{A} -torsors over X. This condition is actually stronger than strict commutativity, which requires this to hold only for $\mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{P}$.

Suppose now X has a distinguished section $e: S \to X$.

Definition 2.37: The strictly commutative Picard groupoid of pointed A-torsors on X is denoted by

$$\operatorname{Tors}_{e}(X, \mathcal{A})$$

and is the category of pairs (\mathcal{P},β) where $\mathcal{P} \in \operatorname{Tors}(X,\mathcal{A})$ and $\beta : e^*\mathcal{P} \cong \mathcal{E}_{0,S}$ is a trivialization. A morphism of pointed torsors between $(\mathcal{P},\beta) \to (\mathcal{Q},\eta)$ is a morphism of \mathcal{A} -torsors $\mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$ inducing a commutative triangle

$$egin{array}{rcl} e^{*}\mathcal{P} &
ightarrow & e^{*}\mathcal{Q} \ & & & \swarrow & & & \ eta & \downarrow & \swarrow & & & \ \mathcal{E}_{0,S} & & & & \end{array}$$

The sum structure + on $\operatorname{Tors}_{e}(X, \mathcal{A})$ is defined by $(\mathcal{P}, \beta) + (\mathcal{Q}, \eta) \coloneqq (\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q}, \beta + \eta)$ using the canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{E}_{0,S} + \mathcal{E}_{0,S} \cong \mathcal{E}_{0,S}$.

Now suppose X = G is a group scheme over S with multiplication map μ : $G \times G \to G$ over S and $e: S \to G$ is the unit section. Let $\operatorname{pr}_i: G^n \to G$ be the projection to the *i*th co-ordinate, for $i = 1, \dots, n$. **Definition 2.38:** The strictly commutative Picard groupoid of multiplicative \mathcal{A} -torsors on G, or central extensions of G by \mathcal{A} is denoted by

$$\operatorname{CExt}(G, \mathcal{A})$$

and is defined to be the category of pairs (\mathcal{P}, β) where $\mathcal{P} \in \text{Tors}(\mathcal{A}, G)$ and

$$\beta: \mathrm{pr}_1^*\mathcal{P} + \mathrm{pr}_2^*\mathcal{P} \cong \mu^*\mathcal{P}$$

is an isomorphism. We refer to β as the **multiplicative structure** of the central extension \mathcal{P} . A morphism $(\mathcal{P}, \beta) \to (\mathcal{Q}, \eta)$ is defined to be a morphism $\mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$ in $\operatorname{Tors}(\mathcal{A}, G)$ inducing a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} pr_1^*\mathcal{P} + pr_2^*\mathcal{P} & \xrightarrow{\beta} & \mu^*\mathcal{P} \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ pr_1^*\mathcal{Q} + pr_2^*\mathcal{Q} & \xrightarrow{\eta} & \mu^*\mathcal{Q} \end{array}$$

of \mathcal{A} -torsors on $G \times G$. The sum of two central extensions is defined to be $(\mathcal{P}, \beta) + (\mathcal{Q}, \eta) \coloneqq (\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q}, \beta + \eta)$ where it is checked that $\beta + \eta$ defines a multiplicative structure on $\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q}$. According to [BD01, 1.5] a multiplicative structure of an \mathcal{A} -torsor on Ggives rise, by restriction to e, a canonical pointed structure with respect to e, i.e., there is a canonical forgetful map

$$\operatorname{CExt}(G, \mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Tors}_e(G, \mathcal{A}).$$

We call the image of a central extension (\mathcal{P}, β) of G by \mathcal{A} under this map to be the **underlying pointed** torsor, and similarly we call \mathcal{P} so for the **underlying** \mathcal{A} torsor.

Remark 2.30: The correspondence between central extensions of G by \mathcal{A} as groupvalues sheaves on S_{Zar} and multiplicative \mathcal{A} torsors on G is spelled out in [BD01, 1.4]. Let us now recall a theorem [AGV⁺73, tome 3, XVIII] that allows us to study small strictly commutative Picard categories using homological algebra:

Theorem 2.14: The category of small strictly commutative Picard categories, with morphisms Picard functors, is equivalent to $D^{[0,1]}(Ab)$, the derived category of chain complexes of abelian groups with cohomology supported in degrees 0 and 1. An equivalence is given by restriction of the following morphism

 $D(Ab) \rightarrow small strictly commutative Picard categories$

by $D^{[0,1]}(Ab) \to D(Ab)$. It associates a chain complex K^* a small strictly commutative Picard category $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ is defined as follows:

1. The objects of $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ are $Z(K^1)$; the 1-cycles.

2. For $a, b \in Z(K^1)$, a morphism $f : a \to b$ is an element $f \in K^0$ such that df = b - a, where d is the differential map of K^* .

3. The composition of morphisms in $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ is induced by the group structure on K^0 .

4. The addition bifunctor in $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ is induced by the addition structures on K^1 and in K^0 .

5. The associativity and symmetry constraints are trivial, induced by the abelian group identities of elements of K^1 and of K^0 .

Definition 2.39: Suppose C is a strictly commutative Picard category and $C = C(K^*)$ for a chain complex K^* as above. We say C is **presented** by K^* .

In particular, a quasi-isomorphism $K^* \stackrel{\text{quis}}{\cong} L^*$ between two chain complexes K^* and L^* induces an equivalence of categories $\mathcal{C}(K^*) \cong \mathcal{C}(L^*)$.

Definition 2.40: Suppose C is a small strictly commutative Picard category and K^* is a chain complex of abelian groups.

1. We say K^* incarnates C if there is a chain complex K^* and an equivalence of Picard categories $C \cong C(K^*)$.

2. The group of isomorphism classes of C is defined to be the set $\pi_0 C$ with group structure induced by the sum in C.

3. The automorphisms of the trivial object is denoted by $\pi_1 C$.

Hence by definition, of $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}(K^*)$, then $\pi_0 \mathcal{C} = \mathrm{H}^1(K^*)$ and $\pi_1 \mathcal{C} = \mathrm{H}^0(K^*)$. Observe that the 0s and 1s are switched. For all $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{C}$, the functor $(-) \otimes \mathcal{P}$ induces an isomorphism $\pi_1 \mathcal{C} \cong \mathrm{Aut}_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{P})$.

Remark 2.31: Given a chain complex incarnating $\text{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$, it is described in [BD01, 1.9] how to obtain another chain complex incarnating $\text{Tors}_e(X, \mathcal{A})$ and $\text{CExt}(G, \mathcal{A})$ when X = G.

Let us now study the notion of descent of a strictly commutative Picard category by action of a group and connections with group cohomology.

Definition 2.41: Suppose C is a category and Γ a group. A right Γ -action on C is an anti-homomorphism of monoids

$$\Gamma \to \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{C})$$

$$\gamma \mapsto \gamma^*$$

So in for example, $e^* = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{C}}$ and $(\gamma \delta)^* = \delta^* \circ \gamma^*$ for $\gamma, \delta \in \Gamma$ and the identity $e \in \Gamma$.

Remark 2.32: Usually the requirement is not that $(\gamma \delta)^* = \delta^* \circ \gamma^*$ holds as a strict equality, but instead one asks for a system of natural isomorphisms of functors $(\gamma \delta)^* \cong$ $\delta^* \circ \gamma^*$ for $\gamma, \delta \in \Gamma$ satisfying some compatibility constraints. However, for our applications we are only concerned with categories of the form $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ for some chain complex K^* of Γ -modules and the Γ -action on \mathcal{C} is inherited from the Γ action on K^* . For such Γ -actions, the identification $(\gamma \delta)^* = \delta^* \circ \gamma^*$ is a strict equality.

Example 2.5: 1. Suppose $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(X)$. The category $\operatorname{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$ has a right Γ -action by $\gamma \mapsto \gamma^*$ where γ^* is the usual pullback of torsors by γ .

2. If $e \in X$ is a distinguished S-point and Γ preserves e, i.e., $\gamma \circ e = e$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then Γ acts canonically on $\operatorname{Tors}_e(X, \mathcal{A})$ by pullback of torsors and the trivialization at e.

3. If X = G is a group scheme over S with unit e and Γ acts on G by group automorphisms, then Γ acts canonically on $CExt(G, \mathcal{A})$ by pullback of torsors and the multiplicative structure.

Suppose \mathcal{C} is a category equipped with a right action of Γ .

Definition 2.42: The category C^{Γ} of Γ -descent datum, or homotopy fixed points, is the category of pairs

$$(\mathcal{P}, \{f_{\gamma, \mathcal{P}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma})$$

where $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{C}$ and $\{f_{\gamma,\mathcal{P}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$, called the **descent datum** for \mathcal{P} , is a family of isomorphisms

$$f_{\gamma,\mathcal{P}}: \mathcal{P} \xrightarrow{\cong} \gamma^* \mathcal{P}$$

that satisfy the cocycle condition: For all $\gamma, \delta \in \Gamma$ and $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{C}$,

$$f_{\gamma\delta,\mathcal{P}} = \delta^* f_{\gamma,\mathcal{P}} \circ f_{\delta,\mathcal{P}}$$

as maps

$$\mathcal{P} \stackrel{f_{\delta,\mathcal{P}}}{\to} \delta^* \mathcal{P} \stackrel{\delta^* f_{\gamma,\mathcal{P}}}{\to} \delta^* \gamma^* \mathcal{P} = (\gamma \delta)^* \mathcal{P}.$$

A morphism $(\mathcal{P}, \{f_{\gamma, \mathcal{P}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}) \to (\mathcal{Q}, \{g_{\gamma, \mathcal{Q}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma})$ is a morphism $\mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$ inducing a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{P} & \stackrel{j_{\gamma}}{\to} & \gamma^* \mathcal{P} \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mathcal{Q} & \stackrel{g_{\gamma}}{\to} & \gamma^* \mathcal{Q} \end{array}$$

for each $\gamma \in \Gamma$.

Remark 2.33: If C is a strictly commutative Picard category with $sum + and \Gamma$ acts on C by Picard functors, then C^{Γ} is also a strictly commutative Picard category with sum

$$(\mathcal{P}, \{f_{\gamma, \mathcal{P}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}) + (\mathcal{Q}, \{g_{\gamma, \mathcal{Q}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}) = (\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q}, \{f_{\gamma, \mathcal{P}} + g_{\gamma, \mathcal{Q}}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma})$$

where it is observed that $\{f_{\gamma,\mathcal{P}} + g_{\gamma,\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}$ is a descent datum for $\mathcal{P} + \mathcal{Q}$.

Example 2.6: Suppose $S = \operatorname{Spec} F$ is a field and E/F is a field extension and $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(E/F)$. For \mathcal{C} being either of $\operatorname{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$, $\operatorname{Tors}_e(X, \mathcal{A})$, or $\operatorname{CExt}(G, \mathcal{A})$. Then Γ acts on \mathcal{C} by pullback by Picard functors and \mathcal{C}^{Γ} is the usual category of descent datum over E.

Suppose Γ is a group and $K^* \in D(\text{mod} - \Gamma)$, where $\text{mod} - \Gamma$ is the category of right Γ -modules. Then $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ has a canonical right Γ -action induced by the action of Γ on K^* .

The following theorem [BD01, 1.9.(2)] was stated and proved for the special case of a chain complex K^* incarnating $\text{Tors}(X, \mathcal{A})$. However, the same proof goes forward for general K^* . We present it below for completeness.

Theorem 2.15: The category of descent data $\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma}$ is incarnated by the total Hom complex RHom^{**}($\mathbb{Z}[0], K$) $\in D(Ab)$ where $\mathbb{Z}[0]$ is the complex concentrated in degree 0 with term \mathbb{Z} equipped with the trivial Γ -action. To be precise, there is a canonical equivalence of Picard categories

$$\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma} \cong \mathcal{C}(R\mathrm{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K)).$$

In particular, $\pi_1 \mathcal{C}(K^*) \cong \mathbb{H}^0(\Gamma, K^*)$ and $\pi_0 \mathcal{C}(K^*) \cong \mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma, K^*)$ where $\mathbb{H}^i(\Gamma, -)$ are the *i*th hypercohomology groups.

PROOF: Let us compute $\mathcal{C}(R\text{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ and see that it is canonically equivalent to $\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma}$. Let $\mathbb{BZ}_* \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the bar resolution as Γ -modules and apply the derived functor $\mathrm{RHom}(-, K^*) : \mathrm{D}(\mathrm{mod} - \Gamma) \to \mathrm{D}(\mathrm{Ab})$ to \mathbb{BZ}_* . We obtain the total complex of the double complex $\mathrm{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{BZ}, K) = \{C^q(\Gamma, K^p)\}_{pq}$ where $C^q(\Gamma, -)$ is the group homology q-cochains. The first few terms of $\operatorname{Hom}^{**}(B\mathbb{Z}, K)$ are

Unraveling the definitions, $\mathcal{C}(R\text{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ is defined to be the category of pairs $(\{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}, E)$ where $E \in K^1$ and $\{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma} \in C^1(\Gamma, K^0)$ such that:

1. $d_h^{10}(E) = 0 \Leftrightarrow E \in Z^1(L)$: this is the condition precisely that E is an object of $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$.

2. $d_h^{01}({f_\gamma}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}) - d_v^{10}(E) = 0$ where $d_h^{01}({f_\gamma}_{\gamma\in\Gamma})$ is the 1-cocycle $\gamma \mapsto d_h^{00}(f_\gamma)$ and $d_v^{10}(E)$ is the 1-cocycle $\gamma \mapsto \gamma^* E - E$. This condition is precisely that for $\gamma \in \Gamma$, f_γ is an arrow $E \to \gamma^* E$.

3. $d_v^{01}({f_\gamma}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}) = 0$ where $d_v^{01}({f_\gamma}_{\gamma\in\Gamma})$ is the 2-cocycle

$$(\gamma, \delta) \mapsto \delta^* f_\gamma - f_{\gamma\delta} + f_\delta.$$

Given part (2) above, this is precisely the condition that $f_{\gamma\delta}: E \to (\gamma\delta)^* E = \delta^* \gamma^* E$ is equal to the composition

$$E \xrightarrow{f_{\delta}} \delta^* E \xrightarrow{\delta^* f_{\gamma}} \delta^* \gamma^* E.$$

This defines an association between objects of $\mathcal{C}(R\text{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ and objects of $\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma}$.

Let us define the association between morphisms. A morphism in $\mathcal{C}(R\mathrm{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ between $(\{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}, E)$ and $(\{g_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}, F)$ is by definition an element $a \in K^0$ such that $d_h^{00}a = F - E$ and $d_v^{00}a = \{g_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma} - \{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}$ where $d_v^{00}a$ is the 1 cocycle $\gamma \mapsto \gamma^*a - a$. The first condition is that a is a morphism $E \to F$ in $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$. The second condition is precisely that for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, the square commutes

$$E \xrightarrow{a} F$$

$$f_{\gamma} \downarrow \qquad g_{\gamma} \downarrow$$

$$\gamma^{*}E \xrightarrow{\gamma^{*}a} \gamma^{*}F$$

This is the condition that the map a in $\mathcal{C}(K^*)$ respects the descent datum for Eand F. This defines the association between morphisms of $\mathcal{C}(R\text{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ and morphisms of $\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma}$.

Finally, the sum stricture on $\mathcal{C}(R\text{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{Z}[0], K))$ comes from that in $K^1 \oplus C^1(\Gamma, K^0)$ and thus coincides with that of $\mathcal{C}(K^*)^{\Gamma}$. The result follows.

Definition 2.43: The neutral component of a Picard groupoid C, denoted C^0 , is defined to be the full subcategory of objects isomorphic to the unit.

Suppose C is a strictly commutative Picard category with sum +. Suppose Γ is a group acting on C on the right by Picard functors. There is a canonical induced action of Γ on $\pi_0 C$ and $\pi_1 C$ and the action of Γ on C restricts to an action on C^0 .

Lemma 2.24: 1. The forgetful map $\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{C}$ induces a group homomorphism $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma}$.

2. There is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{0,\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to Q \to 0$$

where $\mathcal{C}^{0,\Gamma} := (\mathcal{C}^0)^{\Gamma}$ and Q is the image of $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma}$.

PROOF: For all $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{C}$ under the image of the forgetful map $\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{C}$, we have for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$, there exists an isomorphism $\mathcal{P} \cong \gamma^* \mathcal{P}$. Therefore the class $[\mathcal{P}] \in \pi_0 \mathcal{C}$ is Γ -invariant. This proves 1.

The kernel of $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma}$ consists of classes of pairs $(\mathcal{P}, \{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma})$ such that [P] = 0 in $\pi_0(\mathcal{C})$, i.e., such that $(\mathcal{P}, \{f_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}) \in (\mathcal{C}^0)^{\Gamma}$. This shows 2.

Suppose $C = C(K^*)$ for some chain complex K^* equipped with a right Γ -action. We obtain the following homological algebra interpretation of the above lemma and generalization of [BD01, 2.4]:

Theorem 2.16: Suppose $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}(K^*)$ is presented by a chain complex $K^* \in D^{[0,1]}(\text{mod} - \Gamma)$ where K^* as no nonzero negative degree terms. Equip \mathcal{C} with the right Γ -action induced by the action of Γ on K^* . Let Q be the image of the induced map $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C})^{\Gamma}$. Then:

1. In the derived category, K^* fits into a distinguished triangle

$$\pi_1 \mathcal{C}[0] \to K^* \to \pi_0 \mathcal{C}[-1] \to .$$

where for an abelian group A we mean by A[n] the complex concentrated in degree n with term A.

2. The short exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{0,\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to Q \to 0$$

is canonically identified as a truncation of a long exact sequence of hypercohomology of the distinguished triangle of (1), and Q is isomorphic to the kernel of a connecting morphism in a long exact sequence.

PROOF: 1. Since K^* is concentrated in nonnegative degrees, there is an injection of chain complexes

$$\iota: Z(K^0)[0] \hookrightarrow K^*$$

where $Z(K^0) = H^0(K^*) = \pi_1 \mathcal{C}$ is the group of 0-cycles of K^* . Taking the mapping cone $C(\iota)$ of the above morphism, we obtain a distinguished triangle

$$\pi_1 \mathcal{C}[0] \to K^* \to C(\iota) \to$$

The long exact sequence of cohomology groups gives $C(\iota) \stackrel{\text{quis}}{\cong} \pi_0 \mathcal{C}[-1].$

2. Apply the characterization 2.15 and take the long exact sequence $\mathbb{H}^*(\Gamma, -)$ of hypercohomology groups on the distinguished triangle $\pi_1 \mathcal{C}[0] \to K^* \to \pi_0 \mathcal{C}[-1] \to$. Since $\mathbb{H}^0(\Gamma, \mathcal{C}(\iota)) = 0$, we obtain

$$(\pi_1 \mathcal{C})^{\Gamma} = \mathbb{H}^0(\Gamma, K^*) \cong \pi_1(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma})$$

and an exact sequence of abelian groups

$$0 \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma, \pi_1 \mathcal{C}) \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma, K^*) \cong \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma}) \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Gamma, \pi_0 \mathcal{C}[-1])] \cong (\pi_0 \mathcal{C})^{\Gamma} \xrightarrow{\partial}$$

where ∂ is the connecting morphism

$$\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Gamma, \pi_{0}\mathcal{C}[-1])] \xrightarrow{\partial} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\Gamma, \pi_{1}\mathcal{C}).$$

The definition of the map $\pi_1 \mathcal{C}[0] \to K^*$ as inclusions of automorphisms of the zero element identifies $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{0,\Gamma}) \cong \mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma, \pi_1 \mathcal{C})$ and identifies the first map with the injection $\pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{0,\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\mathcal{C}^{\Gamma})$. It follows that Q is identified as the kernel of ∂ .

2.3.2 Applications to Central Extensions of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$

Let F be a field and \mathcal{T} be a torus over F. Let E/F be a Galois extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split. We now apply the results of the previous subsection to make explicit computations about $\operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$. We adopt the convention that actions on schemes are left actions, and actions on rings are right actions. For example for $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(E/F)$ acting on E, we use the right action $a.\gamma \coloneqq \gamma^{-1}(a)$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $a \in E$. For an affine scheme $Z = \operatorname{Spec} A$, write $K_i(Z) \coloneqq K_i(A)$. Let $Y = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$ be the (absolute) cocharacter lattice and $X = \operatorname{Hom}_E(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbb{G}_{m,E})$ be the (absolute) character lattice, and consider $X \subseteq \Gamma(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}_E})$. Hence $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}_E} = E[X]$ as a ring.

We have the following explicit description of $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \mathbf{K}_{i,E})$ for i = 0, 1, 2, given by combining [BD01, 3.3.1] with the fundamental theorems in [Wei13, 6.3] relating $K_{i}(R)$ with $K_{i}(R[t^{\pm 1}])$ for all i for a regular noetherian ring: Lemma 2.25: We have:

0. The map $E \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}_E} \cong E[X]$ induces an isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{0,E}) = K_{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}) = \mathbb{Z}.$$

1. The inclusion $X \otimes E^{\times} \hookrightarrow E[X]^{\times} \hookrightarrow K_1(\mathcal{T}_E)$ is an isomorphism, hence

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{1,E}) = K_{1}(\mathcal{T}_{E}) = X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}.$$

2. Let $\{-\} : R^{\times} \otimes R^{\times} \to K_2(R)$ the Steinberg symbol map $a \otimes b \mapsto \{a, b\}$. Then we have

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \boldsymbol{K}_{2, E}) = K_{2}(\mathcal{T}_{E}) = K_{2}E \oplus \langle \{X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}\}, \{X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X\} \rangle$$

where $\{-\}$ restricts to an injection $X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times} \to K_2(\mathcal{T}_2)$ and the only further relations are $\{x, x\} = \{x, -1\}$ for all $x \in X$.

Remark 2.34: In particular, a morphism $\mathcal{T}_E \to K_{i,E}$ is completely determined by its composition with the natural map $K_{i,E} \to \mathbf{K}_{i,E}$.

Example 2.7: Recall the notion of a normalized morphism $\mathcal{T}_E^i \to \mathcal{K}_{2,E}$ from 2.23. We have for all $i \geq 0$, and explicit description of the normalized global sections

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}^{i},\boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}} = \langle \{X^{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}\}, \{X^{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X^{i}\} \rangle \subseteq \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E},K_{2,E})$$

where $\langle \{X^i \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}\}, \{X^i \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X^i\} \rangle$ is the subgroup given by replacing \mathcal{T} with \mathcal{T}^i in 2.25.

We have the following theorem about incarnating the category $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ from [BD01, sec. 3]:

Theorem 2.17: 1. $\operatorname{H}^{i}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \mathbf{K}_{j,E}) = 0$ for i > 0 and $j \geq 0$. Consequently by [BD01, 1.9.(i)] every $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ has underlying trivial $\mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ -torsor.

2. Combined with [BD01, 1.9.vii], the category $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ is incarnated by the normalized global sections complex

$$D^* \coloneqq \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E^*, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,F})[-1] = K_2(\mathcal{T}_E^*)^{\mathrm{norm}}[-1]$$

(we use [-1] to denote the left shift) and the differentials are obtained as follows. Consider the simplicial scheme

$$\mathcal{BT}_E := \{ \cdots \mathcal{T}_E^3 \xrightarrow[]{\rightarrow}]{} \mathcal{T}_E^2 \xrightarrow[]{\rightarrow}]{} \mathcal{T}_E \to e \}$$

with face maps ∂_i . Then apply the functor $\mathrm{H}^0(-, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})[-1]$ and take the alternating sum $\sum_i (-1)^i \partial_i$ of the face maps. Explicitly, for p = 1, the differential is

$$pr_1^* - \mu^* + pr_2^* : K_2(\mathcal{T}_E)^{\text{norm}} \to K_2(\mathcal{T}_E^2)^{\text{norm}}$$
$$f \mapsto \{(x, y) \mapsto f(x) - f(xy) + f(y)\}.$$

Furthermore, the incarnation is Γ -equivariant, i.e., there exists a Γ -equivariant equivalence of categories $\operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E}) \cong \mathcal{C}(D^*)$.

3. We have canonically

$$\pi_1 \operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E}) \cong X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times}$$

by the canonical association between the automorphism group of the trivial torsor with the global sections $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ and the inclusion $\{-\} : X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times} \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathcal{T}_{E}, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ from 2.25.

The isomorphism classes of $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})$ are given by

$$\pi_0 \operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E}) \cong \operatorname{Sym}^2 X$$

classified by the commutator $\mathcal{T}_E \to \mathbf{K}_{2,E}$ as in 2.3.

We now apply the results of 2.16 to compute $\pi_0 \text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$ and the generic cocycle $\mathcal{T}^2 \to \mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. Let D^* be the normalized global sections complex from 2.17. For each $i \geq 0$, the neutral point $e \in \mathcal{T}_E^i(E)$ is Γ -invariant for the diagonal action. Consequently Γ acts by pullback on $D^i = \text{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E^i, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\text{norm}} = K_2(\mathcal{T}_E^i)^{\text{norm}}$ and also on $\mathcal{C}(D^*)$. **Remark 2.35:** As Γ -chain complexes, D^* is isomorphic to $\mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E^{i+1}, K_{2,E})/K_2(E)$.

Let \mathcal{E} be a central extension of a group G over F by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$. The base change \mathcal{E}_E inherits a canonical descent data from $p^*\mathcal{E}$ that we denote $\{f_{\operatorname{can},\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}$. By [BD01, sec. 7], for any reductive group G over F, $\operatorname{CExt}(G, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$ satisfies Galois descent, i.e., the base change functor

$$\operatorname{CExt}(G, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,F}) \to \operatorname{CExt}(G_E, \boldsymbol{K}_{2,E})^{\Gamma}$$
$$(\mathcal{E}, \beta) \mapsto (\mathcal{E}_E, \beta_E, \{f_{\operatorname{can}, \gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma})$$

is an equivalence of Picard categories. We have a proof of the first main theorem:

PROOF: [of 2.11] Apply the theorem 2.16 to the normalized global sections chain complex D^* . Use $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F}) \cong \text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\Gamma}$ together with $\mathcal{C}(D^*) \cong \text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ and obtain the precise short exact sequence as required, where $Q = \text{AdmSym}^2 X$ is the kernel of the connecting morphism. The descriptions of ι and ρ come from the categorical interpretations in 2.16 of Q as the image of

$$\pi_0(\operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\Gamma}) \to \pi_0(\operatorname{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E}))^{\Gamma} = (\operatorname{Sym}^2 X)^{\Gamma}$$

and $\mathrm{H}^1(\Gamma, X \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} E^{\times})$ as the kernel.

Let us now move to computing the generic cocycle for a central extension \mathcal{E} of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$:

PROOF: [of 2.13] Let D^* be the complex of normalized co-chains incarnating $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ from 2.17. Let D^*_{gen} be the complex obtained by restricting each term D^i to the generic point and then taking mod $K_2(E)$, i.e.,

$$D_{\text{gen}}^i = K_2 L(\mathcal{T}_E^{i+1}) / K_2 E.$$

According to [BD01, 8.6], the restriction map $D^* \to D^*_{\text{gen}}$ is a quasi-isomorphism.

Now consider $D^* \to D_{\text{gen}}^*$ as a morphism of complex of right Γ -modules, and apply the functor $\operatorname{RHom}(\mathbb{BZ}_*, -)$ to $D^* \to D_{\text{gen}}^*$. Let E_r^{pq} be the spectral sequence for the double complex $\operatorname{Hom}^{**}(\mathbb{BZ}, D_{\text{gen}})$ associated to the column filtration. The zero page E_0^{pq} is

where $d_h^{00} = pr_1^* - \mu^* + pr_2^*$. Using $H^1(\Gamma, K_2 E(\mathcal{T}_E^i)/K_2 E) = 0$ for all $i \ge 0$ of 2.12, taking vertical cohomology gives the first page E_1^{pq} :

We see E_1^{pq} already achieves the limit of E_r^{pq} . Hence by [BD01, cor. 8.8] the category $\text{CExt}(\mathcal{T}, \mathbf{K}_{2,F})$ is incarnated by the bottom row which is also $D_{\text{gen}}^{\Gamma,*}$, the sub-complex of Γ invariant elements of D_{gen}^* .

Let \mathcal{E} be a central extension of \mathcal{T} by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ and \mathcal{E}_E the base change. Let $c \in$ $\mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E^2, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}}$ be a cocycle for $\mathcal{E}_E \in \mathrm{CExt}(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})$ and $\{f_\gamma\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \in C^1(\Gamma, \mathrm{H}^0(\mathcal{T}_E, \mathbf{K}_{2,E})^{\mathrm{norm}})$ be a 1-cochain that defines the descent datum for \mathcal{E}_E . Let $\{g_\gamma\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ be the image of the restriction of $\{f_\gamma\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ to η in $C^1(\Gamma, K_2 E(\mathcal{T}_E)/K_2 E)$ and d be the image of the restriction of $c|_{\eta^2}$ in $K_2 L(\mathcal{T}_E^2)/K_2 E$. Hence the pair $(\{g_\gamma\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}, d)$ lies in the first antidiagonal of E_0^{pq} maps to 0 in $C^1(\Gamma, K_2 E(\mathcal{T}_E^2)/K_2 E)$. Let $n \in K_2 L(\mathcal{T}_E)/K_2 E$ be be such that $\mathrm{d}_v^{00}(n) = \{g_\gamma\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$. Commutativity of the bottom left square of E_0^{pq} ensures that the element

$$d - d_h^{00}(n) = d - (\mathrm{pr}_1^* - \mu^* + \mathrm{pr}_2^*)(n) \in K_2 L(\mathcal{T}_E^2) / K_2 E$$

also maps to 0 in $C^1(\Gamma, K_2 E(\mathcal{T}_E^2)/K_2 E)$ and thus lies in $(K_2 L(\mathcal{T}_E^2)/K_2 E)^{\Gamma}$, i.e.,

 $d-(\mathrm{pr}_1^*-\mu^*+\mathrm{pr}_2^*)(n)$ i Γ -invariant. Applying the horizontal differential kills the $\mathrm{d}_h^{00}(n)$ term and shows $d-\mathrm{d}_h^{00}(n)$ also satisfies the cocycle condition. The statement of convergence $E_r^{pq} \Rightarrow \operatorname{RHom}(\mathrm{BZ}_*, D_{\mathrm{gen}}^*)$ gives that the natural map $D_{\mathrm{gen}}^* \to \operatorname{RHom}(\mathrm{BZ}_*, D_{\mathrm{gen}}^*)$ is a quasi-isomorphism, and shows $d-\mathrm{d}_h^{00}(n)$ is the generic cocycle for \mathcal{E} .

Chapter 3

From Conjugacy Classes in the Weyl Group to Geometric Constructions of the Affine ADE Basic Representation

3.1 The Split Geometric FKS Isomorphism and Statement of Main Results

Let us motivate the problem and state the results. First let us recall the classical (split) FKS isomorphism and its geometric realization in terms of vertex algebras. Vertex algebras and (twisted modules) for vertex algebras never appear mathematically in the mathematics of our work, sine we replace them with representations of Heisenberg central extensions, but it helps to mention them for illustration and motivation.

Let G be a simple algebraic group over \mathbb{C} with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , equipped with the normalized invariant bilinear form B. Let $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ be the affine Lie algebra associated to \mathfrak{g} , e.g., as defined in [Zhu09, 0.1]. It is an infinite dimensional Lie algebra, given as a one dimensional central extension of the loop algebra $\mathfrak{g}[t^{\pm 1}]$ of \mathfrak{g} . There is a distinguished representation, called the basic representation, V^1 of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ that is the study of the representation theoretic literature [FK81, Seg81, Lep85]. It is the quotient of a Verma module V_1 of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$. The space V_1 has the structure of a vertex algebra, constructed in [FBZ04, 1.3] such that V^1 is a quotient vertex algebra. The motivation to study the vertex algebra structure is that there is a natural equivalence of categories between vertex algebra modules for V_1 and Lie algebra representations of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ [FBZ04, 5.6].

The classical FKS isomorphism of [FK81, Seg81] is the determination of the vertex algebra structure of V^1 when \mathfrak{g} is simply laced, i.e., type ADE, in terms of a simpler vertex algebra that can be described explicitly. It is as follows. Assume G is simply connected and $T \subseteq G$ is a maximal torus. Let $Y = \mathbb{X}_*(T)$ be the cocharacter lattice, equal to the coroot lattice and $\mathfrak{t} = \text{Lie}T$. Let $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}$ be the restriction of the central extension $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ to $\mathfrak{t}[t^{\pm 1}] \subseteq \mathfrak{g}[t^{\pm 1}]$. Then $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}$ has a unique level 1 representation π_{λ} for each $\lambda \in \mathfrak{t}^{\vee}$, called the Fock space with highest weight λ for \mathfrak{t} . The restriction of Bto Y is an even nondegenerate integer valued bilinear form inducing an embedding $B: Y \hookrightarrow Y^{\vee} = \mathbb{X}_*(T)$ and associated to the data $(B, Y, \hat{\mathfrak{h}})$ is a vertex algebra V_Y called the Lattice vertex algebra, with underlying $\hat{\mathfrak{h}}$ module

$$V_Y = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y} \pi_{B(\lambda)}.$$

The vertex algebra structure on V_Y is known and explicitly described in [FBZ04, 5.4]. The classical FKS isomorphism is:

Theorem 3.1: [FK81, Seg81] When \mathfrak{g} is type ADE, there exists an isomorphism of vertex algebras

$$V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}) \cong V_Y.$$

This isomorphism $V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}) \cong V_Y$ was defined Lie-theoretically. However, it has been geometrically realized in [Zhu09] as a restriction problem about line bundles on an infinite dimensional variety. It is as follows. On one hand, there is a Borel-Weil type theorem for Kac-Moody groups [Kum02, 8.3.12] which states there is a certain line bundle \mathcal{L} on the affine Grassmannian Gr_G and an isomorphism of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ modules

$$V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}) \cong \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L})^{\vee}.$$

It is an affine analogue for the finite type Borel-Weil theorem replacing $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ with a finite dimensional reductive Lie algebra and \mathcal{L} with a line bundle on the finite dimensional flag variety. On the other hand, the space $\operatorname{Gr}_T \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$ is zero dimensional, non reduced, with connected components in bijection with Y, and all connected components isomorphic. The dual ring of regular functions of the component corresponding to λ is naturally identified with $\pi_{B(\lambda)}$, giving rise to an identification

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}|_{\operatorname{Gr}_T})^{\vee} \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y} \pi_{B(\lambda)}$$

which has the same shape of the lattice vertex algebra V_Y . Indeed a vertex algebra structure on $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}|_{\operatorname{Gr}_T})^{\vee}$ and on $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L})^{\vee}$ was constructed geometrically in [Zhu09] using Beilinson and Drinfeld's correspondence between vertex algebras and chiral algebras, which are algebro-geometric objects. The geometric FKS isomorphism theorem is thus:

Theorem 3.2: [Zhu09] For G of type ADE, the natural restriction induces an isomorphism

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}|_{\operatorname{Gr}_T})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L})^{\vee}.$$

Our goal here is to prove a geometric realization of a twisted version of the FKS isomorphism in [KP85] that generalizes the classical FKS isomorphism. The twisted FKS isomorphism is as follows.

Instead of ordinary modules for vertex algebras, we consider twisted modules. Let $w \in W$ be a Weyl group element, acting on Y, giving rise to an automorphism of V_Y . A certain twisted module, M(w) is defined for V_Y whose underlying vector space is described [Lep85] as follows. The map B induces an injection of the quotient of by torsion of the coinvariants $Y_{w,\text{cotor}} \hookrightarrow Y_{w,\text{cotor}} \otimes \mathbb{C} = \mathfrak{t}^w \stackrel{B}{\hookrightarrow} \mathfrak{t}^{w,\vee}$. Then

$$M(w) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y_{w, \text{cotor}}} \pi(w)_{B(\lambda)} \otimes U$$

where $\pi(w)_{B(\lambda)}$ is a twisted version of the Fock space and the unique irreducible module for a twisted version $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}(w)$ of $\hat{\mathfrak{t}}$ containing \mathfrak{t}^w , such that \mathfrak{t}^w acts by $B(\lambda)$. Furthermore, U is finite dimensional and a representation for a finite group $\hat{\Sigma}$ that is a central extension of the torsion subgroup $\Sigma = Y_{w,\text{tor}}$ by some roots of unity. The twisted module structure on M(w) for V_Y is explicitly described in [KP85]. Remark that such a decomposition is similar to the decomposition of representations of a Heisenberg central extension we proved in 2.2.6.

On the other hand, a lift σ of w acting on \mathfrak{g} is chosen and used to defined a twisted module structure on $V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ for the vertex algebra V_Y . The twisted FKS isomorphism theorem is:

Theorem 3.3: When G is type ADE, there is an isomorphism of twisted modules for V_Y :

$$M(w) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y_{w, \text{cotor}}} \pi(w)_{B(\lambda)} \otimes U \cong V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}).$$

Our primary project is to realize the twisted FKS isomorphism as another restriction problem of sections of the line bundle \mathcal{L} on Gr_G . To be precise, for any lift σ of w in G_{ad} , we define a subspace space $\mathcal{S}(\sigma) \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$ that is a replacement for Gr_T in the classical FKS isomorphism, such that:

Theorem 3.4: Suppose G is type ADE. The restriction induces an isomorphism

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}.$$

The space $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee}$ is identified with M(w) in the following sense. The space $S(\sigma)$ has connected components in bijection with $Y_{w,\text{cotor}}$ and all components are isomorphic. Each component has underlying reduced locus a finite dimensional flag variety of a connected reductive group, namely the fixed points M^{σ} where $M = Z_G(T^{w,0})$ is the centralizer of the connected component of the torus fixed points. The space U is identified

$$U = \Gamma(S(\sigma)^0_{\mathrm{red}}, \mathcal{L}|_{S(\sigma)^0_{\mathrm{red}}})^{\vee}$$

having an action of both the finite group $\hat{\Sigma}$ and the algebraic group M^{σ} , in fact is a minuscule representation for M^{σ} . Finally, the nilpotent thickenings of $S(\sigma)^{0}_{\text{red}}$ in $S(\sigma)^{0}$ is controlled by an infinitesimal thickening of a single point whose dual regular functions is identified with $\pi(w)_{B(\lambda)}$. This gives an identification $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong$ $\bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y_{w,\text{cotor}}} \pi(w)_{B(\lambda)} \otimes U$. To do this, we also find a maximal torus $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_{F}$ such that both $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ and $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee}$ is also a representation for a Heisenberg central extension \hat{LT} of LT. We then study the map $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ using the representation theory of Heisenberg central extensions we developed 2.2.6. In this way, we replaced the use of twisted modules for V_Y with representations of \hat{LT} .

Some notable features of our study are:

- 1. We only show $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \hookrightarrow \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ is injective in general for all $w \in W$ and all types for G, but use preexisting representation theoretic results in [KP85] that $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ is irreducible for \hat{LT} in type ADE to deduce the isomorphism. Nonetheless, it demonstrates correct identification of the subspace $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ is given, where previously it was not known what suitable subspace is for a restriction problem in the twisted case, only that the affine Springer fibers were proposed [Zhu09].
- 2. But a fully geometric proof of $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ is given for many $w \in W$ without the representation theoretic results of [KP85]. These $w \in W$ are precisely the homogeneous elements, defined in 3.7, and do occupy many of the elements, including all of the elements in type A and more generally whenever w lies in a parabolic subgroup of type A.
- 3. A conditional proof of $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ in the remaining cases is given, on a precise numerical computation regarding the closure \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} over $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ of a certain maximal torus $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ associated to w and a lift σ of w, namely that the number of torsion elements of $\pi_0 \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ equals the defect d([w]), a quantity also introduced explicitly in [KP85, 10.1] and recalled in 2.34, that depends only on the action of w on Y and on B. Computer assisted computations have shown it to be true in type D_6 , D_8 , but they are omitted from this thesis and we leave this computation as an open problem.
- 4. The subspace $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ contains $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$. Conditional on the above computation, we show that $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}|_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{G}})^{\vee}$ which gives another candidate sub-

space the geometric twisted FKS isomorphism, and in fact a more elegant formulation: for every conjugacy class of maximal tori in G_F , there exists a representative \mathcal{T} such that the inclusion of the image of $L\mathcal{T}$ in Gr_G induces an isomorphism on global sections of \mathcal{L} .

5. As an auxiliary result, a new, geometric, proof of the classification of the conjugacy classes of W by parabolic induction is given, where before in [GP00] it was done using combinatorial methods and Coxeter theory when W is generalized to any finite Coxeter group.

3.2 Closure of Maximal Tori in G_F Over $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$

For an element σ of a group, we say σ is order m if $\sigma^m = 1$ and do not require m to be minimal. The minimal order of σ is denoted $|\sigma|$. The image of $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ under the map $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ will be denoted \overline{i} . For a group G, let G_{ad} denote the adjoint group of G, defined to be the image of G under the adjoint morphism $G \to \operatorname{Aut}_k(G)$ or G/Z(G). For any subgroup $H \subseteq G$ where G is unambiguously present, we denote by H_{ad} the image of H in G_{ad} and not the adjoint group of H.

3.2.1 Parahoric Group Schemes and Affine Flag Varieties

Let us recall some notions, introduce the relevant examples, and prove some basic lemmas regarding parahoric subgroups, parahoric group schemes. Let H be a connected reductive group over $F = \mathbb{C}[[t]]$ and put $k = \mathbb{C}$. By a **parahoric subgroup** of H(F), we mean in the sense of [Yu15, 7.1], i.e., the connected component of the stabilizer of a facet in the Bruhat-Tits building $B(H_{ad}(K))$ of the adjoint group. There is a metric on H(F) and Parahoric subgroups are all bounded. In a similar fashion to the theory of parabolic subgroups in a reductive group over k, every parahoric subgroup is H(K)-conjugate **standard parahoric subgroup** defined by the choice of an alcove in $B(H_{ad}(K))$. Each standard parahoric subgroup is associated a strict subset of the affine Dynkin diagram I_{aff} of G in an inclusion preserving manner. A minimal parahoric subgroup is called an **Iwahori subgroup**, which is the affine analogue of the Borel subgroup of a reductive group over k. Each standard parahoric subgroup strictly containing the standard Iwahori subgroup is associated to a subset $S \subseteq I_{\text{aff}}$ is generated by the parahoric subgroups associated to a collection \mathcal{V} of subsets of I_{aff} that union to S. In particular, there is a finite set of minimal standard parahoric subgroups that strictly contain the standard Iwahori subgroup. Each is generated by the standard Iwahori subgroup and a standard **affine root subgroup**.

Definition 3.1: Let \mathcal{P} be an affine group scheme over \mathcal{O}_F with connected generic fiber. The **neutral component** of \mathcal{P} is the open subgroup scheme consisting of the generic fiber and the neutral component of the special fiber.

We do not use the details of Bruhat-Tits theory, and are only concerned with one particular example of parahoric subgroups explicitly described below. Suppose G is connected reductive over k with base change G_F and σ is an automorphism of G of order m. Let E/F be the degree m extension with $E = k((u)), u^m = t$. Let $\nu \in \Gamma \coloneqq \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be a choice of generator and ζ a primitive mth root of unity such that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$. Put $\mathcal{O}_E = k[[u]]$ so Γ preserves \mathcal{O}_E . Set

$$H = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(G \times E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}.$$

Then H is a reductive group over F obtained by Galois descent on the group G_E over E with $\nu \in \Gamma$ acting by $\sigma \times \nu^{-1}$. Then as in the argument of [PR08, 7.a] combined with the main results [PY02] that follow through for an arbitrary $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}_k(G)$, the neutral component of the group

$$(G \times \mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} (\mathcal{O}_E) \subseteq (G \times E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} (E) = H(F)$$

is a parahoric subgroup of H(F). For us, we are primarily concerned with the case when $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ is an inner automorphism.

Let us prove a basic lemma that when the derived subgroup G' = [G, G] is simply connected, and σ is inner, we do not need to take the connected component. **Lemma 3.1:** Suppose G' is simply connected and σ is inner. Then the \mathcal{O}_F points of the \mathcal{O}_F -group scheme

$$\mathcal{P} \coloneqq \operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F}(G \times \mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$$

is connected.

PROOF: First we claim G^{σ} is connected. Let $H = Z(G)^0$ be the connected component of the center so G = HG' where H is a torus and G' is simply connected. Let $h \in H, g \in G'$ and suppose $hg \in G^{\sigma}$. Since σ is inner and centralizes H,

$$\sigma(hg) = h(\sigma.g) = hg$$
$$\Rightarrow g \in G'^{,\sigma}$$

so $G^{\sigma} \subseteq HG'^{,\sigma}$. The other direction is trivial, and we have a presentation

$$G^{\sigma} = HG^{\prime,\sigma}.$$

,By a theorem of Steinberg, [OV90, 4.8.9], since G' is simply connected, $G'^{,\sigma}$ is connected reductive. We conclude that the continuous multiplication map $H \times G'^{,\sigma} \to G^{\sigma}$ is surjective with connected source, and thus G^{σ} is connected.

Now to show $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{O}_F) = G(\mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$ is connected, consider the reduction map mod $u, \mathcal{O}_E \to k$, where the uniformizer u is an eigenvector for ν with eigenvalue ζ . Therefore the reduction map is invariant for Γ . Then the induced reduction map $G(\mathcal{O}_E) \to G(k)$ is equivariant for the action on the left by $\sigma \times \nu^{-1}$ and the action on the right by σ and hence restricts to a surjection

$$G(\mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} \to G^{\sigma}.$$

Since the image is connected and the kernel is pro-unipotent (and hence connected) we conclude that the source $G(\mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$ is connected. The result follows.

For every parahoric subgroup P of H(F), there exits a smooth integral model \mathcal{P} of

H over \mathcal{O}_F with the property that $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{O}_F) = P$; the construction is reviewed in [Yu15, sec. 7]. By the uniqueness principle of smooth integral models, \mathcal{P} is unique with respect to this property. For example, if H, G, σ is as in above, the parahoric group scheme associated to the parahoric subgroup $(G \times \mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}(\mathcal{O}_E)$ is the connected component of $\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F}(G \times \mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$. Such a model of H over \mathcal{O}_F is indeed smooth by [Edi92, 2.2] and [Edi92, 3.4].

Example 3.1: If $\sigma = \text{Id}_G$ is trivial, then $\mathcal{P} = G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ is the standard hyperspecial parahoric group scheme associated to the subset subset $I \subseteq I_{\text{aff}}$ consisting of the finite Dynkin diagram of G.

Example 3.2: If G = T is a torus so $H := \mathcal{T}$ is a torus over F, then $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, the connected Néron model. In fact, this is the only parahoric group scheme of \mathcal{T} .

Now let us fix notation and recall the basic theory of affine flag varieties following [PR08]. For an affine finite type flat group scheme \mathcal{G} over \mathcal{O}_F with generic fiber H, the **affine flag variety** is the fpqc sheaf

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}} \coloneqq [LH/L^+\mathcal{G}].$$

If \mathcal{G} is smooth over \mathcal{O}_F , then $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}}$ is representable by an ind-scheme over k that is ind-finite type, [PR08, 1.4]. The examples of \mathcal{G} that we are concerned with are parahoric group schemes associated to a reductive group over F and intermediate integral models \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} of of a torus \mathcal{T} over F. Some basic properties of affine flag varieties are recalled below from [PR08, sec.0, 1], [Zhu17, 1.2.11]:

1. If \mathcal{G} is connected, then $L^+\mathcal{G}$ is connected. If \mathcal{G} is smooth over \mathcal{O}_F then $L^+\mathcal{G}$ is reduced. The map $LH \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}}$ induces an isomorphism on connected components, and there is an isomorphism induced by the Kottwitz homomorphism

$$\pi_0(LH) \cong \pi_1(H)_I$$

where $\pi_1(H)$ is the algebraic fundamental group of G over the separable closure of F, equipped with the Galois action of $I := \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}/F)$. In particular, if H is simply connected, then LH and the flag variety of any parahoric group scheme of H is connected.

- 2. If H is semisimple, then both LH and \mathcal{F}_H are reduced.
- 3. Suppose $H = \mathcal{T}$ is a torus split over E with the Γ -module $Y = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_{m,E}, \mathcal{T}_E)$. Suppose $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$ is an intermediate integral model. By our study of subgroups of $L\mathcal{T}$ in 2.2.2, $L\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ are both not reduced. We also have $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ is discreet, with the Kottwitz homomorphism inducing an identification of $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})$ with a quotient of $Y_{\Gamma} = \pi_1(L\mathcal{T})$.
- 4. If \mathcal{P} is smooth fiberwise connected affine group scheme over \mathcal{O}_F then the affine flag variety $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{P}}$ is ind-projective iff \mathcal{P} is a parahoric group scheme of H. This recalls the classical definition of a parabolic subgroup of a reductive group as one where the associated (non-affine) flag variety is projective.

Now suppose $H = G_F$ is the base change of a reductive group G already defined over k and $\mathcal{P} = G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$. This special case is important and is given a name to match the literature, e.g., [Zhu09].

Definition 3.2: The affine Grassmannian of a reductive group G over k is

$$\operatorname{Gr}_G \coloneqq \mathcal{F}_{G_{\mathcal{O}_F}}.$$

Additionally, for simplicity, define

$$LG \coloneqq LG_F$$

$$L^+G \coloneqq L^+G_{\mathcal{O}_F}.$$

We refer to $G(\mathcal{O}_F)$ as the canonical standard hyperspecial parahoric subgroup and $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ as the canonical standard hyperspecial parahoric group scheme.

3.2.2 Conjugacy Classes of W and Conjugacy Classes of Maximal Tori in G_F

Fix $k = \mathbb{C}$ and $F = \mathbb{C}((t))$ and $\mathcal{O}_F = \mathbb{C}[[t]]$. Let G be a connected reductive group over k (not over F) and $T \subseteq G$ a fixed choice of a (split) maximal torus over k. Let $W = N_G(T)/Z_G(T)$ denote the Weyl group of G and [W] the set of conjugacy classes. Tori over F in the base change G_F may not necessarily be split; we denote them by \mathcal{T} . Let $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}G$ and $\mathfrak{t} = \text{Lie}T$.

The set [W] is of independent interest and has been studied by combinatorial methods in [Car72] and [GP00, 3.2.12], the latter in the more when W is replaced with any finite Coxeter group. Recently, many interesting geometric object have come to be parameterized by [W] and fundamental questions were asked on how to lift elements of W to $N_G(T)$, for example in [AH17, AHN20]. The set [W] has even appeared in the original study of the twisted FKS isomorphism in [KP85]. In this subsection we study the relation between G_F -conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F and [W]. We first review the correspondence between conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F and [W]. We review the notion of an **elliptic** conjugacy class (of both Weyl group elements and Tori in G_F , and introduce the notion of the **principal** Levi subgroup of G associated to $w \in W$. Using the principal Levi and the conjugacy classes of tori, we give a new and geometric, proof of the classification of conjugacy classes of W by parabolic induction in [GP00, 3.2.12] in the case when the Coxeter group is a Weyl group of a reductive group. Our study of [W] and of lifting elements of W to $N_G(T)$ prepares for the study of choosing representatives of conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F in following subsections.

The following theorem was proved in [KL88, sec. 1].

Theorem 3.5: The set [W] is in natural bijection with conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F .

Definition 3.3: For a class $c \in [W]$ we say a maximal tori $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ is of type c if the conjugacy class of \mathcal{T} corresponds to c.

For illustration, we give another proof.

PROOF: For $w \in W$, a maximal torus of type $[w] \in [W]$ is described as follows. Let $\sigma \in N_G(T)$ be a finite order lift of order m. The fact that a finite order lift exists with minimal order |w| or 2|w| is proven in [AH17, Theorem C], with an explicit description when which case of occurs. Let E/F be the degree m extension with $E = \mathbb{C}((u))$, $u^m = t$ and $\nu \in \Gamma := \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ a chosen generator and ζ a primitive mth root of unity such that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$. Then a maximal torus \mathcal{T} of type [w] together with its embedding into G_F is defined as the composition

$$\mathcal{T} \coloneqq (\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}T \times_k E)^{w \times \nu^{-1}}$$
$$\subseteq (\operatorname{Res}_{EF}G \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} \stackrel{f}{\cong} G_F$$

where f is some fixed chosen isomorphism. It exists due to a theorem of Steinberg [Ste65, 1.9] that $H^1(R, H) = 0$ whenever R is a perfect field of cohomological dimension ≤ 1 and H is connected and affine over R so there are no inner forms of $H_{\overline{R}}$ over R.

A map from conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F to [W] is given as in [SS70, 2.7] as follows. Let $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ be a maximal torus split over E with $\Gamma = \text{Gal}(E/F), \nu$ as above acting on G_E . Since both T_E and \mathcal{T}_E are split in G_E , they are conjugate by some $g \in G(E)$, i.e.,

$$g.T_E = \mathcal{T}_E.$$

Then the element

$$\sigma \coloneqq g^{-1}\nu(g)$$

normalizes T_E and this lies in $N_{G_E}(T_E)$. Then the class $[w] \in [W]$ associated to the conjugacy class of \mathcal{T} is the image of σ in

$$(N_{G_E}(T_E)/Z_{G_E}(T_E))(E)$$
$$\subseteq (N_G(T)/Z_G(T))(\overline{F}) = (N_G(T)/Z_G(T))(k)$$

where \overline{F} is any algebraically closed field containing E. The bottom equality follows from the fact that the Weyl group is constant as a group scheme. The map is welldefined to be constant on the conjugacy class of \mathcal{T} by [SS70, 2.7].

These two operations are inverse to each other.

Remark 3.1: The isomorphism

$$(\operatorname{Res}_{EF}G \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} \stackrel{f}{\cong} G_F$$

in the proof above is not given explicitly, but the main point of our computations is to provide such an explicit isomorphism.

Now let us classify the conjugacy classes of [W] by parabolic induction using the interpretation of [W] as the set of conjugacy classes of maximal tori of G_F . Let $\Psi = \Psi(G,T)$ be the root system of G with respect to T and Δ be a chosen base of simple roots and B be the corresponding choice of Borel subgroup. Let $S \subseteq W$, $S = S(\Delta)$ be the set of simple reflections corresponding relative to the choice of Δ . So (W, S) forms a Coxeter system.

Definition 3.4: For $J \subseteq S$, the **parabolic subgroup** of W corresponding to J is the subgroup $W_J \subseteq W$ generated by J.

The reason for the terminology is that W_J is the Weyl group of the Levi factor of the parabolic subgroup $P_J \subseteq G$ corresponding the roots J, or to be precise the image of a Levi factor of a cover of P_J .

Definition 3.5: An element $w \in W$ is called *elliptic* if either of the equivalent conditions hold:

1. [GP00, 3.1.1] For every proper subset $J \subseteq S$, w does not lie in W_J .

2. For some (or for all) semisimple group G with maximal torus T such that W(G,T) = W, the group

$$T^w = \operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{X}^*(T)_w]$$

is finite, or equivalently $\mathbb{X}^*(T)_w$ is finite, or equivalently $\mathfrak{t}^w = 0$, where $\mathfrak{t} = \text{Lie}T$.

A conjugacy class $c \in [W]$ is called an **elliptic class** if any (or equivalently if all) $w \in c$ is elliptic. A maximal torus, resp. conjugacy class of maximal tori, $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ is called an **elliptic torus** if the type of \mathcal{T} , resp. any torus in the class, in [W] is an elliptic class.

Lemma 3.2: Suppose G is semisimple. Then a conjugacy class of W is elliptic iff the corresponding conjugacy class of tori in G_F by 3.5 consists of anisotropic tori.

PROOF: A torus \mathcal{T} over a field F has no split subtori over F iff $\mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{T})$ has no quotient modules for the Galois group Γ that are positive rank over \mathbb{Z} . This happens iff $\mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{T})_{\Gamma}$ is finite. Apply our case the case $F = \mathbb{C}((t))$ and Γ is topologically generated by one element ν acting on $\mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{T})$ by w. This happens iff $T^w = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{T}]_{\Gamma})$ is finite. The result follows.

The notions of a parabolic subgroup of W and an elliptic conjugacy class are identical when (W, S) is generalized to with a finite Coxeter system. Elliptic classes of W are of special interest, because they allow for an inductive classification of [W]. Roughly speaking, every maximal torus is elliptic for a parabolic subgroup of W.

Theorem 3.6: [GP00, 3.2.12] combined with [GP00, 3.2.11]: Suppose (W, S) is a finite Coxeter system. Let \mathcal{P} be the set of pairs (J, d) where $J \subseteq S$ and d is an elliptic conjugacy class for the parabolic subgroup W_J . Let \sim be the equivalence relation on \mathcal{P} defined by the property that $(J, d) \sim (J', d')$ iff there exist $x \in W$ such that x.J = J'and x.d = d'. Then the following map gives a well-defined bijection

$$\mathcal{P}/\sim \stackrel{\simeq}{\to} [W]$$

$$(J, d) \mapsto W.d$$

where W.d denotes the orbit of the subset $d \subseteq W_J \subseteq W$ under the action of W.

Remark 3.2: The actual map given in [GP00, 3.2.12] is in the other direction $[W] \rightarrow P/\sim$ and more complicated but combining with [GP00, 3.2.11], we obtain the inverse map given above in 3.6.

Let us now give an alternative proof of 3.6 in the case when W is a Weyl group.

Definition 3.6: For $w \in W$, the **principal Levi** is

$$M_w \coloneqq Z_G(T^{w,0}) \subseteq G$$

where $T^{w,0} \subseteq T^w$ is the neutral component, i.e the maximal torus, of T^w .

Example 3.3: Suppose G is semisimple.

- 1. If w = 1, $M_w = \{e\}$ is the trivial subgroup of G.
- 2. If $w \in W$ is elliptic, then $M_w = G$.

Some basic properties of the principal Levi are:

Remark 3.3: Fix $w \in W = N_G(T)/Z_G(T)$. We have the following basic properties:

- 1. M_w contains all possible lifts of w to $N_G(T)$.
- 2. For every sub-torus $T' \subseteq T^{w,0}$, we have $M_w \subseteq Z_G(T')$.

3. M_w is minimal in the sense that if $T' \subseteq M$ is a torus and $T^{w,0} \subsetneq T'$ then $Z_G(T') \subsetneq M$ contains no lift of w.

3. T' is strictly contained in $T^{w,0}$, then $Z_G(T')$ does not contain any lift of w.

4. Conjugating w by W gives a $N_G(T)$ conjugate of M_w . Conversely conjugating M_w by $N_G(T)$ gives the principal Levi of a W-conjugate of w.

Now interpret [W] as the conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F as in 3.5. Define the map

$$\Psi:[W]\to\mathcal{P}$$

as follows. Let $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ be a maximal torus, \mathcal{T}^a the maximal anisotropic subtorus and \mathcal{T}^s the maximal split subtorus. Then the cocharacter lattice is the quotient by torsion

$$\mathbb{X}^*(\mathcal{T}^s) = \mathbb{X}^*(T)_{w, \text{tor}} = \mathbb{X}^*(T^{w, 0}).$$

It follows that $\mathcal{T}^s = (T^{w,0})_F$ and thus the centralizer $Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}^s) = M_{w,F} := (M_w)_F$ is

the base change of the principal Levi. Put

$$M \coloneqq M_w$$

We furthermore have $\mathcal{T} \subseteq Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}^s)$ and by 3.5 the conjugacy class of \mathcal{T} in M_F is in bijection with a conjugacy class of the subgroup $W(M_F, T_F) = W(M, T) \subseteq W$. Let $J \subseteq S$ be any subset such that M is G-conjugate to the standard Levi subgroup $M_J \subseteq G$. Such a conjugation must send the maximal torus $T \subseteq M$ to the maximal torus $T \subseteq M_J$ and we conclude that M is $N_G(T)$ -conjugate M_J . This induces a Wconjugation W(M, T) to W_J . Define d to be the conjugacy class of W_J associated to the conjugacy class of W(M, T) associated to \mathcal{T} and put

$$\Psi([\mathcal{T}]) = (J, d).$$

The following steps show that Ψ induces a well-defined bijection $[W] \cong \mathcal{P}/\sim$, giving a proof of 3.6 in the case when W is a Weyl group.

Lemma 3.3: d is elliptic for W_J .

PROOF: We have

$$\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}^a \mathcal{T}^s.$$

Since M_F is the centralizer of \mathcal{T}^s in G_F , $\mathcal{T}^s = Z(M_F)^0$ is the connected component of the center. Therefore $(\mathcal{T}^a)_{\mathrm{ad}} \subset (M_F)_{\mathrm{ad}}$ is the maximal torus of $(M_F)_{\mathrm{ad}} = (M_{\mathrm{ad}})_F$. The map $M \to M_{\mathrm{ad}}$ induces a natural bijection $W(M,T) \to W(M_{\mathrm{ad}},T_{\mathrm{ad}})$ so $d \subseteq W_J$ is associated to a *G*-conjugate of the maximal torus $(\mathcal{T}^a)_{\mathrm{ad}}$ in M_{ad} . Since $(\mathcal{T}^a)_{\mathrm{ad}}$ is still anisotropic, the lemma boils down to showing the correspondence 3.5 maps a conjugacy class of anisotropic tori to an elliptic conjugacy class of the Weyl group. This is shown in 3.2.

Lemma 3.4: Ψ is well-defined as a map $[W] \to \mathcal{P}/\sim$, i.e., the equivalence class of (J,d) is independent of the choice of representative of $[\mathcal{T}]$.

PROOF: Let $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}'$ be conjugate tori in G_F by some $g \in G(F)$. Let J, resp. J', be subsets of S such that M_J , resp. $M_{J'}$, is conjugate to $Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}^s)$, resp. $Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}'^s)$. Then g restricts to a conjugation sending \mathcal{T}^s to \mathcal{T}'^s , and therefore also sends $Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}^s)$ to $Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}'^s)$. It follows that $M_{J,F}$ is conjugate to $M_{J',F}$ by some $h \in G(F)$. By the main theorem [Sol20, 1.b], h can be chosen to normalize the split maximal torus T_F of G_F . Letting w be the image of h in $W = W(G_F, T_F) = W(G, T)$. Then w.J is a choice of a set of simple reflections for $W_{J'}$. Hence there exists $w_2 \in W_{J'} \subseteq W$ such that

$$w_2w, J = J'.$$

Let $d \in [W_J]$, resp. $d' \in [W_{J'}]$ correspond to the conjugacy class of the torus \mathcal{T} , resp. \mathcal{T}' , in $M_{J,F}$, resp. $M_{J',F}$. Since w restricts to an isomorphism $W_J \cong W_{J'}$, w.d is a single conjugacy class in W'_J . Hence

$$w_2(w.d) = w.d.$$

Furthermore, w.d = d' because h maps $[\mathcal{T}]$ to $[\mathcal{T}']$. It follows that

$$w_2w.d = d'$$

and therefore (J, d) is equivalent to (J', d') by the element $w_2 w \in W$ under the definition of the equivalence relation \sim on \mathcal{P} . The result follows.

Lemma 3.5: Ψ is bijective; in fact we explicitly describe an inverse.

PROOF: The inverse map $\Phi : (\mathcal{P}/\sim) \to [W]$ is defined as follows. Let us define it on \mathcal{P} and show it factors through \sim . Let $(J,d) \in \mathcal{P}$. Then d corresponds to a conjugacy class of maximal torus \mathcal{T} in $M_{J,F}$ such that $\mathcal{T}_{ad} \subseteq M_{J,F,ad}$ is anisotropic by 3.2. Define

$$\Phi((J,d)) = [\mathcal{T}]$$

to be the conjugacy class of W associated to the conjugacy class of \mathcal{T} , but considered as a maximal torus of G_F (it remains maximal in G_F because recall any Levi subgroup has the same rank as the original group). Φ factors through \sim because if $(J, d) \sim (J', d')$, then by definition $d \subseteq W_J, d' \subseteq W_{J'}$ are subsets of the same W-conjugacy class in W and the $M_{J,F}$ -conjugacy class of tori in $M_{J,F}$ associated to d is G(F)conjugate to the associated $M_{J',F}$ -conjugacy class of tori in $M_{J',F}$ associated to d'. The composition $[W] \xrightarrow{\Psi} (\mathcal{P}/\sim) \xrightarrow{\Phi} [W]$ is the identity by the construction of the maps. Let us show $(\mathcal{P}/\sim) \xrightarrow{\Phi} [W] \xrightarrow{\Psi} (\mathcal{P}/\sim)$ is the identity. Let $J \subseteq S$ and $d \in [W_J]$ be elliptic for W_J and corresponds to a class of anisotropic tori in M_J by 3.2. We can write

$$M_J = Z_G(H)$$

where the (split) torus $H \subseteq G$ is the neutral component of the center of M. Let $\mathcal{T} \subseteq (M_J)_F$ be any maximal torus. Then $H_F \subseteq \mathcal{T}^s$ and \mathcal{T}_{ad} is a quotient of \mathcal{T} by a diagonalizable group with neutral component containing H_F . Hence \mathcal{T}_{ad} is generated by a quotient of \mathcal{T}^a by a finite subgroup and a quotient of \mathcal{T}^s . Hence \mathcal{T}_{ad} is anisotropic iff \mathcal{T}^s maps to the trivial subgroup in \mathcal{T}_{ad} . This holds iff $H_F = \mathcal{T}^s$ and $M_J = Z_{G_F}(\mathcal{T}^s)$. This shows $(\mathcal{P}/\sim) \stackrel{\Phi}{\to} [W] \stackrel{\Psi}{\to} (\mathcal{P}/\sim)$ is the identity. The result follows.

3.2.3 Representatives of Conjugacy Classes of Maximal Tori in G_F with Large Closure in $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$

In this subsection, we study the problem of choosing representatives \mathcal{T} of G_F -conjugacy classes of maximal tori in G_F with the property the Zariski closure $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$ of \mathcal{T} in $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ has large \mathcal{O}_F -points, in the sense that $\overline{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ contains the maximal connected bounded subgroup of $\mathcal{T}(F)$. This means precisely that $\overline{\mathcal{T}}$ is an intermediate integral model of \mathcal{T} , i.e., it contains the connected Néron model. We define the notion of a **homogeneous** conjugacy class of W, which include all conjugacy classes of a parabolic subgroup of type A, that have the property that \mathcal{T} can be chosen such that $\overline{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is even larger to be the maximal bounded subgroup of $\mathcal{T}(F)$, i.e., $\overline{\mathcal{T}} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat}$. Homogeneous conjugacy classes are import for later study because restriction to their case simplifies the geometric FKS isomorphism. It turns out that in order to study this problem, it is necessary to study the problem of lifting elements of W to $N_G(T)$, and we review some results about this from [AHN20] that we use.

For a triple (G, B, H) where G is a reductive group over k, H a choice of maximal torus, and B a Borel subgroup containing H, let us set the notation and recall some notions regarding the spherical building of (G, B, H), for example from [OV90, ch. 4]:

- 1. $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie} G, \mathfrak{b} = \operatorname{Lie} B, \mathfrak{h} = \operatorname{Lie} H.$
- 2. The exponential map is denoted exp : $\mathfrak{h} \to H$.
- 3. The adjoint action of G_{ad} on itself is denoted Ad, the action of G_{ad} on \mathfrak{g} is denoted ad.
- 4. d is the rank of G_{ad} , and of the derived subgroup of G.
- 5. $\Psi = \Psi(G, H)$ the root system of G relative to H.
- 6. $\Delta = \Delta(G, B, H) \subseteq \Psi$ the choice of simple roots induced by B. For a fixed ordering of Δ , denote the elements $\Delta = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d\}$. We may write $\Psi = \Psi(G, B, H)$ to mean the roots system including the choice of Δ .
- 7. *A* = *A*(*G*, *B*, *H*) ⊆ *h*_{ad}, is the (closed) fundamental alcove of the triple (*G*_{ad}, *B*_{ad}, *H*_{ad}). Note we use *h*_{ad} instead of *h*. The general literature uses the interior of *A* formally defined as the intersection of the dominant halves α⁻¹(ℝ₊) of *h*_{ad} for all α ∈ Ψ, but for our convention, we include the walls.
- 8. When G_{ad} is simple, let $\theta \in \Psi$ be the highest root.
- 9. Equip \mathfrak{h} with a normalized invariant bilinear form $\langle -, \rangle$ so that the length of the highest root for each simple factor of \mathfrak{g} is 2.
- ω[∨]₁, · · · , ω[∨]_d ⊆ 𝔥 are the fundamental co-weights relative to Δ and ⟨−, −⟩. Identify the fundamental coweights with the vertices I of the Dynkin diagram of G_{ad}.

- 11. Let $P = \mathbb{Z}\langle \omega_1^{\vee}, \cdots, \omega_d^{\vee} \rangle$ be the co-weight lattice. For any point $v \in P$, there is a unique *P*-translate of v in \mathcal{A} that lies inside I_{aff} . Call this element the **type** of v.
- 12. I_{aff} is the set of vertices of the affine Dynkin diagram of G. In particular, if G is simple, then I_{aff} = I ∪ {ω₀[∨]} consists of the finite Dynkin diagram and one extra vertex ω₀[∨] ∈ A denoted the **affine vertex**. For general reductive G, I_{aff}, resp, I, is a disjoint union of the vertices of the affine Dynkin diagram, resp. Dynkin diagram, of each simple component of G' or G_{ad}.
- 13. The set \mathcal{A} has the structure of a simplex with vertices I_{aff} .
- 14. π₁(G) = P/Q where Q is the coroot lattice, and in the natural map I_{aff} → π₁(G) is a bijection. It induces an action of π₁(G) on I_{aff} by translation. A vertex v ∈ I_{aff} is called hyperspecial if it lies in the orbit of some affine vertex under the action of π₁(G). For example, if G is type A, every vertex is hyperspecial. In general, the set of hyperspecial vertices of I_{aff} is the union of the hyperspecial vertices of each connected component of I_{aff}.
- 15. \mathfrak{g}_{α_i} is the root space of \mathfrak{g} corresponding to α_i .

The main tool we use, recalled below, is Kac's numerical classification conjugacy classes of finite order inner automorphisms of a simple Lie algebra, or equivalently conjugacy classes of finite order elements of G_{ad} when G is simple. Let $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ be an inner automorphism G of order m. Let E/F be the degree m extension with $E = k((u)), u^m = t$. Let $\nu \in \Gamma := \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ be a choice of generator and ζ a primitive mth root of unity such that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$. Put $\mathcal{O}_E = k[[u]]$ so Γ preserves \mathcal{O}_E .

Theorem 3.7: [Kac90, 8.1] and [OV90, 4.7.8] Suppose G is simple of rank d. Let $H \subseteq G_{ad}be$ a maximal torus containing σ , $\mathfrak{h} = \text{Lie}H$ and $B \subseteq G_{ad}$ a Borel subgroup such that $\sigma = \exp(\lambda)$ for some $\lambda \in \mathcal{A}(G_{ad}, B, H)$. Write

$$\theta = a_1 \alpha_1 + \dots + a_d \alpha_d$$

where $a_i \geq 0$ and unique with respect to this property. Then we have the following:

1. There exists a unique sequence of non-negative relatively prime integers (s_0, \dots, s_n) , called the **Kac labels** of σ where each s_i labels $\omega_i^{\vee} \in I_{\text{aff}}$, such that

$$s_0 + s_1 a_1 + \dots + s_d a_d = m$$

and

$$m\lambda = s_1\omega_1^{\vee} + \dots + s_d\omega_d^{\vee}.$$

In particular, for all $i, X \in \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha_i}$, the action of σ on X is given by

$$\operatorname{ad}(\sigma).x = \zeta^s x.$$

2. Conjugacy classes of finite order elements of G_{ad} are classified by the sequences of integers s_0, \dots, s_d as above up to the permutation of $\pi_1(G_{ad})$ induced by the action on I_{aff} .

We can use 3.7 to give the explicit isomorphism $(\operatorname{Res}_{EF}G \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} \cong G_F$ promised in 3.5 for a connected reductive G. Let us begin with the case when Gis simple. Recall that for a maximal torus H of G, the exponential map induces a natural identification of center of G with $P/\mathbb{X}_*(T)$. So in particular if G is adjoint type, every coweight is a cocharacter.

For a k-algebra R, define $\mathfrak{g}_R = \mathfrak{g} \otimes_k R$.

Lemma 3.6: Let G be simple and $\sigma = \exp(\lambda) \in G_{ad}$ be an order m inner automorphism of the form described in 3.7 together with the choice of maximal torus H and Borel subgroup B. Define the loop $u^{m\lambda} \in H_{ad}(E)$ by considering $m\lambda = s_1\omega_1^{\vee} + \cdots + s_n\omega_n^{\vee}$ as an element of $\mathbb{X}_*(T_{ad}) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_m, H_{ad})$ and $u \in \mathbb{G}_m(\mathcal{O}_E)$ and defining

$$u^{m\lambda} \coloneqq (m\lambda)(u).$$

Then the morphism of group schemes over E given by $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{m\lambda}): G_E \to G_E$ induces

an isomorphism

$$G_F = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(G \times_k E)^{1 \times \nu^{-1}} \stackrel{\operatorname{Ad}(u^{m\lambda)}}{\to} (G \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}.$$

PROOF: The first equality is from Galois descent. Both sides are connected because they are isomorphic a posteriori by Steinberg's theorem [Ste65, 1.9] that $\mathrm{H}^1(F,G) =$ 0. Therefore it suffices to check $\mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda}) : \mathfrak{g}_E \to \mathfrak{g}_E$ restricts to a bijection of the respective Lie algebras. The remainder of the following computation is similar to [Kac90, 8.5]. Decompose

$$\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Psi} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}$$

into roots spaces relative to \mathfrak{h} . By the description of the action of σ on \mathfrak{g}_{α} in 3.7, the eigenspace decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}}$ for $\mathrm{ad}(\sigma)$ is compatible with the root space decomposition in the sense that

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} = \oplus_{lpha \in \Psi: \overline{\langle m\lambda, lpha
angle} = \overline{i}} \mathfrak{g}_{lpha}.$$

Decompose $E = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} u^i F$ as an *F*-vector space spanned by $1, u, u^2, \cdots$. By inspection of the definition of the root subgroups of G_E , the action of $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ on $\mathfrak{g}_E = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g} \otimes u^i F$ restricts to an isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \otimes u^{\overline{i}} \stackrel{\approx}{\to} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \otimes u^{\overline{i + \langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle}}$$
$$X \otimes u^{\overline{i}} \mapsto X \otimes u^{\overline{i + \langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle}}.$$

Since $\nu^{-1}(u)/u = \zeta^{-1}$,

$$\operatorname{Lie}_{F}(\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(G \times_{k} E)^{1 \times \nu^{-1}}) = (\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{k} E)^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma \otimes \nu^{-1})} = \bigoplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} \otimes u^{\overline{i}} F.$$

Putting the above two together, it follows that $ad(u^{m\lambda})$ restricts to an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Lie}_{F}G_{F} = \mathfrak{g} \otimes F \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})} \oplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} \otimes u^{\overline{i}}F = \operatorname{Lie}_{F}(\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(G \times_{k} E)^{1 \times \nu^{-1}}).$$

The result follows.

We extend the above lemma to the case when G is connected reductive below. Remark that if $G' = \prod_i G_i$ is a decomposition of the derived subgroup into simple factors, there is an induced decomposition of the adjoint group $G_{ad} = \prod G_{i,ad}$ as the product of the adjoint groups of each simple factor.

Lemma 3.7: Let G be connected reductive and $G' = \prod_i G_i$ be a decomposition of the derived subgroup into simple factors. Let $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ with $\sigma = \prod \sigma_i$ and $\sigma_i \in G_{i,ad}$ acting only on G_i . Suppose for each $i, \sigma_i = \exp(\lambda_i)$ for $\lambda_i \in \mathfrak{h}_i$ in the from described in 3.7 together with the choice of a maximal torus H_i and Borel subgroup B_i containing H_i in $G_{i,ad}$. Then the loop $x := \prod u^{m\lambda_i} \in \prod H_i(E)$ where each $u^{m\lambda_i}$ is as defined in 3.6 as the property that $\operatorname{Ad}(x) : G_E \to G_E$ induces an isomorphism

$$G_F = (G \times_k E)^{1 \times \nu^{-1}} \cong (G \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$$

PROOF: Both sides are connected because $H^1(F, G) = 0$, so it suffices to show that the adjoint action on the Lie algebras over F is an isomorphism. Let $H = Z(G)^0$ be the connected component of the center. Then we have $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \bigoplus \mathfrak{g}_i$ and thus

$$\mathfrak{g}_E = \mathfrak{h}_E igoplus \mathfrak{g}_{i,E}$$

where $\operatorname{ad}(x)$ acts by $1 \otimes \nu^{-1}$ on \mathfrak{h}_E and by $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda_i})$ separately on each factor $\mathfrak{g}_{i,E}$. We thus have

$$\mathfrak{g}_E^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma imes
u^{-1})} = \mathfrak{h}_F \oplus \bigoplus \mathfrak{g}_{i,E}^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma imes
u^{-1})}.$$

Applying 3.6 to each simple factor \mathfrak{g}_i gives that $\operatorname{ad}(x)$ induces an isomorphism $\mathfrak{g}_{i,F} \cong \mathfrak{g}_{i,E}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma \times \nu^{-1})}$ separately on each factor. The result follows.

Our study uses some results on lifting Weyl group elements and their relation to Kac labels. Namely given $w \in W$, a choice of a finite order lift $\sigma \in N_G(T)$ gives rise to Kac labels determining the conjugacy class of $\sigma_{ad} \in G_{ad}$ by 3.7. This operation is independent of conjugacy class of w for an elliptic w, up to $\pi_1(G_{ad})$:

Theorem 3.8: [AHN20, 1.1.3 and 6.8] Suppose G is semisimple and $w \in W = W(G,T)$ is elliptic. Then:

1. Any two lifts of w to $N_{G_{ad}}(T_{ad})$ are conjugate in G_{ad} . Consequently there is a well-defined association from elliptic conjugacy classes of W with Kac labels of I_{aff} given as in 3.7 by taking the Kac co-ordinates of each simple factor of the conjugacy class of a lift.

2. If a given lift $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ of w is of the form $\exp(m\lambda)$ for $m\lambda \in \mathcal{A}(G_{ad}, B, H)$ for maximal torus $H \subseteq G_{ad}$ (not necessarily equal to T) and a choice of Borel B containing H as in 3.7, then $m\lambda \in P_{ad}$, as an element of the coweight lattice of G_{ad} relative to H_{ad} , is invariant under the action of $\pi_1(G_{ad})$. Therefore there is a well-defined Kac labeling of [w].

This allows us to define a special kind of conjugacy class of W that is an important special case of later study:

Definition 3.7: Suppose G is semisimple, $T \subseteq G$ a maximal torus, and W = W(G,T).

1. A finite order element $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ is **homogeneous** if the Kac labels of σ from 3.7 have value $\neq 0$ on every hyperspecial vertex of I_{aff} . An elliptic element $w \in W$ is defined to be homogeneous iff any lift is. An elliptic class if homogeneous iff any lift is. This is well-defined by 3.8.

2. Suppose $c \in [W]$ is not necessarily elliptic. By the classification 3.6 of [W] by parabolic induction, there exists a choice of simple reflections S and $J \subseteq S$ such that $w \in W_J$ is elliptic as an element of W_J . Define the **Kac labels** of c to be the Kac labels on the affine Dynkin diagram $I_{J,aff}$ of W_J (not of I_{aff}) of c as an elliptic class of $[W_J]$. Such an operation is also well-defined by [AHN20, 8.3].

3. A (not necessarily elliptic) element $w \in W$ homogeneous if for any choice of simple reflections $S \subseteq W$ and $J \subseteq S$ such that $w \in W_J$ is elliptic for W_J , w is homogeneous as an element of W_J . A class $c \in [W]$ is homogeneous if any lift is.

Example 3.4: Let G be simple and (s_0, \dots, s_d) be the Kac labels of $\sigma \in G_{ad}$ as in 3.7. Recall s_0 is the label of the affine vertex, so if σ is homogeneous, then $s_0 \neq 0$.

The converse is usually not true as there are usually more hyperspecial vertices than the affine vertex.

The principal Levi, or rather its adjoint group, plays a role in visualizing the Kac labels of a not necessarily elliptic class $c \in W$, consistent with the above definition. It is as follows. Let G be semisimple with maximal torus T and W = W(G, T). Let $c \in [W]$ and $w \in c$. Let $M \coloneqq M_w = Z_G((T^{w,0}))$ be the principal Levi, which contains all lifts of w. Let $\sigma \in M$ be an arbitrary lift. Then $\sigma_{ad} \in M_{ad}$ is elliptic for its action on T_{ad} in the sense that the fixed points are finite since $T^{w,0} \subseteq Z(M)$. Then the Kac labels of c is the Kac label of σ_{ad} in M_{ad} and c is homogeneous iff σ_{ad} is.

Some numerical examples are collected below :

- 1. For any Weyl group W, the **Coxeter class** $\cos \in [W]$, defined as the conjugacy class consisting of the products of any chosen set of simple reflections in any order, is elliptic. The Kac labels of $\cos \operatorname{are} s_i = 1$ for any vertex of I_{aff} , as shown in computations of the various cases for classical groups in [RLYG12] and for all of the exceptional groups in [AHN20, sec. 9]. Hence \cos is homogeneous.
- 2. When W is type A, cox is the only elliptic class, e.g., [AHN20, sec. 6]. Since every element of W is elliptic for some parabolic subgroup and every parabolic subgroup of a type A group is also type A, if $w \in W$ is contained in any parabolic subgroup of type A, then w is automatically homogeneous.
- 3. There exists many non-Coxeter homogeneous classes, even if we require furthermore them to be elliptic. But the homogeneous conjugacy classes occupy a significant portion of all conjugacy classes. For example, according to the computer computations of Kac co-ordinates for the exceptional groups in [AHN20, sec. 9], as tabulated in the table below:

Remark 3.4: An interesting coincidence is the following: the number of elliptic homogeneous conjugacy classes in type E agree with the number of 'primitive' classes in the study of the twisted FKS isomorphism in [KP85, sec. 10]. Primitive classes are

| Group | G_2 | F_4 | E_6 | E_7 | E_8 |
|------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Homogeneous Elliptic classes | 2 | 5 | 3 | 5 | 9 |
| Elliptic Classes | 3 | 9 | 5 | 12 | 30 |

Table 3.1: Number of Homogeneous Elliptic Conjugacy Classes in the ExceptionalTypes

of those w such that det(1 - w) = det A where A is the Cartan matrix of W and det is taken for the action of w on \mathfrak{h}_{ad} . The author wonders whether primitive conjugacy classes are the same as elliptic homogeneous classes, but has not investigated this question further.

Let us prepare with some discussion of graded structures on Lie algebras. For Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} and a set I, an I-graded structure on \mathfrak{l} is a vector space decomposition $\mathfrak{l} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathfrak{l}_i$ where $\mathfrak{l}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{l}$ are subspaces. A graded subalgebra $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathfrak{l}$ is a subalgebra of the form $\mathfrak{m} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathfrak{m}_i$ where each $\mathfrak{m}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{l}_i$ is a subspace.

Definition 3.8: For a \mathbb{Z} -grading on \mathfrak{l} and $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, set

$$\mathfrak{l}_{>i_0}\coloneqq\oplus_{i>i_0}\mathfrak{l}_i$$

$$\mathfrak{l}_{< i_0} \coloneqq \oplus_{i < i_0} \mathfrak{l}_i$$

and similarly so for $l_{\geq i_0}$, resp $l_{\leq i_0}$, where the >, resp. <, is replaced with \geq , resp. \leq , in the above sum.

Remark 3.5: Usually I is required to have a commutative sum structure and the grading of \mathfrak{l} is required to be compatible with the sum on I in the sense that $[\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}_j] \subseteq \mathfrak{l}_{i+j}$. But we do not impose it on I here.

For a Lie algebra \mathfrak{p} over k and a power series field M = k((s)), it is not convenient to put a graded structure on the (formal) loop algebra $\mathfrak{p}_M = \mathfrak{g} \otimes M$ according to powers to s because the inclusion $\bigoplus_i \mathfrak{p} \otimes s^i \subseteq \mathfrak{p}_M = \mathfrak{p} \otimes k((s))$ is strict. But the subalgebra $\bigoplus_i \mathfrak{p} \otimes s^i$, called the **polynomial loop algebra**, is dense in \mathfrak{p}_E , and we can directly define the grading on it. Indeed, polynomial loop algebras are a replacement for formal loop algebras in the representation theory literature [Lep85, KP85, BK04].

Definition 3.9: For an indeterminate s over k, denote the polynomial loop algebra by $l_{k[s^{\pm 1}]}$ with \mathbb{Z} -grading defined by

$$\mathfrak{l}_{k[s^{\pm 1}],i} = \mathfrak{l} \otimes s^{i}$$

and Lie bracket induced by the bracket in $\mathfrak{l}_{k((s))}$, i.e., $[X \otimes f, Y \otimes g] = [X, Y] \otimes fg$.

The previous computations in 3.7 on formal loop algebras also hold for polynomial loop algebras as below. Suppose G, σ is as in 3.7.

- 1. The Galois group Γ preserves $k[u^{\pm 1}] \subseteq E$. The fixed point algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]}^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma \times \nu^{-1})}$ is $\bigoplus_i \mathfrak{g}_i \otimes u^i$.
- 2. For any Z-graded subalgebra $\mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$, the image of \mathfrak{p} under the map $\mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ is a Z-graded subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}_E . But $\mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ does **not** preserve the grading, for example the image of the zero-degree part $\mathfrak{g} \otimes t^0$ can have components in many different degrees.
- 3. The subalgebra g_{k[t]} ⊆ g_{k[u^{±1}]} has closure g_{O_F} in g_F where g_{O_F} = LieL⁺G is the Lie algebra positive loop group of the parahoric group scheme G_{O_F} associated to the hyperspecial parahoric subgroup G(O_F) ⊆ G(F). We will use the subalgebra g_{k[t]} to compute the closure of maximal tori T ⊆ G_F in G_{O_F}.

Definition 3.10: Let $H \subseteq G$ be a maximal torus and $B \subseteq G$ a Borel subgroup, with Lie algebras \mathfrak{h} and \mathfrak{b} , respectively. The (polynomial) standard Iwahori subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ is the \mathbb{Z} graded subalgebra

$$I(\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]}) \coloneqq \mathfrak{b} \otimes t^0 \oplus \bigoplus_{i>0} \mathfrak{g} \otimes t^i$$

with grading defined by

$$I(\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]})_i = 0 \text{ for } i < 0$$

$$I(\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]})_{0} = \mathfrak{b} \otimes t^{0}$$
$$I(\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]})_{i} = \mathfrak{g} \otimes t^{i} \text{ for } i > 0.$$

105

Remark 3.6: The closure of $I(\mathfrak{g}_{R_F})$ in \mathfrak{g}_F is $\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{I}$ where \mathcal{I} is the smooth integral model of G_F corresponding to the standard Iwahori subgroup of G(F). We have that

$$\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{I} = \mathfrak{b} \otimes t^0 \oplus \prod_{i>0} \mathfrak{g} \otimes t^i$$

is the preimage of \mathfrak{b} under the reduction map $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F} \to \mathfrak{g}$ given by $t \mapsto 0$, since the corresponding statement at the level of groups is true for $L^+\mathcal{I}$ at the level of groups [Zhu17, ex 1.2.9]. Therefore

$$I(\mathfrak{g}_{R_F}) = \operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{I} \cap \mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]}$$

and it $I(\mathfrak{g}_{k[u^{\pm 1}]})$ is also the preimage of \mathfrak{b} under the reduction map $\mathfrak{g}_{k[u]} \to \mathfrak{g}$.

Suppose G is simple. Suppose $H \subseteq G$ is a maximal torus and $B \subseteq G$ is a Borel subgroup containing G. Let

$$\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{g}^-\oplus\mathfrak{h}\oplus\mathfrak{g}^+$$

be the induced Cartan decomposition, where $\mathfrak{h} = \text{Lie}H$ and $\mathfrak{b} := \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}^+ = \text{Lie}B$. So \mathfrak{g}^+ , resp. \mathfrak{g}^- , is the sum of the root spaces of the positive roots, resp. negative roots and $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{g}_0$ is the weight space for the zero vector $\mathbf{0} \in \mathfrak{h}^{\vee}$. Let $\Psi = \Psi(G, H)$ be the root system of G relative to H.

Definition 3.11: Suppose G is simple. Let σ be a finite order inner automorphism of G of the form $\exp(\lambda)$ of 3.7 together with maximal torus $H \subseteq G_{ad}$ and Borel subgroup B containing H. The **refined eigenspace grading** on \mathfrak{g} to be the finitely supported \mathbb{Z} -grading defined by

$$\mathfrak{g}_i=\oplus_{lpha\in\Psi\cup\{\mathbf{0}\}:\langlelpha,m\lambda
angle=i}\mathfrak{g}_{lpha}$$

It refines the **eigenspace grading** of $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}}$ in the sense that $\mathfrak{g}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}}$.

The subalgebras \mathfrak{g}^- and \mathfrak{g}^+ are graded subalgebra for both gradings. Furthermore, since $m\lambda$ is dominant, i.e., a positive combination of fundamental coweights, the refined eigenspace grading on \mathfrak{g}^+ , resp. \mathfrak{g}^- , is supported in positive, resp. negative degrees. We have the following about the relationship between the eigenspace grading on $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^+$ and \mathfrak{g}^- :

$$\mathfrak{g}_{<0} = \mathfrak{g}_{<0}^ \mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{g}_0^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0^+$$
 $\mathfrak{g}_{>0} = \mathfrak{g}_{>0}^+.$

The motivation for the notion of a homogeneous conjugacy class comes from the following more detailed relationship between the eigenspace grading and refined eigenspace grading, which depends on the value of Kac label s_0 of the affine vertex.

Lemma 3.8: Suppose G is simple with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and $\sigma \in G_{ad}, \lambda \in \mathcal{A}$ be of the form in 3.7 together with the choice of maximal torus $H \subseteq G_{ad}$ containing σ and Borel subgroup B containing H. Then

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} = \mathfrak{g}_{i-m}^- \oplus \mathfrak{g}_i^+ \text{ for } \overline{i} \neq 0$$

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\overline{0}} = \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^- \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_m^+ = \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^- \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0^+ \oplus \mathfrak{g}_m^+$$

where \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^- and \mathfrak{g}_m^+ are both nontrivial iff $s_0 = 0$.

PROOF: Let $\Psi = \Psi^+ \sqcup \Psi^-$ be the induced decomposition of the roots of $(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{h})$ into the positive roots Ψ^+ and negative roots Ψ^- . Let $\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_d$ be the set of simple roots and θ be the highest root. Since $m\lambda$ is dominant, for every $\alpha \in \Psi$, $\langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle \geq 0$ iff $\alpha \in \Psi^+$ and $\langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle \leq 0$ iff $\alpha \in \Psi^-$ and $\langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle$ attains its maximum, resp. minimum, value on θ , resp. $-\theta$. By the relations

$$m\lambda = s_1\omega_1^{\vee} + \dots + s_d\omega_d^{\vee}$$

$$\theta = a_1 \alpha_1 + \dots + s_d \alpha_d$$

 $s_0 + s_1 a_1 + \dots + s_d a_d = m$ where $s_i \ge 0$

we have

$$\langle m\lambda, \theta \rangle = s_1 a_1 + \dots + s_d a_d \le m$$

with equality holding iff the Kac co-ordinate s_0 of σ at the affine vertex equals 0. This occurs iff σ is homogeneous. Therefore for all $\alpha \in \Psi$,

$$-m \le \langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle \le m$$
$$\langle m\lambda, \Psi^+ \rangle \ge 0$$
$$\langle m\lambda, \Psi^- \rangle \le 0.$$

The result follows.

The following computes the image of the standard Iwahori subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ and the subalgebra $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t]}$ under the automorphisms $u^{m\lambda}$ of \mathfrak{g}_E the form described in 3.7.

Theorem 3.9: Suppose G is simple with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and $\sigma \in G_{ad}, \lambda \in \mathcal{A}$ be of the form in 3.7 together with the choice of maximal torus $H \subseteq G_{ad}$ containing σ and Borel subgroup B containing H. Let $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_i$ be the eigenspace grading for σ and $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_i$ be the refined eigenspace grading for σ . We have:

1. The subalgebra $I' := \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(I(\mathfrak{g}_F))$ of $\mathfrak{g}_E^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma \times \nu^{-1})}$ with \mathbb{Z} -grading induced by the grading on \mathfrak{g}_E has graded components described as follows:

$$I'_{i} = 0 \ for \ i < 0$$

$$\begin{split} I'_0 &= (\mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0^+ \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^-) \otimes u^0 \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^0 \\ I'_i &= \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} \otimes u^i \text{ for } i > 0. \end{split}$$

2. The image $\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t]} \coloneqq \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}_{k[t]})$ of $\mathfrak{g}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma \times \nu^{-1})}_{E}$ with \mathbb{Z} -grading induced by the

grading on \mathfrak{g}_E is described as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{g}'_{k[t],i} &= \mathbf{g}_i^- \otimes u^i \text{ for } i < 0 \\ \\ \mathbf{g}'_{k[t],0} &= (\mathbf{g}_0 \oplus \mathbf{g}_{-m}^-) \otimes u^0 \\ \\ \\ \mathbf{g}'_{k[t],i} &= \mathbf{g}_{\bar{i}} \otimes u^i \text{ for } i > 0. \end{split}$$

PROOF: Apply the computation of the map $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ in the proof of 3.6 and the relationship between the eigenspace grading and refined eigenspace grading 3.8. We obtain that for each i, $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g} \otimes u^i)$ is supported in degrees $i - m, \dots, i + m$ and

$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{h}\otimes u^{i}) = \mathfrak{h}\otimes u^{i}$$
$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}^{+}\otimes u^{i}) = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{m} \mathfrak{g}_{j}^{+}\otimes u^{i+j}$$
$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}^{-}\otimes u^{i}) = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{m} \mathfrak{g}_{j}^{-}\otimes u^{i-j}$$

Applying these observations allows us to compute I' and $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F}'$ directly as follows.

1. Since $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(I(\mathfrak{g}_F)_0) = \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}_{\geq 0} \otimes u^0)$ is supported in degrees $0, \dots, m$ and for i > 0, $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(I(\mathfrak{g}_F)_{im})$ is supported in degrees $i \geq 0$, we have

$$I'_i = 0$$
 for $i < 0$.

The degree 0 part of I' must lie in the image of the degrees 0, m part of $I(\mathfrak{g}_F)$ since for $i \geq 2$, the support of $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(I(\mathfrak{g}_F)_{im})$ lies in degrees ≥ 1 . We find

$$I'_{0} = \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(I(\mathfrak{g}_{F})_{0} \otimes u^{0} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^{-} \otimes u^{m})$$
$$= (\mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{0}^{+} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^{-}) \otimes u^{0} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^{0}$$

as desired. By a similar reasoning, for $i \ge 1$, the degree *im* part of I' lies in the image

of the degrees (i-1)m, im, (i+1)m part of $I(\mathfrak{g}_F)$. Hence for such i,

$$I'_{im} = \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}_m^+ \otimes u^{(i-1)m} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0 \otimes u^{im} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^- \otimes u^{(i+1)m})$$
$$= \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^{im}.$$

Now let $j = 1, \dots, m-1$ and $i \ge 0$. The degree im + j part of I' lies in the image of the degree im, (i+1)m part of $I(\mathfrak{g}_F)$. For such i, j

$$I'_{im+j} = \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}_j^+ \otimes u^{im} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{j-m}^- \otimes u^{(i+1)m})$$
$$= \mathfrak{g}_{\overline{i}} \otimes u^{im+j}.$$

This completes the description for all the graded pieces of I'.

2. The computation for $\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t]}$ is similar. For i < 0, $\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t],i}$ must lie in the image under $\mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t],0}$, which gives us for such i,

$$\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t],i} = \mathfrak{g}_i^- \otimes u^i$$

as desired. Next, $\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t],0}$ must lie in the image of the degree 0, m part of $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t]}$, which gives us

$$\mathfrak{g}_{k[t],0} = \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{g}_0 \otimes u^0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^- \otimes u^{-1}) = (\mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-m}^-) \otimes u^0$$

as desired. Finally, the case for $\mathfrak{g}'_{k[t],i}$ for i > 0 is identical to that of I'_i because for such i, $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t],i} = I(\mathfrak{g}_F)_i$. The result follows.

We now state the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.10: Suppose G is simply connected (not necessarily simple). Let $c \in [W]$ be a conjugacy class, $w \in c$ a representative, and $M = Z_G(T^{w,0})$ the principal Levi.

Then for each order m lift σ of w in M_{ad} , there exists a torus \mathcal{T} of type c in G_F , and a choice of maximal torus $H \subseteq M$ (different from T) and Borel subgroup $B \subseteq M$ containing H, such that 1. For any standard Parahoric group scheme \mathcal{P} of M_F , the Zariski closure of \mathcal{T} in \mathcal{P} is an intermediate integral model $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$ containing the connected Néron model $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

2. Furthermore, there exists a standard parahoric group scheme $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ of M_F such that the closure of \mathcal{T} in $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is the full Néron model.

3. If furthermore c is homogeneous, then σ can be chosen so that $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M) = M_{\mathcal{O}_F} \subseteq G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ is the canonical standard hyperspecial parahoric group scheme of M_F .

Definition 3.12: The maximal torus \mathcal{T} associated to the lift σ of $w \in W$ is called a **principal maximal torus of type** [w] (it is not unique with respect to [w] or even w, but it is uniquely defined by σ) and the parahoric group scheme $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is called the **principal** parahoric associated to σ , or a principal parahoric associated to [w] or w. Put $P(\sigma, M) = \mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ and call it the **principal parahoric subgroup**.

The proof occupies the remainder of this subsection. We first quickly define the principal maximal torus and the principal parahoric and then show that they satisfy the required properties.

For the remainder of this section, suppose G is simply connected, let $c \in W$, $w \in c$, $M = M_w$ be the principal Levi, and $\sigma \in M_{ad}$ be a finite order lift of order m. Let $H \subseteq G_{ad}$ be a maximal torus and $B \subseteq G_{ad}$ be a Borel subgroup containing H such that $\sigma \in H$ is $\exp \lambda$ for some $\lambda \in \mathcal{A}(G_{ad}, B, H)$, the fundamental alcove. Let E/F be the degree m extension with uniformizer $u \in E$ with $u^m = t$ and $\nu \in \Gamma := \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ a chosen generator and ζ a primitive mth root of unity such that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$.

A principal maximal torus \mathcal{T} of type c together with its embedding in M_F is defined to be

$$\mathcal{T} \coloneqq \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(T \times_k E)^{w \times \nu^{-1}}$$
$$\hookrightarrow \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(M \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} \stackrel{\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})}{\to} M_F$$

where the element $u^{m\lambda} \in M_E$ is as in 3.7, where it was shown that $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ is an isomorphism. This is identical to the step of the proof 3.5 mapping a conjugacy class of W to conjugacy classes of maximal tori in a reductive group, except now the map $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ is given explicitly. The principal parahoric group scheme is defined as follows. According to [Con14, 6.5.2.IV], the derived group of a Levi subgroup of a complex simply connected group is simply connected. Therefore M has simply connected derived subgroup. Therefore by 3.1 $\mathcal{P} := \operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_F}(M \times \mathcal{O}_E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$ has connected \mathcal{O}_F -points and is a parahoric group scheme of $\operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(M \times_k E)^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$. Since $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ is an isomorphism, $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{O}_E)) \subseteq M(F)$ is a parahoric subgroup of M(F). Define the principal parahoric group scheme $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ to be the parahoric group scheme corresponding to $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})(\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{O}_E))$. By the extension principle, $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ extends to a unique isomorphism $\overline{\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})} : \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ over \mathcal{O}_F . When c is homogeneous, i.e., if $c \in W$ is a homogeneous class and σ is an arbitrary lift of any $w \in c$, we show in 3.11 below that property (2) of 3.10 will still hold if we redefine $\mathcal{P}(c, M) := M_{\mathcal{O}_F}$.

It remains to show that for these definitions of \mathcal{T} and $P(\sigma, M)$, the 3 conditions of 3.10 are satisfied. This is done in the following 3 lemmas. Let $\mathfrak{m} = \text{Lie}M$ and $\mathfrak{t} = \text{Lie}T$.

To set notation, let $\mathfrak{t} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{t}_i$ be the eigenspace decomposition for $\mathrm{ad}(w)$ acting on \mathfrak{t} . Let $M_{\mathrm{ad}} = \prod M_i$ be a decomposition into simple components M_i and $\mathfrak{m}_i = \mathrm{Lie} M_i$. We have

$$\mathfrak{m}=\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0}}\bigoplus\mathfrak{m}_i$$

and write $\sigma = \prod \sigma_i$ where $\sigma_i \in M_i$. Then each $\operatorname{ad}(\sigma_i)$ acts separately on \mathfrak{m}_i and trivially on $\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0}}$. The triple $(M_{\operatorname{ad}}, T, B)$ induces by intersection triples (M_i, T_i, B_i) where $T_i \subseteq M_i$ is a maximal torus and $T_i \subseteq B_i \subseteq M_i$ is a Borel subgroup. Let $\lambda = \prod \lambda_i$ where $\lambda_i \in \mathcal{A}(M_i, T_i, B_i)$. Then $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda}) = \oplus \operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda_i})$.

Lemma 3.9: For the standard Parahoric group scheme \mathcal{P} of M_F , the Zariski closure of \mathcal{T} in \mathcal{P} is an intermediate integral model $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$ containing the connected Néron model $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$.

PROOF: Let $I(M_F)$ be the standard Iwahori subgroup of M_F relative to T, B. Since it is contained in every standard parahoric subgroup of M_F , it suffices to check $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(\mathcal{O}_F) = L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(k) \subseteq I(M_F) = LM_F(k)$. Since $L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is connected by properties of the Kottwitz homomorphism, it suffices to check the containment on Lie algebras.

We have that $\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ is the image of $\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}_E}^{\operatorname{ad}(w \times \nu^{-1})}$ under $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ in \mathfrak{m}_F . Since $\mathfrak{t}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(w \times \nu^{-1})}$ is dense in $\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$, it suffices to show $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ sends $\mathfrak{t}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(w \times \nu^{-1})}$ to the polynomial standard Iwahori subalgebra $I(\mathfrak{m}_F)$ of \mathfrak{m}_F . We have a decomposition

$$I(\mathfrak{m}_F) = \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0},k[t]} \bigoplus I(\mathfrak{m}_{i,F}).$$

The map $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ acts trivially on $\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0},k[t]}$, which already lies in $I(\mathfrak{m}_F)$. It then suffices to show that each $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda_i})$ sends $\mathfrak{t}_{i,k[t]}^{\operatorname{ad}(w\times\nu^{-1})}$ to $I(\mathfrak{m}_{i,F})$, or equivalently $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda_i})$ sends $I(\mathfrak{m}_{i,F})$ to a subalgebra containing $\mathfrak{t}_{i,k[t]}^{\operatorname{ad}(w\times\nu^{-1})}$.

Now fix i and for convenience put $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{m}_i$, $\mathfrak{l} = \mathfrak{t}_i$. We have as in the proof of 3.7,

$$\mathfrak{l}_{k[t]}^{\mathrm{ad}(w\times\nu^{-1})} = \bigoplus_{i\geq 0}\mathfrak{l}_{\overline{i}}\otimes u^{i}$$

while for j > 0,

$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda_i})(I(\mathfrak{m}_{i,F}))_j = \mathfrak{p}_{\overline{j}} \otimes u^i.$$

Hence for j > 0, $\mathfrak{l}_{k[t],j}^{\mathrm{ad}(w \times \nu^{-1})} \subseteq \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\lambda_i})(I(\mathfrak{m}_{i,F}))_j$. It remains to show the same for the case j = 0. This follows from the fact that

$$\mathfrak{l}_{\overline{0}} = 0$$

because w is elliptic when considered as an element of $W(M_{ad}, T_{ad}) \subseteq W$, as explained in the classification 3.6 of conjugacy classes of W by parabolic induction.

The result follows.

Lemma 3.10: The closure of \mathcal{T} in $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is the full Néron model \mathcal{T}^{\flat} of \mathcal{T} , i.e., by the closure principle it suffices to show $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) = P(\sigma, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$.

PROOF: By the construction of the Néron model, we have \mathcal{T}^{\flat} is the image under $\overline{\mathrm{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})}$ of

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F}(T \times_k \mathcal{O}_E)^{w \times \nu^{-1}}.$$

On the other hand, by definition $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is the image of $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ of

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{O}_F}(M \times_k \mathcal{O}_E)^{w \times \nu^{-1}}.$$

Hence $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq P(\sigma, M)$. We have that $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq \mathcal{T}(F)$ is automatic. The fact that the containment $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq P(\sigma, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$ is actually equality follows from the fact that $P(\sigma, M)$ bounded in M(F) while $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is the maximal bounded subgroup of $\mathcal{T}(F)$.

Lemma 3.11: If $\sigma \in M_{ad}$ is homogeneous, we have

$$P(\sigma, M) \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F)$$

and we still have $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) = M(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$. Consequently by the closure principal, $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ can be replaced with $M_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ and 3.9 will still hold.

PROOF: First we claim that showing $P(\sigma, M) \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is sufficient. We have already shown in 3.10 $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) = P(\sigma, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$, hence $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$. The containment is then an equality because $M(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is also bounded in M(F) while $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ is the maximal bounded subgroup of $\mathcal{T}(F)$.

To show $L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)(k) = P(\sigma, M) \subseteq M(\mathcal{O}_F) = L^+M(k)$, it suffices to check the containment on Lie algebras $\operatorname{Lie} L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M) \subseteq \operatorname{Lie} L^+M$ since $L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is connected. We have that $\operatorname{Lie} L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ is the image under $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ of $\operatorname{Lie} L^+M_{\mathcal{O}_E}^{\sigma\times\nu^{-1}}$. Since $\mathfrak{m}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma\times\nu^{-1})}$ is dense in $\operatorname{Lie} L^+M_{\mathcal{O}_E}^{\sigma\times\nu^{-1}}$, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})(\mathfrak{m}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma\times\nu^{-1})}) \subseteq \mathfrak{m}_{k[u]}$, or equivalently $\mathfrak{m}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma\times\nu^{-1})} \subseteq \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})(\mathfrak{m}_{k[t]})$. We have

$$\mathfrak{m}_{k[t]} = \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0},k[t]} \bigoplus \mathfrak{m}_{i,k[t]}$$

$$\mathfrak{m}_{k[u]}^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}} = \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0}, k[u]}^{\mathrm{ad}(1 \times \nu^{-1})} \bigoplus \mathfrak{m}_{i, k[u]}^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma_i \times \nu^{-1})} = \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0}, k[t]} \bigoplus \mathfrak{m}_{i, k[u]}^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma_i \times \nu^{-1})}.$$

Since $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda})$ acts trivially on $\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{0},k[t]}$, it suffices to show that $\mathfrak{m}_{i,k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(\sigma_i \times \nu^{-1})} \subseteq \operatorname{ad}(u^{m\lambda_i})(\mathfrak{m}_{i,k[t]})$. Fix *i* and for convenience put $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{m}_i$ for the simple factor and $\mu = \lambda_i$. Let $\mathfrak{p} = \bigoplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{p}_{\overline{i}}$ be the eigenspace decomposition of \mathfrak{p} for σ . We have

$$\mathfrak{m}_{i,k[u]}^{\mathrm{ad}(\sigma_i \times \nu^{-1})} = \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} \mathfrak{p}_{\overline{i}} \otimes u^i.$$

By the computation for the case of a simple Lie algebra 3.9, for i > 0

$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\kappa})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_i = \bigoplus_{i\geq 0}\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{i}}\otimes u^i.$$

Therefore it suffices to show that $\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^0 \subseteq \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\mu})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_0$. We have by 3.9,

$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\mu})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_0 = (\mathfrak{p}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{p}_{-m}^-) \otimes u^0.$$

On the other hand, by the relations between the eigenspace and refined eigenspace gradings 3.8,

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^0 = (\mathfrak{p}_m^+ \oplus \mathfrak{p}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{p}_{-m}^-) \otimes u^0.$$

Here is the crucial part where the homogeneity of σ is used. By definition $\sigma = \prod \sigma_i$ is homogeneous iff each σ_i is homogeneous. Let θ be the highest root of $\Psi(M_{ad}, B_i, T_i)$. Homogeneity of σ_i means precisely in that the Kac label of σ_i has $s_0 = 0$. From the proof of 3.8, and it holds iff the inequality $\langle m\lambda, \theta \rangle \leq m$ is strict. Since $|\langle m\lambda, \alpha \rangle|$ for $\alpha \in \Psi$ achieves its maximum at $\alpha = \theta$, it follows that $\mathfrak{p}_m^+ = \mathfrak{p}_{-m}^- = 0$. We conclude that $\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{0}} \otimes u^0 = \mathrm{ad}(u^{m\mu})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_0$.

The result follows.

Remark 3.7: In the proof of 3.11, we have shown that for $i \ge 0$

$$\mathrm{ad}(u^{m\mu})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_i = (\mathfrak{p}_{k[u]}^{\mathrm{ad}(\kappa \times \nu^{-1})})_i.$$

But it is not necessarily the case that $\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\mu})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]}) = \mathfrak{p}_{k[u]}^{\operatorname{ad}(\mu \times \nu^{-1})}$ because the right hand side has no negative graded components, while by the computation 3.9, the left hand side has for i < 0:

$$\operatorname{ad}(u^{m\kappa})(\mathfrak{p}_{k[t]})_i = \mathfrak{p}_i^- \otimes u^i.$$

3.3 The Geometric Twisted FKS Isomorphism

For this entire section, let G be a simple and simply connected algebraic group over $k = \mathbb{C}$. Sometimes we may restrict further to the case when G is type ADE. Fix a maximal torus $T \subseteq G$ and put the Weyl group W = W(G, T). Put F = k((t)) and $\mathcal{O}_F = k[[t]]$. Put $Y = X_*(T)$ and $X = X^*(T)$.

Let *B* be the normalized invariant bilinear form on \mathfrak{g} . The restriction of *B* to $Y \subseteq \mathfrak{t} = Y \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$ has the property that the length of a long coroot is $\sqrt{2}$. Since *G* is semisimple, *B* is nondegenerate. When *G* is simply-laced, i.e., type ADE, i.e., every coroot is the same length, they are all long by convention. Since *G* is simply connected, *Y* equals the coroot lattice as *G*. Therefore when *G* is type ADE, *B* is even on *Y*.

3.3.1 Affine Lie Algebras and Representations, Affine Borel-Weil Theorem, Statement of Results

Definition 3.13: The (formal) affine Lie algebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ is the one-dimensional central extension

$$0 \to \mathbb{C}K \to \hat{\mathfrak{g}_F} \to \mathfrak{g}_F \to 0$$

where K is a fixed choice of a nonzero central element and the commutator is

$$(X \otimes f, Y \otimes g) \mapsto B(X, Y) \operatorname{Res} f dg K.$$

The (polynomial) affine Lie algebra is the restriction $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ of the central extension to the polynomial loop group $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$.

By the formula for the commutator, the central extension $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ is split over $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F}$. We have that

$$\mathfrak{g}_F = \lim_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}} \mathfrak{g}_{t^i k[[t]]} = \lim_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}} \lim_{\substack{\leftarrow j \in \mathbb{N}}} \mathfrak{g}_{t^i k[t]/(t^j)}$$

is an ind-pro vector space where the Lie bracket $\mathfrak{g}_F \times \mathfrak{g}_F \to \mathfrak{g}_F$ is an ind-pro morphism of vector spaces. Taking pullback, the same is true for $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$. **Definition 3.14:** Put R = k((t)) or $R = k[t^{\pm 1}]$. A representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_R$ is a representation on a countable dimensional vector space V such that there exists an indstructure $V = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} V_i$ where

1. V_i is finite dimensional and stable under $\hat{\mathfrak{g}_R}$.

2. For each $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$, the vector space map $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{t^{j}R} \to End(V_i)$ factors through $\mathfrak{g}_{t^{j}R/(t^l)} \to End(V_i)$ for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$.

The restriction of a representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ to $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ gives a representation $V = \bigcup_i$ of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$. Conversely every representation $V = \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} V_i$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ extends uniquely to a representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$, using the fact that $\mathfrak{g}_{t^j R/(t^i)}$ is the same regardless if $R = k[t^{\pm 1}]$ or R = F.

Remark 3.8: The representation theoretic literature uses $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ in studying their representations, while the Lie algebras of the algebro-geometric objects we study are $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{F}$. Since they have the same representations, we no longer take the care to separate them in citations of the literature.

Definition 3.15: For $l \in \mathbb{C}$, the level l vacuum representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ is

$$V_l(\hat{\mathfrak{g}_F}) = \mathrm{Ind}_{\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F} \oplus \mathbb{C}K}^{\hat{\mathfrak{g}_F}} \mathbb{C}$$

where K acts by multiplication by l and $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ acts trivially. When $l \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $V_l(\mathfrak{g}_F)$ has a unique irreducible quotient [Zhu09, 0.1.1] that we call the level l integrable representation and denote by $V^l(\hat{\mathfrak{g}_F})$.

Suppose $e \in \operatorname{Gr}_G(k)$ be any point, usually taken to be the point corresponding to the identity coset of L^+G . The Picard groupoid $\operatorname{Pic}^e(\operatorname{Gr}_G)$ of line bundles rigidified at e is defined to be the Picard groupoid of pairs (\mathcal{L}, φ) where \mathcal{L} is a line bundle on Gr_G and $\varphi : e^*\mathcal{L} \cong k$ is a trivialization at e. It is known that since G is simple and simply connected, $\operatorname{Pic}^e(\operatorname{Gr}_G) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ is discreet [Zhu09, 2.4.2].

Definition 3.16: The level 1 line bundle \mathcal{L}_G or $\mathcal{O}(1)$ on Gr_G is the line bundle corresponding to the ample generator of $\operatorname{Pic}^e(\operatorname{Gr}_G)$. For any morphism of ind schemes

 $\mathcal{S} \to \mathrm{Gr}_G$, denote the restriction

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}} \coloneqq \mathcal{L}_{G}|_{\mathcal{S}}$$

line bundle on S. Now recall that LG acts on Gr_G , induced from the left action of LG on itself.

As in [Zhu17, 2.5.1], there is a well-defined central extension, called the (formal) Kac-Moody central extension

$$1 \to \mathbb{G}_m \to L\hat{G} \to LG \to 1$$

where for every k-algebra R,

$$\hat{LG}(R) = \{(g, \varphi) : g \in LG(R) \text{ and } \varphi : g^* \mathcal{L}_G \cong \mathcal{L}_G\}$$

Then \hat{LG} acts on \mathcal{L}_G and also on Gr_G by projection to LG, such that \mathcal{L}_G is an equivariant line bundle on Gr_G for \hat{LG} .

Theorem 3.11: [Zhu17, 2.5.2] and [Kum02, ch. 8] We have

$$LieLG = \hat{\mathfrak{g}_F}.$$

Therefore the (topological) dual global sections $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G^{\otimes k})^{\vee}$ is a representation of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. We have the following starting point: the affine Borel-Weil theorem, which connects the problem of the (twisted) FKS isomorphism with algebraic geometry of \mathcal{L}_G on Gr_G :

Theorem 3.12: [Zhu17, 2.5.5] and [Kum02, 8.3.12]: For every $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ there is an isomorphism of \hat{LG} -modules

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G^{\otimes k})^{\vee} \cong V^k(\hat{\mathfrak{g}_F}).$$

Remark 3.9: The original formulation in [Kum02, 8.3.12] is a priori different from

the one above, given in terms of the theory of Kac-Moody groups, more closely related to $\mathfrak{g}_{k[t^{\pm 1}]}$ than \mathfrak{g}_{F} , and their flag varieties. However, the two notions of flag varieties for affine Kac-Moody groups and affine flag varieties for formal loop groups are shown to coincide in [PR08].

Let us now formally state our results. The original geometric FKS isomorphism of [Zhu09, 0.2.2] is that the dual restriction map $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}_T)^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is an isomorphism. The question asked in [Zhu09, 0.3.3] is whether or not the same is true when Gr_T is replaced by an affine Springer fiber, something which Gr_T is one example of. We do not investigate affine Springer fibers, but instead we answer the question for an alternative subspace that replaces the affine Springer fiber. To be precise, construct subspaces $\mathcal{S}(\sigma) \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$ for each lift σ of an element of a conjugacy class $c \in [W]$ such that $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is an isomorphism.

Let $c \in [W]$, $w \in c$ and $M = Z_G(T^{w,0})$ be the principal Levi, and $\sigma \in M$ a lift of w that is finite order with order m. Let $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ be the principal representative maximal torus of type c and $\mathcal{P}(c, M)$ the principal parahoric group scheme containing \mathcal{T}^{\flat} from 3.9. So in particular, we set by definition when c is homogeneous 3.7 that $\mathcal{P}(c, M) = M_{\mathcal{O}_F}$. By 3.9 there is a choice of Borel subgroup $B_M \subseteq M$ (not to be confused with the bilinear form B) such that we have that $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq I(M_F, B_M)$ is the Iwahori subgroup of M_F relative to B_M . Let $\mathcal{I}(M_F, B_M)$ be the corresponding Iwahori group scheme of M_F . Since

$$\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{I}(M_F, B_M) = \operatorname{Lie} B_M \otimes t^0 \bigoplus_{i \ge 1} \mathfrak{m} \otimes t^i \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F},$$

we have that $I(M_F, B_M) \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$. Therefore $\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$.

Definition 3.17: For a maximal torus $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq G_F$, define $\mathcal{Z}^{\#}$ to be the closure of \mathcal{Z} in $G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$. So by the closure principle, \mathcal{Z}^{\sharp} is characterized by the property that

$$\mathcal{Z}^{\sharp}(\mathcal{O}_F) = G(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap \mathcal{Z}(F)$$

and when $\mathcal{Z}^{\flat,0}(\mathcal{O}_F) \subseteq G(\mathcal{O}_F)$, for example if \mathcal{Z} is a principal maximal torus of type

119

 $c \in W$, then \mathcal{Z}^{\sharp} is an intermediate integral model of \mathcal{Z} .

By the extension principle for smooth integral models, there is an induced canonical map $\mathcal{T}^{\sharp} \to G_{\mathcal{O}_F}$ over \mathcal{O}_F . Then the inclusion $L\mathcal{T} \to LG$ induces an inclusion of flag varieties $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}_G$ as the scheme theoretic image.

Definition 3.18: For c, w, σ as above, the principal subspace

$$\mathcal{S}(\sigma) \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$$

is the image of the orbit

$$\mathcal{O} \coloneqq L\mathcal{T}.L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M) \subseteq LG$$

of $L\mathcal{T}$ under the **right** action of $L^+\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ on LG defined by the composition of the inclusions $L^+\mathcal{P}(c, M) \hookrightarrow LM \hookrightarrow LG$, i.e., it is the fpqc quotient

$$S(\sigma) = [\mathcal{O}/(L^+G \cap \mathcal{O})] \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G.$$

Remark 3.10: If c is a homogeneous conjugacy class, then $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M) = M_{\mathcal{O}_F}, \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} = \mathcal{T}^{\flat}$ and

$$\mathcal{S}(\sigma) = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$$

simplifies to the image of $L\mathcal{T}$ in Gr_G .

Observe that since $\mathcal{T}^{\flat}(\mathcal{O}_F) = P(\sigma, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$ as in the proof of 3.10, the map $L\mathcal{T} \to LM$ induces a natural inclusion $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}(\sigma)$. So $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ is stable under the left action of $L\mathcal{T}$. For any subspace stable under the left action of $L\mathcal{T}$, the space of dual sections of the restriction of \mathcal{L}_G has an action of the restriction $\hat{L}\mathcal{T}$ of $\hat{L}G$ to $L\mathcal{T}$. This applies to $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ and $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$.

Our main result of this section is:

Theorem 3.13: Suppose G is not necessarily of type ADE but still simple and simply

connected. Consider the maps of $L\mathcal{T}$ modules

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}.$$

Then the first map is nonzero and the second map is injective.

The proof is given in the next subsection. This gives the geometric twisted FKS isomorphism, but conditional on the representation-theoretic result of [KP85, 11]:

Corollary 3.1: Using the main theorem [KP85, 11] and the Borel-Weil theorem that if G is furthermore type ADE then $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee} \cong V^{1}(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{F})$ is irreducible for $\hat{LT} \subseteq \hat{LG}$, we conclude that the map

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

is an isomorphism.

Even though we do not give fully geometric proof, this already verifies that the principal subspace $S(\sigma)$ is a correct candidate for a geometric realization of the twisted FKS isomorphism, where before it was not known what subspaces to consider and it was only conjectured that an affine Springer fiber is another possible candidate. We give a fully geometric proof when c is a homogeneous conjugacy class in 3.4.

It follows from the following statement that we prove in the next section 3.4 by deducing from the split case of $c = [1], \sigma = 1$ and $\mathcal{T} = T_F$ by cohomology and base change and global methods. For $\mu \in Y = \text{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_m, T)$ evaluate μ on F-points and let s_{μ} be the image in Gr_G of the element $\mu(t) \in G(F)$. Let $\text{Gr}_{G,\mu} \subseteq \text{Gr}_G$ be the left L^+G orbit of $s_{\mu} \in \text{Gr}_G$ and $\overline{\text{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$. Such an orbit closure is called a **Schubert Variety**. Then we have by [Zhu09, 2.3.5] that

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}, \mathcal{L}_{\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}})^{\vee}.$$

We prove in the next section 3.4:

Theorem 3.14: Suppose G is type ADE. Assume the nontrivial premise that the map

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

is injective. (By 3.13 this holds when $S(\sigma) = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$, such as when c is homogeneous). Then there exists a collection of subspaces $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ for $\mu \in Y$ such that for each $\mu \in Y$,

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu},\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G,\mu}},\mathcal{L}_{\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G,\mu}}})^{\vee}$$

is an isomorphism and

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}, \mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}, \mu}})^{\vee}.$$

We conclude that

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\approx} \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

is also surjective (i.e., an isomorphism using 3.13) and both maps

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

are isomorphisms.

If such a statement is true for all the conjugacy classes c, for some lift σ of some element $w \in c$ and the principal maximal tori \mathcal{T} , it will provide **two** candidate subspaces for the geometric twisted FKS isomorphism, namely both $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ and $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$. The two spaces are the same when c is homogeneous, although from the examples discussed in 3.2.3, the homogeneous conjugacy classes are a significant number in type E and are all the classes when w lies in a parabolic subgroup of type A.

We are able to provide an exact numerical condition on the number of torsion points of $\pi_0 \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$ that would imply $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is injective, namely:

Theorem 3.15: If $\pi_0 \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}, \text{tor}} = d(c)$, where d(c) is the defect of c as defined 2.34 (a quantity depending only on G and c) then $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\text{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is injective.

This is explained in the next section. If we can find $w \in c$ and a lift σ of w such that $\pi_0 \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}, \text{tor}} = d(c)$, this would also give a full geometric proof of the geometric twisted FKS isomorphism without relying on the representation theoretic result of [KP85, 11]. We leave this as an open problem. Computer assisted computations have shown it to be true in type D_6 , D_8 , but they are omitted from this thesis.

It gives the following more elegant formulation of the geometric FKS isomorphism, which we presently only know for homogeneous conjugacy classes:

Proposition 3.1: (this is a conjecture we propose, not proven) Suppose G is simple, simply connected, and simply laced. For an arbitrary conjugacy class of maximal tori in G_F , there exists a representative \mathcal{T} such that the inclusion of the image of $L\mathcal{T}$ in Gr_G induces an isomorphism on global sections of \mathcal{L}_G .

Remark 3.11: We will show that \hat{LT} is a Heisenberg central extension in the sense of 2.19. Fix a splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$, which exists by 2.7, although we show \hat{LG} actually splits over L^+G and choose a compatible splitting for $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ by restriction from $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \hookrightarrow L^+G$. The principal part of the vacuum space

$$U = (\Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{\mathrm{G}}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee})^{L^{+}\mathcal{T}^{\flat, 0}, T^{w, 0}}$$

determines $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ as a representation of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ an a priori is only known to be representation of the principal finite Heisenberg group $\hat{\Sigma} \subseteq L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$, from our study of the representation theory of $L\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ 2.2.6. However, we find furthermore that U also is a minuscule representation an algebraic group, M^{σ} . This is a priori consistent with the remark [KP85, 15.E] which states that U is a trivial or minuscule representation of the larger group G^{σ} , when σ is chosen to be some specific lift of w. However, the set of possible dimensions of minuscule representation of G^{σ} should not be the same as the set of possible dimensions of minuscule representations of M^{σ} , and we think M^{σ} is the correct group to consider.

3.3.2 **Proof of Main Theorem**

Preserve all setups and notation of the previous section.

Let $B_M \subseteq M$ be the choice of Borel subgroup containing σ given by 3.7. Extend B_M to a Borel subgroup B_G of G. This is not to be confused with the bilinear form B. For H = M or G, let $I_H \subseteq H(F)$ be the corresponding standard Iwahori subgroup of H(F) and \mathcal{I}_H the corresponding Iwahori group scheme for H_F . By a standard parahoric subgroup, we mean one containing this chosen standard Iwahori subgroup. Remark that neither B_M nor B_G necessarily contain T. We have $I_M = I_G \cap M(F)$.

The main feature of our proof is to pull back \mathcal{L} to the full flag variety $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_G}$ and consider the preimage of $\mathcal{S}(c)$ in $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_G}$.

Let us first prove two basic lemmas.

Lemma 3.12: There exist a splitting $L^+G \to L\hat{G}$.

PROOF: We have $\operatorname{Lie} L^+G = \mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F} = \mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{t\mathcal{O}_F}$ as Lie algebras where $\mathfrak{g}_{t\mathcal{O}_F}$ is prounipotent. Since G is simply connected, this upgrades to an isomorphism $L^+G \cong G \times L^{++}G$. By the formula 3.7, $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$ is split over $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathcal{O}_F}$. Since \mathfrak{g} is simple and $\mathfrak{g}_{t\mathcal{O}_F}$ is pro-unipotent, we conclude that $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathcal{O}_F} \cong \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{t\mathcal{O}_F}$. Therefore $\hat{L}G$ is isogeneous to $\mathbb{G}_m \times G \times L^{++}G$. Since $L^{++}G$ and G are both simply-connected, the kernel of an isogeny $\mathbb{G}_m \times G \times L^{++}G \to \hat{L}G$ must lie in \mathbb{G}_m . Any isogeny from \mathbb{G}_m is \mathbb{G}_m itself, by a quotient by some group of rth roots of unity for some r. We conclude that $\hat{L}G \cong \mathbb{G}_m \times G \times L^{++}G$ and the result follows.

For the remainder of this subsection, fix a choice of splitting $L^+G \to \hat{LG}$. This restricts by $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \hookrightarrow L^+G$ to a choice of splitting $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{LT}$. Additionally fix the choice of section $s_u : Y_\Gamma \to L\mathcal{T}$ for the Kottwitz homomorphism 2.6, giving us the full structure theory and representation theory of \hat{LT} in 2.2.5 and 2.2.6.

Definition 3.19: Set

$$\hat{\mathfrak{t}_F(\sigma)} \coloneqq \mathrm{Lie}L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}.$$

The second basic lemma:

Lemma 3.13: The central extension \hat{LT} is a Heisenberg central extension in the sense of 2.19. Here $\mathcal{T} \subseteq G_F$ can be any maximal torus, not necessarily a principal maximal torus.

PROOF: By [BD01, 12.10], there exists a central extension \mathcal{E} of G by $\mathbf{K}_{2,F}$ such that $\hat{LG}(k) = \mathcal{E}(F)^{\text{tame}_{F}}$. In fact \mathcal{E} is determined by the bilinear form B on Y. It follows that

$$\hat{L\mathcal{T}}(k) = \mathcal{E}|_{\mathcal{T}}(F)^{\operatorname{tame}_F}.$$

It remains to check the other condition that \hat{LT} needs to satisfy in the definition 2.19, namely that $\hat{\mathfrak{t}_F}(\sigma)$ is a Heisenberg Lie algebra, i.e., the center is one dimensional and equals the commutator. To this end, it suffices to check any nonzero multiple of $\hat{\mathfrak{t}_F}(\sigma)$ as a central extension is a Heisenberg Lie algebra. For a central extension $\hat{\mathfrak{l}}$ of a Lie algebra by \mathbb{C} , denote the *m*th multiple by $m \cdot \hat{\mathfrak{l}}$. Let E/F be a degree *m* extension such that \mathcal{T}_E is split and $\nu \in \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ a generator and ζ a chosen primitive *m*th root of unity so that $\nu(u)/u = \zeta$. Recall \mathcal{T} is the image of

$$\mathcal{Z} \coloneqq \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(T \times_k E)^{w \times \nu^{-1}} \subseteq \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}G_E$$

under $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ where λ is the Kac labels of σ as in the proof of 3.10, where $u^{-m\lambda} \in G(E)$. Let $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_E$ be the affine Lie algebra as in 3.13 with F replaced with E. Let $\mathfrak{t} = \bigoplus_{\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{i}}$ is the eigenspace decomposition of \mathfrak{t} for w. Then the restriction of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_E$ to $\mathfrak{g}_F \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{g}_E$ is $m \cdot \hat{\mathfrak{g}}_F$. The adjoint action by the commutator LG on \hat{LG} is an action by automorphisms as \mathbb{G}_m -central extensions. Therefore $m \cdot \mathfrak{t}_F(\sigma)$ is isomorphic to the restriction of $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_E$ to

$$\mathrm{Lie}L^{++,-}\mathcal{Z}^{\flat,0} = \oplus_{\overline{i}\neq 0}\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{i}}\otimes u^{i}$$

where the computation of $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-} \mathcal{Z}^{\flat,0}$ is as in the proof of 3.6. By the formula 3.13, and the \mathfrak{g} -invariance of B, $\operatorname{Lie} L^{++,-} \mathcal{Z}^{\flat,0}$ is given by the presentation for $\overline{i}, \overline{j} \neq 0$ and $X \in \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{i}}, Y \in \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{j}},$

$$(X \otimes u^i, Y \otimes u^j) \mapsto B(X, Y) \operatorname{Res} u^i \mathrm{d} u^j K$$

$$= B(X,Y)i\delta_{i+j,0}K$$

where $1_{(-)}$ denotes the Boolean indicator symbol for the expression (-). Since B is w-invariant, for $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $X \in \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{i}}, Y \in \mathfrak{t}_{\overline{j}}$,

$$B(X,Y) = B(w.X,w.Y) = \zeta^{i+j}B(X,Y).$$

This shows that the restriction of B to $\mathbf{t}_{\overline{i}} \oplus \mathbf{t}_{\overline{j}}$ is zero unless $\overline{i+j} = \overline{0}$. Since B is also non-degenerate, the restriction of B to $\mathbf{t}_{\overline{i}} \oplus \mathbf{t}_{-\overline{i}}$ is a perfect pairing for every $\overline{i} \in \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$. This implies that the center is $\mathbb{C}K$, i.e., one dimensional and equal to the commutator. The result follows.

Remark 3.12: The argument that B restricts to a perfect pairing $\mathfrak{t}_{\overline{i}} \oplus \mathfrak{t}_{-\overline{i}} \to \mathbb{C}$ is similar to [Kac90, 8.1.a].

This shows that our results on the representation theory of \hat{LT} in 2.2.6 apply to help us understand the maps 3.13.

Since $P(\sigma, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F) = \mathcal{T}^{\flat, 0}(\mathcal{O}_F)$ and $L^+ \mathcal{P}(c, M)$ is reduced, we have $L^+ \mathcal{P}(\sigma, M) \cap L\mathcal{T} = L^+ \mathcal{T}^{\flat}$ and

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}} = \left[(L\mathcal{T}.L^{+}\mathcal{P}(c,M)) / L^{+}\mathcal{P}(\sigma,M) \right]$$

is expressed as the quotient of the orbit of $L\mathcal{T}$ under the right action of $L^+\mathcal{P}(c, M)$. Consider the quotient by the smaller space $L^+\mathcal{I}_M$

$$\mathcal{X}(\sigma) = [(L\mathcal{T}.L^+\mathcal{P}(c,M))/L^+\mathcal{I}_M].$$

We have two projection maps p, π :

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}} \stackrel{p}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{X}(\sigma) \stackrel{\pi}{\to} \mathcal{S}(\sigma).$$

Define the intersection

$$Q(\sigma, M) \coloneqq P(\sigma, M) \cap G(\mathcal{O}_F)$$

. Using $P(\sigma, M) \subseteq M(F)$, we have

$$Q(\sigma, M) = P(\sigma, M) \cap G(\mathcal{O}_F) \cap M(F)$$
$$= P(\sigma, M) \cap M(\mathcal{O}_F).$$

So $Q(\sigma, M)$ is the intersection of two standard parahoric subgroups of M_F , and therefore itself is also a standard parahoric subgroup. Let $Q(\sigma, M)$ be the corresponding parahoric group scheme of M_F over \mathcal{O}_F . Then both p, π are flat and projective with fibers isomorphic to the (projective) Schubert varieties $P(c, M)/I_M$ and P(c, M)/Q(c, M), respectively.

Lemma 3.14: The natural map is an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)} \cong \pi_* \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)}.$$

we thus obtain a natural isomorphism

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{X}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee}.$$

PROOF: The ind scheme $\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$ is ind finite type because it is a closed sub ind scheme of Gr_G . Therefore π is ind-proper because it is the pullback of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_G} \to \operatorname{Gr}_G$, which is ind-proper by [PR08, 8.e.1], by the closed embedding $\mathcal{S}(\sigma) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}_G$.

Write $S(\sigma) = \lim_{\to i} S(\sigma)_i$ as the limit of finite type closed subschemes $S(\sigma)_i$ and let $\mathcal{X}(\sigma) = \lim_{\to i} \mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i$ be the induced presentation of finite type closed subschemes $\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i$ by pullback. Then it suffices to show that the natural maps are isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)_i} \cong \pi_* \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i}.$$

This follows from the fact that $\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i \to \mathcal{S}(\sigma)_i$ is proper, flat, finite type whose geometric fibers are isomorphic to $P(\sigma, M)/Q(\sigma, M)$, which is connected and reduced, and [Vak17, ex. 28.1.I and 28.1.H]. Let $\hat{\Sigma} \subseteq \hat{LT}$ be the principal finite Heisenberg subgroup defined in 2.33 with $\Sigma = Y_{w,\text{tor}}$. The Kottwitz homomorphism $LT \to Y_w$ induces a bijection $\pi_0(L^+T^{\flat}) \to Y_{w,\text{tor}}$ because the latter is the maximal compact subgroup of Y_w . Therefore $\hat{\Sigma} \subseteq L^+T^{\flat} \subseteq L^+\mathcal{P}(\hat{\sigma}, M)$ and the subspaces $P(\sigma, M)/I_M \subseteq \mathcal{X}(\sigma)$ and $P(\sigma, M)/Q(\sigma, M) \subseteq S(\sigma)$ are both stable under the right action of Σ .

Definition 3.20: To save notation in the following proofs, put

$$P = P(\sigma, M), \mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$$
$$Q = Q(\sigma, M), \mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q}(\sigma, M).$$

Therefore the dual sections

$$\Gamma(P/Q, \mathcal{L}_{P/Q})^{\vee}$$

$$\Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})^{\vee}$$

have a natural action of $\hat{\Sigma}$.

Lemma 3.15: The dimensions of $\Gamma(P/Q, \mathcal{L}_{P/Q})^{\vee}$ and $\Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})^{\vee}$ are each a positive multiple of the defect d(c) as defined in 2.34.

PROOF: Follows from the characterization of representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$ 2.34.

Lemma 3.16: The natural map $M^{\sigma} \hookrightarrow M \hookrightarrow M(F)$ induces an isomorphism between the space P/I_M with the (finite type) full flag variety of the connected reductive group M^{σ} (connectedness of M^{σ} follows from 3.1 and [Con14, 6.5.2.IV]). Thus by the finite type Borel-Weil theorem, $\Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})^{\vee}$ is an irreducible representation of M^{σ} by $M^{\sigma} \hookrightarrow LG \hookrightarrow \hat{LG}$, and $T^{w,0} \subseteq Z(M^w)$ acts on it by a character.

Furthermore, this representation is minuscule, i.e., corresponds to a hyperspecial vertex of the Dynkin diagram of M^{σ} .

PROOF: The map $\operatorname{ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ of 3.7 identifies the Levi factor of $\operatorname{Lie} L^+ \mathcal{P}$ with $\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{0}}$, so the reductive quotient of the reduction of P at t = 0 is M^{σ} . Since I_M is the Iwahori subgroup of P, P/I_M must be full finite flag variety M^{σ}/B of M^{σ} .

Now the line bundle $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_G}}$ is characterized by the property that the restriction to the copy of \mathbb{P}^1 given by the image of a standard affine root subgroup is $\mathcal{O}(1)$ for the affine root subgroup and trivial for the others [PR08, 10.1]. Restricting the maps $P/I_M \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_M} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_G}$, that \mathbb{P}^1 that corresponds to the affine root of G maps to the \mathbb{P}^1 corresponding to a hyperspecial vertex of M^{σ} . The result follows.

Now recall the decomposition

$$\hat{L\mathcal{T}} = (\hat{L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{w,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$$

from 2.8 given $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \to \hat{L}\mathcal{T}$ and $s_u : Y_\Gamma \to L\mathcal{T}$, where $\hat{\Sigma} \hookrightarrow \hat{L}\mathcal{T}$ factors through $\hat{\Sigma} \hookrightarrow \hat{Y}_\Gamma, T^{w,0}$ acts trivially on $\hat{\Sigma}$, and the centralizer of $T^{w,0}$ in $\hat{Y}_\Gamma \rtimes T^{w,0}$ is $\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{w,0}$.

Lemma 3.17: As a representation of \hat{LT} , we have

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}}, p_*\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{(L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat}, 0 \times (\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{w,0}))/\mu_r}^{L\hat{\mathcal{T}}} U$$

in the classification of representations of \hat{LT} from 2.2.6 where

$$U = \Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})^{\vee}$$

is equipped with the action of $\hat{\Sigma} \subseteq \hat{Y}_w$, forms a single weight space for $T^{w,0}$, $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} = \mathbb{G}_m \times L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ has the \mathbb{G}_m factor acting by the identity character, and $L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts trivially.

PROOF: We first claim $p_*\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)}$ is free and finite rank as a quasicoherent sheaf on $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat}$. The map p is the pullback by the inclusion $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{P}}$ of the map $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{I}_M} \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{P}}$, which is ind-proper by [PR08, 8.e.1]. Therefore p is ind-proper. Let $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat} = \lim_{\to i} \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat,i}$ be a presentation as an ind-scheme of closed sub-schemes $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat,i}$ and $\mathcal{X}(\sigma) = \lim_{\to i} \mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i$ be the induced presentation as an ind-scheme of closed subschemes $\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i$ by pullback. Let $p_i : \mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat,i}$ be the restriction of p to $\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i$. Since each $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat,i}$ is zerodimensional by properties of the Kottwitz homomorphism, it suffices to show that $p_{i,*}\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i}$ is locally free of finite rank where the rank is independent of i. Each p_i is flat and thus $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i}$ is flat over $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^\flat,i}$ by [Sta18, Tag 01U6]. The geometric fibers of p_i are all isomorphic to the Schubert variety P/I_M , which by 3.14 has the property that

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(P/I_{M},\mathcal{L}_{P/I_{M}})=0$$

because the line bundle \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M} is ample on the Schubert variety P/I_M and by [Kum02, 8.1.8]. By cohomology and base change, [Gro63, 3.2.1], $p_{i,*}\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)_i}$ is locally free with rank equal to the dimension $\Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})$. This is independent of *i* as required.

The characterization

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}}, p_*\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{(L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{w,0}))/\mu_r}^{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}} U$$

follows from the fact that each geometric fiber of p is isomorphic to P/I_M and the map $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}} \to \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat}}$ is finite and free of finite rank, and so induces an isomorphism on connected components. Since the action of $L^+\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ on $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)}$ is trivial, so is its action on $p_*\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(c)}$. The fact that U is one single weight space for $T^{w,0}$ follows from 3.16.

Combining 3.17 and 3.14, we obtain

Corollary 3.2: As a representation of $L\mathcal{T}$, we have

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{(L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat, 0} \times (\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{w, 0}))/\mu_{r}}^{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}} U$$

where

$$U = \Gamma(P/Q, \mathcal{L}_{P/Q})^{\vee}$$

is a single weight pace for $T^{w,0}$.

We remark that the space P/Q is still a finite flag variety for M^{σ} . It happens that \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M} and $\mathcal{L}_{P/Q}$ have the same global sections. **Remark 3.13:** In terms of the representation theory of $\hat{LT} \cong (L^{++,-}T^{\flat,0} \times (\hat{Y}_{\Gamma} \rtimes T^{w,0}))/\mathbb{G}_{m,k}$ of 2.2.6, we have a vector space decomposition

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(c), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(c)})^{\vee} \cong \pi(w) \otimes \mathbb{C}[Y_{w, \text{cotor}}] \otimes U$$

where $L^{++,-}\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}$ acts by its Heisenberg Lie algebra on the Fock space $\pi(w)$, identified with the dual ring of regular functions of the connected component $\mathcal{F}^{0}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat,0}}$. The composition

$$Y_w \to Y_w \otimes \mathbb{C} = \mathfrak{t}^w \stackrel{B}{\to} \mathfrak{t}^{w,\vee}$$

with the second map is $X \mapsto B(X, -)$, induces an embedding

$$Y_{w,\mathrm{cotor}} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{t}^{w,\vee}$$

which we denote by $\lambda \mapsto \overline{\lambda}$. Then $\mathfrak{t}^{w,0}$ acts on $\mathbb{C}[Y_{w,\text{cotor}}] = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y_{w,\text{cotor}}} \mathbb{C}_{\overline{\lambda}}$ as a direct sum of the corresponding weight spaces, as shown in [BK04, 4.7].

We now can prove the main theorem of this section.

PROOF: (of 3.13) Apply the characterization 3.2 and 3.13. To show that $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \rightarrow \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is injective, by the representation theory of \hat{LT} 2.9 applied to those induced from representations of $\hat{\Sigma}$ that form a single weight space for $T^{\Gamma,0}$ 3.16, it suffices to show injectivity of the induced map on the vacuum spaces

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\hat{\Sigma}\times T^{w,0}}^{\hat{Y}_{\Gamma}\rtimes T^{w,0}}U = \mathbb{C}[Y_{w,\operatorname{cotor}}] \otimes U \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{G},\mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

where $U = \Gamma(P/Q, \mathcal{L}_{P/Q})^{\vee}$. Now crucially since U is one distinct weight space for \mathfrak{t}^w , each summand of

$$U \otimes \mathbb{C}[Y_{w,\text{cotor}}] = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Y_{w,\text{cotor}}} \mathbb{C}_{\overline{\lambda}} \otimes U$$

is a single weight space for \mathfrak{t}^w with the weights of different summands are distinct. Thus it suffices to show that the induced map on each summand

$$\mathbb{C}_{\overline{\lambda}} \otimes U \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$$

is injective, for the images of different summands will have trivial intersection. Since both $U \otimes \mathbb{C}[Y_{w,\text{cotor}}]$ and $\Gamma(\text{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ are equivariant for \hat{Y}_w , it suffices to show injectivity for one factor and assume $\lambda = 0$. We thus finally reduce to showing the map

$$U \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$$

is injective. By [Kum02, 8.1.23] and [PR08, 8.8, 8.1] this is shown if we can show that P/Q is closed under the left action of I_G , for it would realize U as an affine Demazure submodule of $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee} \cong V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}}).$

To show P/Q that is closed under the left action of I_G , recall the Cartan decomposition as follows. According to [PR08, 8.a, 8.1], the inclusion $M_F \hookrightarrow G_F$ induces an inclusion of affine Weyl groups $W_{M,\text{aff}} \hookrightarrow W_{G,\text{aff}}$ that is compatibly identified with the map of double cosets

$$I_M \setminus M(F) / I_M \to I_G \setminus G(F) / I_G.$$

therefore $I_M \setminus M(F)/I_M \to I_G \setminus G(F)/I_G$ is injective. Therefore left I_M orbits $M(F)/I_M \subseteq G_F/I_G$ are closed under the left action of I_G . Therefore the I_M orbit P/Q is closed under the left action of I_G as desired.

Finally, the map $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})^{\vee} \to -(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee}$ is nonzero, because the one dimensional subspace of dual sections $\Gamma(e, \mathcal{L}_e)^{\vee}$ corresponding to the neutral point $e \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}(k)$ is the Demazure submodule of $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee} \cong V^1(\hat{\mathfrak{g}})$ associated to the Schubert variety of the neutral point of Gr_G .

3.4 Global Flag Varieties and Geometric Proof for Homogeneous Conjugacy Classes

The main purpose of this final section is to prove 3.14. The method is to deduce it from the case when $\mathcal{T} = T_F$ of [Zhu09] by cohomology and base change in a family over the curve $C = \mathbb{A}^1$ whose completed local ring at 0 is \mathcal{O}_F . Similar kinds of ideas have appeared in [BH20] when the split group G_F over F is replaced by a ramified group but, \mathcal{T} is a torus corresponding to a purely outer automorphism of the base change of the group to the algebraic closure. We expect our techniques to directly follow through for the setting of [BH20], under an analogous notion of a principal tori in a ramified group and an analogous notion of homogeneous conjugacy classes for twisted Weyl groups. Indeed, the results of [AHN20] we used were already fully extended to the case of twisted Weyl groups.

This section is designed to be read after the previous one. Preserve all of the notation and setup of the previous Section 3.3. Recall the maps

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

of 3.14. Since \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} is an intermediate integral model of \mathcal{T} , $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}$, is zero-dimensional and the Kottwitz homomorphism induces an identification of the reduced locus with the connected components

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mathrm{red}} \cong \pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})$$

Identify $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})_{\text{tor}}$, which happens to be the maximal compact subgroup of $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})$, with its preimage in $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\text{red}}$. The Kottwitz homomorphism identifies $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\flat},0}) \cong Y_w$ and thus also identifies $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})_{\text{tor}}$ with the quotient $Y_{w,\text{tor}} = \Sigma$ by the connected components of $Q(c, M) \cap \mathcal{T}(F)$. Similar to the proof of 3.17, there is a characterization as $L\mathcal{T}$ -modules.

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} = \operatorname{Ind}_{(L^{++}\mathcal{T}^{\flat, 0} \times (\hat{\Sigma} \times T^{w, 0}))/\mu_{r}}^{\hat{L}\mathcal{T}} U$$

where

$$U = \Gamma(\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})_{\mathrm{tor}}, \mathcal{L}_{\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}, \mathrm{tor}})})^{\vee}$$

is a representation of $\hat{\Sigma}$ because $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})_{\text{tor}}$ is stable under the action of Σ . Furthermore U is a single weight space for $T^{w,0}$ because it maps to $\Gamma(P/I_M, \mathcal{L}_{P/I_M})^{\vee}$ which is a single weight space for $T^{w,0}$ as proven in 3.17. We have also already shown in the proof of 3.13 that $U \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is nonzero.

Therefore according to the representation theory of \hat{LT} in 2.2.6 and as in the proof

of 3.17, the nonzero map $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$ is injective iff U is irreducible as a representation of $\hat{\Sigma}$ iff dim U = d(c), the defect of 2.34. This proves 3.15, the full consequence we put here for convenience:

Theorem 3.16: Suppose for each conjugacy class $c \in [W]$ there exists $w \in W$ and a lift σ of W such that $\pi_0(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}})_{tor} = \pi_1(P(\sigma, M)/Q(\sigma, M))$ equals the defect d(c) of c, which is given explicitly in 2.34 in terms of only the lattice action of the conjugacy class of w and the bilinear form B. Then both dual restriction maps

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{S}(\sigma), \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{S}(\sigma)})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{G})^{\vee}$$

are isomorphisms of \hat{LT} modules.

As explained in the previous Section 3.3, we presently only know this for homogeneous c.

3.4.1 Global Analogues of the Tori, Loop Groups, Flag Varieties, Schubert Varieties and the Line bundle

Let us introduce global versions of $\mathcal{T}, \operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}$, etc. Briefly recall the setup as in [Zhu14] as below. Let C be a smooth curve over k, although we will only use \mathbb{A}^1 or $\mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0\}$. Let \mathcal{G}_C be a smooth affine group scheme over C, where we use the subscript C to emphasize the global nature. Let R be a k-algebra and y: Spec $R \to C$ be an R-point. Denote by $\Gamma_y \subseteq C_R$ the closed subscheme of the graph of y. Let $\hat{\Gamma}_y$ be the affine scheme given by the relative spectrum of the ring of regular functions along the formal completion of C_R along Γ_y . Let $\hat{\Gamma}_y^{\circ}$ denote the complement of the natural closed immersion $\Gamma_y \hookrightarrow \hat{\Gamma}_y$.

Definition 3.21: The global jet group, or global positive loop group, is the functor

$$L^+\mathcal{G}_C(R) = \{(y,\beta) : y \in C(R), \beta \in \mathcal{G}_C(\Gamma_g)\}.$$

The global loop group is the functor

$$L\mathcal{G}_C(R) = \{(y,\beta) : y \in C(R), \beta \in \mathcal{G}_C(\widehat{\Gamma}_y^\circ)\}.$$

The global flag variety is the fpqc quotient

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}_C} = [L\mathcal{G}_C/L^+\mathcal{G}_C].$$

When $\mathcal{G}_C = G_C = G \times_k C$, put

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}_{G_C}$$

and call it the global affine Grassmannian.

They are all functors on k-algebras.

Remark that unlike their local counterparts, the global loop groups are not defined by Weil restriction. It is known by [Zhu14, 3.1, 3.3] that $L^+\mathcal{G}_C$ is a formally smooth but not necessarily finite type scheme over C and $L\mathcal{G}_C, \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}_C}$ are formally smooth ind schemes over C where $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}_C}$ is ind-proper. The fibers of $L^+\mathcal{G}_C, L\mathcal{G}_C$, and $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}_C}$ at closed points $x \in C$ are their local counterparts. To be precise, let \mathcal{O}_x be the completed local ring at x and F_x the fraction field. Then there are natural isomorphisms

$$(L\mathcal{G}_C)_x \cong L(\mathcal{G}_{C,F_x})$$
$$(L^+\mathcal{G}_C)_x \cong L^+(\mathcal{G}_{C,\mathcal{O}_x})$$
$$(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{G}_C})_x \cong \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{G}_{C,\mathcal{O}_x})$$

where for an *R*-point of C, $\mathcal{G}_{C,R}$ means the restriction of \mathcal{G}_C by $\operatorname{Spec} R \to C$.

Now for the remainder of this section, put $C = \mathbb{A}^1 = \operatorname{Spec} k[t]$ and $\overset{\circ}{C} = C \setminus \{0\}$. Let us extend \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} to a global group scheme \mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp} whose fiber at \mathcal{O}_0 is \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} and fiber at \mathcal{O}_x for $x \neq 0$ is non-canonically isomorphic to T_x . First, let us extend 3.7 to a global version replacing F with $\overset{\circ}{C}$:

Theorem 3.17: Preserve the notation of $\sigma, \lambda, B_{ad}, H_{ad}$ of 3.7. Let $\overset{\circ}{C} = \operatorname{Speck}[u^{\pm 1}]$

be the degree *m* Galois cover with Galois group Γ where we canonically extend ν to an automorphism of $\overset{\circ}{C}$. Consider $m\lambda \in \mathbb{X}_*(H_{\mathrm{ad}}) = \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_m, H_{\mathrm{ad}})$ and let $u^{m\lambda} \in$ $H_{\mathrm{ad}}(k[u^{\pm 1}]) = H_{\mathrm{ad}}(\overset{\circ}{C})$ be the image of $u \in k[u^{\pm 1}]^{\times} = \mathbb{G}_m(k[u^{\pm 1}])$ under $m\lambda$. Then the map $\mathrm{Ad}(u^{m\lambda}) : M_{\overset{\circ}{C}} \to M_{\overset{\circ}{C}}$ induces an isomorphism of closed subgroup schemes of $\mathrm{Res}_{\overset{\circ}{C}}M_{\overset{\circ}{C}}$ over $\overset{\circ}{C}$:

$$M_{\overset{\circ}{C}} = (\operatorname{Res}_{\tilde{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}} M \times_k \overset{\tilde{C}}{C})^{\operatorname{id} \times \nu^{-1}} \overset{\operatorname{Ad}(u^{m\lambda})}{\to} (\operatorname{Res}_{\tilde{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}} M \times_k \overset{\tilde{C}}{C})^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}.$$

PROOF: First we show it over the generic fiber $\eta = \text{Spec}(k(t))$. Then it follows identically to the proof of 3.7 with the field F = k((t)) replaced with k(t); all of the steps remain valid.

It remains to show why it is sufficient to check on the generic fiber. To this end, since $M_{\overset{\circ}{C}}$ and $(\operatorname{Res}_{\overset{\circ}{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}}M\times_k\overset{\circ}{C})^{\sigma\times\nu^{-1}}$ are closed sub group schemes of $\operatorname{Res}_{\overset{\circ}{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}}M\times_k\overset{\circ}{C}$, it suffices to show that the generic fibers are dense. According to [Edi92, 3.4], both are smooth, so in particular reduced. Therefore by [Sta18, Tag 0CC1] it suffices to show that each is irreducible. It suffices to show that each is connected in addition to being smooth. This follows from the fact that both are fiber bundles over the connected base $\overset{\circ}{C}$ with connected fibers that are each isomorphic to M.

The extension of \mathcal{T}^{\sharp} to C is now as follows. Notably for our work here, we do not use a global version of $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$, i.e., a group scheme over C whose fiber at the completed local ring at x = 0 is $\mathcal{P}(\sigma, M)$ and at $x \neq 0$ is isomorphic $M_{\mathcal{O}_F}$, but it could also be defined if desired.

Theorem 3.18: There exists a subgroup scheme $\mathcal{T}_C^{\#} \subseteq G_C$ over C such that for each closed point $x \in C$, we have the fiber at the completed local ring \mathcal{O}_x is given as follows. Let F_x be the fraction field of \mathcal{O}_x .

1. For x = 0,

$$(\mathcal{T}_C^\sharp)_{\mathcal{O}_x} = \mathcal{T}^\sharp.$$

2. For $x \neq 0$, $(\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp})_{\mathcal{O}_x}$ is a split maximal torus of $G_{\mathcal{O}_x}$.

PROOF: The idea is to define on the open curve and glue with $\mathcal{T}^{\#}$. Define the torus $\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\circ} \subset G_{C}^{\circ}$ to be the composition

$$\mathcal{T}_{\overset{\circ}{C}} \coloneqq (\operatorname{Res}_{\overset{\circ}{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}} T \times_k \overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{C}})^{w \times \nu^{-1}} \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{Res}_{\overset{\circ}{C}/\overset{\circ}{C}} M \times_k \overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{C}})^{\sigma \times \nu^{-1}}$$

$$\overset{\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})}{\to} M_{\overset{\circ}{C}} \hookrightarrow G_{\overset{\circ}{C}}$$

where $\operatorname{Ad}(u^{-m\lambda})$ is the isomorphism from 3.17. Then for all closed points $x \in \overset{\circ}{C}$, $(\mathcal{T}_{\overset{\circ}{C}})_{\mathcal{O}_x}$ is a split maximal torus of $G_{\overset{\circ}{C}}$.

Restricting \mathcal{T}_{C}^{*} to $F = k((t)) \supset k(t)$ gives the torus of type \mathcal{T} of 3.10. Finally, applying the descent lemma [Hei10, lem. 5] along the fpqc cover $C = \overset{\circ}{C} \cup \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{F})$ gives the desired global group scheme \mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp} and a glued morphism $\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp} \to G_{C}$. Consequently, \mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp} can also be described as the Zariski closure of \mathcal{T}_{C}^{*} in G_{C} .

Applying the functors $L(-), L^+(-), \mathcal{F}_{(-)}$, we obtain subgroup schemes $L\mathcal{T}_C \hookrightarrow LG_C, L^+\mathcal{T}_C \hookrightarrow L^+G_C$ and a morphism $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G_C}$.

Lemma 3.18: The map $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{G}^{\sharp}} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C}}$ is a closed embedding.

PROOF: It is a monomorphism by [Sta18, tag 01L1], the fact that the pullback to each point of C is a monomorphism and the fact that every point of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}}$ lies over either the closed point or generic point of C. The result follows from the fact that both sides are ind-proper over C.

In conclusion, we have constructed a closed embedding of global flag varieties $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G_C}$ such that the fibers over closed points $x \in C$ are described by:

- For x = 0, $(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}})_x \to (\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x$ is equal to the embedding of local flag varieties $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}_G$ of 3.13.
- For $x \neq 0$, after fixing an identification $(\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x \cong \operatorname{Gr}_G$ and using the conjugacy of maximal split tori in G(F), the map $(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}})_x \to (\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x$ is LG(k)-conjugate to the inclusion $\operatorname{Gr}_T \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}_G$.

Let us now define the global level 1 line bundle \mathcal{L}_C , global Schubert varieties of Gr_{G_C} and recall a refinement of the geometric split FKS isomorphism of [Zhu09] in terms of the global Schubert varieties.

Let \mathcal{L} be a line bundle on Gr_{G_C} . Then for each closed point $x \in C$, the restriction of \mathcal{L} to $(\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x$ is isomorphic to some integer c power of the ample generator of $\operatorname{Pic}((\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x) \cong \mathbb{Z}$. It is proven in [Zhu14, 4.1] that c is constant as function of x, and it is called the **central charge** of \mathcal{L} .

The group scheme G_C has the property that all fibers at $x \in C$ are semisimple. Therefore by [Zhu14, 4.1.1], the relative Picard group $\operatorname{Pic}(\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C}/C)$ is a constant étale sheaf on C isomorphic to $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}$. By [Zhu09, 1.1.9], we can choose a generator and a representative line bundle \mathcal{L}_{G_C} with central charge 1, and we call it the **global level** 1 line bundle on Gr_{G_C} . In particular, the restriction of \mathcal{L}_{G_C} to each closed point $x \in C$ is the level 1 line bundle on $(\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C})_x$. Consider the global split torus $T_C \subseteq G_C$ and naturally identify the cocharacter lattices at each point $\mathbb{X}_*((\mathcal{T}_C)_{F_x}) \cong Y$ using the structure map $k \hookrightarrow K_x$. Then according to [Zhu14, 3.4], for each $\mu \in Y$, there exists a section $s_{\mu} : C \to LT_C$ with the property that for any closed point $x \in C$, $s_{\mu}(x) \in (LT_C)_x(k) = T(F_x)$ maps to μ under the Kottwitz homomorphism $LT_C \to Y$.

Definition 3.22: The left L^+G_C orbit of s_{μ} in Gr_{G_C} is denoted $\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C,\mu}$. The closure $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C,\mu}}$ is called the **global Schubert variety** associated to μ .

Then the fiber at 0 of $\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}$, resp. $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}}$, is the local version $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}$, resp. $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$. By [Zhu14, theorem 3], the fibers of $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}}$ at each closed point $x \in C$ (not just at x = 0) are isomorphic to $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$. Two Schubert varieties (either global or local) associated to $\lambda, \mu \in Y$ are the same iff they lie in the same W-orbit and the Schubert varieties give rise to all the positive loop group orbit closures [Zhu09, 1.1.7]. A set of representative μ for each orbit can be chosen by taking the subset $Y_+ \subseteq Y$ of dominant cocharacters with respect to some choice of Borel subgroup B_G of G.

Fix such a choice B_G . We have the following from [Zhu09, 1.1.4]. $\lambda \leq \mu$ in Y iff $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\lambda}} \subseteq \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$. Define

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu} \coloneqq \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}} \cap \operatorname{Gr}_T$$

Then also

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{G} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$$
$$\operatorname{Gr}_{T} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}.$$

By [Zhu09, 2.3.5] for $\lambda \leq \mu$, the map $\Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\lambda}}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}})^{\vee}$ is injective. Thus the map $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\lambda}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\lambda}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}})^{\vee}$ is also injective because $\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\lambda}, \operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}$ are zero dimensional. We therefore have

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}, \mathcal{L}_{\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}})^{\vee}$$
$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}_T)^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}})^{\vee}.$$

We record the main theorem [Zhu09, 0.0.2]:

Theorem 3.19: For all $\mu \in Y$, the map

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}, \mathcal{L}_{\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}})^{\vee}$$

is an isomorphism. In particular, both have the same dimension.

Consequently, $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}_T)^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_G)^{\vee}$ is also an isomorphism, which recovers the geometric FKS isomorphism for $\mathcal{T} = T$.

3.4.2 Proof of Main Theorem

We prove 3.14. Preserve the setup of the global objects of the previous subsection. Put

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{\overset{\circ}{C}},\mu} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{\overset{\circ}{C}}} \cap \overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}}.$$

Define the global closed subscheme $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp}}$ to be the scheme theoretic closure

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp},\mu} \coloneqq \overline{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\circ},\mu}} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}}.$$

It factors through $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$. Since $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}} \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_{G_C}$ is closed embedding, $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp},\mu}$ is a finite type closed subscheme of Gr_{G_C} over C. Then for a closed point $x \in C$, the fiber at $x \neq 0$ of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp},\mu}$ is LG(k)-conjugate to the inclusion $\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu} \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G$ and factors through $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$.

Define the space $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_{G}$ as required in 3.14 to be the fiber at 0:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu} = (\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu})_{0}.$$

Lemma 3.19: The schemes $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}$ and $\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$ are flat over C.

PROOF: Apply [Zhu14, 6.1.4] and obtain that $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$ is Cohen-Macaulay. Since *C* is regular and $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}} \to C$ is proper, thus closed, it is also flat by equidimensionality of the fibers and miracle flatness [Gro65, 6.1.5].

The finite type scheme $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{*},\mu}$ is zero dimensional over $\overset{\circ}{C}$. Therefore all closed points of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{*}}$ are zero dimensional and by [Sta18, Tag 021N], $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{*},\mu}$ is Cohen-Macaulay. By the equidimensionality of the fibers, $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{*},\mu}$ is flat over $\overset{\circ}{C}$. Since $\overset{\circ}{C} = \operatorname{Speck}[t^{\pm 1}]$ is a PID, we can use the flatness criterion of [Eis95, 6.3]. The closure $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{\sharp},\mu}$ in the flat $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{c},\mu}}$ scheme over C is the spectrum of an algebra over $k[t^{\pm 1}]$ that is torsion-free. The result follows.

We now give the final proof:

PROOF: (of 3.14). Since both $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}$ and $\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}$ are flat over C, the line bundles $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}}$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}}}$ are both flat over C, by [Sta18, Tag 01U2]. Fix a closed point $x \in C$. Since $(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu})_x$ is zero dimensional, $\mathcal{L}_{(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu})_x}$ is trivial and

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}((\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu})_{x},\mathcal{L}_{(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu})_{x}})=0$$

Since $\mathcal{L}_{(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C,\mu}})_x}$ is ample and $(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_C,\mu}})_x$ is a Schubert variety, by [Kum02, 8.1.8],

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}((\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}})_{x},\mathcal{L}_{(\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}})_{x}})=0.$$

By upper semi-continuity, we conclude that there is the same vanishing of H^1 for

both when x is the generic point of C as well. By cohomology and base change, the dimensions $\dim \Gamma((\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu})_{x}, \mathcal{L}_{(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp},\mu})_{x}})$ and $\dim \Gamma((\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}})_{x}, \mathcal{L}_{(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{C},\mu}})_{x}})$ are each independent of $x \in C$. By the split case 3.19, and the \hat{LG} equivariance of \mathcal{L}_{G} , their dimensions coincide when $x \neq 0$. Therefore the dimensions coincide at x = 0 as well. Therefore taking the fiber at 0 and the dual, the map

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu},\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G_{\mu}}},\mathcal{L}_{\overline{\mathrm{Gr}_{G_{\mu}}}})^{\vee}$$

is a map of vector spaces of the same dimension. For $\lambda \leq \mu$, $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\lambda} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}$. Since both are zero dimensional, the maps $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\lambda}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\lambda}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee}$ are injective. Since $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{G}})^{\vee}$ is injective by assumption, we conclude that $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{\mu}}}, \mathcal{L}_{\overline{\operatorname{Gr}_{G_{\mu}}}})^{\vee}$ is also injective, and therefore an isomorphism. Now put $X = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee}$ and consider the composition

$$\Gamma(X, \mathcal{L}_X)^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\mathrm{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{Gr}_G})^{\vee}.$$

The composition is an isomorphism because $\Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_T, \mathcal{L}_T)^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_{T,\mu}})^{\vee}$. Therefore the same is true for both left and right arrows. We conclude that $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Gr}_G, \mathcal{L}_{\operatorname{Gr}_G})^{\vee}$ is an isomorphism as desired.

Remark 3.14: By showing that $\Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}}})^{\vee} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \Gamma(\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}, \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}})^{\vee}$, we have shown that $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp},\mu}$ (since they are zero dimensional) and thus $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}_{C}} = \bigcup_{\mu \in Y} \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}^{\sharp}_{C},\mu}$. This gives a highly indirect proof, conditional factors known only when \mathcal{T} is a principal torus of the type of a homogeneous conjugacy class in a group G_F when G is type ADE, that:

Corollary 3.3: Assume the hypothesis of 3.14. Then $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_{C}^{\sharp}}$ is ind-flat over C.

Remark 3.15: Ind-flatness of a global flag variety seems like a basic property that should not need such an indirect proof. We wonder to what extent ind-flatness of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp}}$ holds when \mathcal{T}_C^{\sharp} is more general group scheme over C, perhaps a Bruhat-Tits group scheme in the sense that it is generically reductive and the restriction to each completed local ring at a closed point is a parahoric group scheme of the further restriction to the fraction field of the completed local ring.

Bibliography

- [AGV⁺73] M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, J. L. Verdier, P. Deligne, and B. Saint-Donat. *Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 3.* Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 305. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1973. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1963–1964 (SGA 4).
- [AH17] Jeffrey Adams and Xuhua He. Lifting of elements of Weyl groups. J. Algebra, 485:142–165, 2017.
- [AHN20] Jeffrey Adams, Xuhua He, and Sian Nie. From conjugacy classes in the weyl group to semisimple conjugacy classes, 2020.
- [BD01] Jean-Luc Brylinski and Pierre Deligne. Central extensions of reductive groups by K₂. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci., pages 5–85, 2001.
- [Bei06] A. Beilinson. Langlands parameters for Heisenberg modules. In Studies in Lie theory, volume 243 of Progr. Math., pages 51–60. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2006.
- [BH20] M. Besson and Jiuzu Hong. Smooth locus of twisted affine schubert varieties and twisted affine demazure modules. *arxiv preprint*, 2020.
- [BK04] Bojko Bakalov and Victor G. Kac. Twisted modules over lattice vertex algebras. In *Lie theory and its applications in physics V*, pages 3–26. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2004.
- [BLR90] Siegfried Bosch, Werner Lütkebohmert, and Michel Raynaud. Néron models, volume 21 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3)

[Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.

- [Bor91] Armand Borel. Linear algebraic groups, volume 126 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1991.
- [Bro94] Kenneth S. Brown. Cohomology of groups, volume 87 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. Corrected reprint of the 1982 original.
- [Car72] R. W. Carter. Conjugacy classes in the Weyl group. Compositio Math., 25:1-59, 1972.
- [CGP15] Brian Conrad, Ofer Gabber, and Gopal Prasad. Pseudo-reductive groups, volume 26 of New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2015.
- [Con14] Brian Conrad. Reductive group schemes. In Autour des schémas en groupes. Vol. I, volume 42/43 of Panor. Synthèses, pages 93-444. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2014.
- [CT83] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène. Hilbert's Theorem 90 for K_2 , with application to the Chow groups of rational surfaces. *Invent. Math.*, 71(1):1–20, 1983.
- [Edi92] Bas Edixhoven. Néron models and tame ramification. Compositio Math., 81(3):291-306, 1992.
- [Eis95] David Eisenbud. Commutative algebra, volume 150 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [FBZ04] Edward Frenkel and David Ben-Zvi. Vertex algebras and algebraic curves, volume 88 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2004.

- [FK81] I. B. Frenkel and V. G. Kac. Basic representations of affine Lie algebras and dual resonance models. *Invent. Math.*, 62(1):23-66, 1980/81.
- [FLM88] Igor Frenkel, James Lepowsky, and Arne Meurman. Vertex operator algebras and the Monster, volume 134 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988.
- [GP00] Meinolf Geck and Götz Pfeiffer. Characters of finite Coxeter groups and Iwahori-Hecke algebras, volume 21 of London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000.
- [Gro63] A. Grothendieck. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., page 91, 1963.
- [Gro65] A. Grothendieck. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., page 231, 1965.
- [Hei10] Jochen Heinloth. Uniformization of *G*-bundles. *Math. Ann.*, 347(3):499–528, 2010.
- [Kac90] Victor G. Kac. Infinite-dimensional Lie algebras. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, third edition, 1990.
- [KL88] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig. Fixed point varieties on affine flag manifolds. Israel J. Math., 62(2):129–168, 1988.
- [Kot97] Robert E. Kottwitz. Isocrystals with additional structure. II. Compositio Math., 109(3):255–339, 1997.
- [KP85] Victor G. Kac and Dale H. Peterson. 112 constructions of the basic representation of the loop group of E_8 . In Symposium on anomalies, geometry,

topology (Chicago, Ill., 1985), pages 276–298. World Sci. Publishing, Singapore, 1985.

- [Kum02] Shrawan Kumar. Kac-Moody groups, their flag varieties and representation theory, volume 204 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2002.
- [Lep85] J. Lepowsky. Calculus of twisted vertex operators. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 82(24):8295–8299, 1985.
- [Mil17] J. S. Milne. Algebraic groups, volume 170 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2017. The theory of group schemes of finite type over a field.
- [Ngo10] Bao Chau Ngo. Le lemme fondamental pour les algèbres de Lie. Publ.
 Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci., pages 1–169, 2010.
- [OV90] A. L. Onishchik and È. B. Vinberg. Lie groups and algebraic groups.
 Springer Series in Soviet Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
 Translated from the Russian and with a preface by D. A. Leites.
- [OZ16] Denis Osipov and Xinwen Zhu. The two-dimensional Contou-Carrère symbol and reciprocity laws. J. Algebraic Geom., 25(4):703–774, 2016.
- [Poo17] Bjorn Poonen. Rational points on varieties, volume 186 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2017.
- [PR08] G. Pappas and M. Rapoport. Twisted loop groups and their affine flag varieties. Adv. Math., 219(1):118–198, 2008. With an appendix by T. Haines and Rapoport.
- [PY02] Gopal Prasad and Jiu-Kang Yu. On finite group actions on reductive groups and buildings. *Invent. Math.*, 147(3):545–560, 2002.

- [PZ13] G. Pappas and X. Zhu. Local models of Shimura varieties and a conjecture of Kottwitz. *Invent. Math.*, 194(1):147–254, 2013.
- [RLYG12] Mark Reeder, Paul Levy, Jiu-Kang Yu, and Benedict H. Gross. Gradings of positive rank on simple Lie algebras. *Transform. Groups*, 17(4):1123– 1190, 2012.
- [Seg81] Graeme Segal. Unitary representations of some infinite-dimensional groups. Comm. Math. Phys., 80(3):301-342, 1981.
- [Sol20] Maarten Solleveld. Conjugacy of Levi subgroups of reductive groups and a generalization to linear algebraic groups. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 224(6):106254, 16, 2020.
- [SS70] T. A. Springer and R. Steinberg. Conjugacy classes. In Seminar on Algebraic Groups and Related Finite Groups (The Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton, N.J., 1968/69), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 131, pages 167-266. Springer, Berlin, 1970.
- [Sta18] The Stacks Project Authors. Stacks project. https://stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2018.
- [Ste65] Robert Steinberg. Regular elements of semisimple algebraic groups. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., pages 49–80, 1965.
- [Sus87] A. A. Suslin. Torsion in K_2 of fields. K-Theory, 1(1):5–29, 1987.
- [TZ21] James Tao and Yifei Zhao. Central extensions by K₂ and factorization line bundles. Math. Ann., 381(1-2):769-805, 2021.
- [Vak17] Ravi Vakil. The Rising Sea: Foundations Of Algebraic Geometry Notes, volume version 11/18/2017. Author Website last accessed 02/06/2022: https://math.stanford.edu/ vakil/216blog/, 2017.

- [Wei13] Charles A. Weibel. The K-book, volume 145 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2013. An introduction to algebraic K-theory.
- [Yu15] Jiu-Kang Yu. Smooth models associated to concave functions in Bruhat-Tits theory. In Autour des schémas en groupes. Vol. III, volume 47 of Panor. Synthèses, pages 227–258. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2015.
- [Zhu09] Xinwen Zhu. Affine Demazure modules and T-fixed point subschemes in the affine Grassmannian. Adv. Math., 221(2):570–600, 2009.
- [Zhu14] Xinwen Zhu. On the coherence conjecture of Pappas and Rapoport. Ann. of Math. (2), 180(1):1–85, 2014.
- [Zhu17] Xinwen Zhu. An introduction to affine Grassmannians and the geometric Satake equivalence. In Geometry of moduli spaces and representation theory, volume 24 of IAS/Park City Math. Ser., pages 59–154. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2017.